Angles, Majorization, Wielandt Inequality and Applications

by

Minghua Lin

A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfillment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Applied Mathematics

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada

© Minghua Lin 2013

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, not yet as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

In this thesis we revisit two classical definition of angle in inner product space: realpart angle and Hermitian angle. Special attention is paid to Kreĭn's inequality and its analogue. Some applications are given, leading to a simple proof of a basic lemma for a trace inequality of unitary matrices and also its extension. A brief survey on recent results of angles between subspaces is presented. This naturally bring us to the world of majorization. After introducing the notion of majorization, we present some classical as well as recent results on eigenvalue majorization. Several new norm inequalities are derived by making use of a powerful decomposition lemma for positive semidefinite matrices. We also consider coneigenvalue majorization. Some discussion on the possible generalization of the majorization bounds for Ritz values are presented. We then turn to a basic notion in convex analysis, the Legendre-Fenchel conjugate. The convexity of a function is important in finding the explicit expression of the transform for certain functions. A sufficient convexity condition is given for the product of positive definite quadratic forms. When the number of quadratic forms is two, the condition is also necessary. The condition is in terms of the condition number of the underlying matrices. The key lemma in our derivation is found to have some connection with the generalized Wielandt inequality. A new inequality between angles in inner product spaces is formulated and proved. This leads directly to a concise statement and proof of the generalized Wielandt inequality, including a simple description of all cases of equality. As a consequence, several recent results in matrix analysis and inner product spaces are improved.

Acknowledgments

I wish to thank my two supervisors Hans De Sterck and Henry Wolkowicz. Thank you for your guidance, encouragement, and assistance throughout the preparation of this dissertation. I am extremely fortunate to have had you as an advisor and mentor during my PhD study at the University of Waterloo. I am grateful to Kenneth R. Davidson, Stephen Vavasis, David Siegel and Chi-Kwong Li for serving on my examination committee.

During my graduate studies, I have been fortunate to meet many marvelous mathematicians and to have a chance to work with them. They taught me a lot through collaboration. Among them, there are Jean-Christophe Bourin, Gord Sinnamon, Harald Wimmer, and others. I should also thank Rajendra Bhatia and Roger Horn for their kind and valuable advice on my mathematical writing.

I owe the staff members, faculty members, and my fellow graduate students in the Departments of both Applied Mathematics and Combinatorics & Optimization a tremendous amount of gratitude. I truly enjoyed my time at the University of Waterloo and have all of you to thank. I am grateful to have received financial support in the form of International Doctoral Student Awards and Graduate Research Studentships.

Table of Contents

Notation					
1	Intro	Introduction			
	1.1	Outline	2		
2	Prel	iminaries	4		
	2.1	Real-part angle and Hermitian-part angle	4		
	2.2	Kreĭn's inequality	6		
	2.3	A Cauchy-Schwarz inequality	9		
	2.4	Applications	11		
	2.5	Angles between subspaces	14		
3	Som	e block-matrix majorization inequalities	19		
	3.1	Classical results	21		
	3.2	Recent results	26		
	3.3	A decomposition lemma for positive definite matrices	34		
	3.4	Several norm inequalities	35		
	3.5	Positive definite matrices with Hermitian blocks	44		
		3.5.1 2-by-2 blocks	44		
		3.5.2 Quaternions and 4-by-4 blocks	46		

	3.6	Discussion	51
	3.7	Majorization inequalities for normal matrices	56
	3.8	Majorization inequalities for coneigenvalues	63
4	Whe	en is a product of positive definite quadratic forms convex	70
	4.1	Motivation and the convexity condition	70
	4.2	Auxiliary results and the proof	73
5	Gen	eralized Wielandt inequalities	78
	5.1	Kantorovich inequality and Wielandt inequality	78
	5.2	Some more background	81
	5.3	Generalized Wielandt inequality in inner product spaces	84
	5.4	Formulation in terms of matrices	93
6 Summary		imary	99
Bibliography			101
In	Index		

Notation

We will use the following notation in this work:

 \mathbb{R} : the real field;

 \mathbb{C} : the complex field;

 $\mathbb{F}:\mathbb{R} \text{ or } \mathbb{C};$

 \mathbb{F}^n : *n*-dimensional real or complex vector space;

Re *z*: real part of a complex number *z*;

Im *z*: imaginary part of a complex number *z*;

 \bar{z} : conjugate of a complex number z;

 \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} : the set of *n*-dimensional real vectors with positive entries;

 $M_{m \times n}(\mathbb{F})$: the set of real or complex matrices of size $m \times n$;

 $M_n(\mathbb{F})$: the set of real or complex matrices of size $n \times n$;

 H_n : the set of Hermitian matrices of size $n \times n$;

 H_n^+ : the set of positive semidefinite Hermitian matrices of size $n \times n$;

 H_n^{++} : the set of positive definite Hermitian matrices of size $n \times n$;

I_n: identity matrix of size $n \times n$;

 A^T : transpose of a matrix A;

A^{*}: transpose conjugate of a matrix *A*;

 \bar{A} : entrywise conjugate of a matrix A;

ReA: Hermitian part of a complex square matrix A, i.e., $\text{ReA} = (A + A^*)/2$;

Im A: skew-Hermitian part of a complex square matrix A, i.e., $\text{Im}A = (A - A^*)/2i$;

Diag(A): diagonal part of a square matrix A;

 A^p : pth root of a positive semidefinite matrix A, which is also positive semidefinite;

|A|: absolute value of a matrix, i.e., $|A| = (A^*A)^{1/2}$.

 $\langle x, y \rangle$: inner product of x and y;

||x||: vector norm induced by inner product, i.e., $||x|| = \sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}$;

||A||: (any) symmetric norm of a square matrix A;

 $||A||_{\infty}$: operator norm of a square matrix *A*;

 \prec : majorization;

 \prec_{w} : weak majorization;

 \prec_{log} : log majorization;

 $\prec_{w\log}$: weak log majorization;

 \oplus : direct sum;

detA: determinant of a square matrix A;

Tr: trace of a square matrix *A*;

 \otimes : Kronecker product;

W(A): numerical range of a square matrix A;

w(A): numerical radius of a square matrix A;

 $A \ddagger B$: geometric mean of two positive definite matrices A and B;

 \mathbb{H} : the ring of quaternions;

Chapter 1

Introduction

The theme of this thesis consists of two main topics. One is majorization inequalities, the other is the generalized Wielandt inequality.

Majorization inequalities is an interesting area of study, both from the theoretical and applied point of view. A comprehensive survey on this topic can be found in [79]. The notion of majorization has its roots in matrix theory and mathematical inequalities. Loosely speaking, for two vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with equal summation of components, we say that x is majorized by y if the components in x are "less spread out" than the components in y. This may be expressed in terms of linear inequalities for the partial sums in these vectors. This notion arises in a wide range of contexts in mathematical areas, e.g., in combinatorics, probability, matrix theory, numerical analysis.

Majorization turns out to be an underlying structure for several classes of inequalities. One such simple example is the classical arithmetic-geometric mean inequality. Another example is a majorization order between the diagonal entries and the eigenvalues of a real symmetric matrix. Actually, several interesting inequalities arise by applying some ordering-preserving function to a suitable majorization ordering.

Recently, it has become an important mathematical tool in quantum information theory, beginning with work of Nielsen (see e.g., [86, 87]) that linked it with quantum operations described by local operations and classical communication. The application of results on majorization has resulted in gaining further insight into comparisons and measures of quantum entanglement, one of the most useful properties of quantum information.

Majorization is also studied in connection with familiar network structures (trees and transportation matrices); see, e.g., [27, 28].

In this thesis we investigate topics on eigenvalue majorization, which is also a very basic concept in matrix theory. Due to the important applications of eigenvalue majorization, any new inequality of this type will have a flow of consequences and applications.

The Wielandt and generalized Wielandt inequalities bound how much angles can change under a given invertible matrix transformation of \mathbb{C}^n . The bound is given in terms of the condition number of the matrix. Wielandt, in [108], gave a bound on the resulting angles when orthogonal complex lines are transformed. Subsequently, Bauer and Householder, in [11], extended the inequality to include arbitrary starting angles. These basic inequalities of matrix analysis were introduced to give bounds on convergence rates of iterative projection methods [76], and have further found a variety of applications in numerical methods, especially eigenvalue estimation. They are also applied in multivariate analysis, where angles between vectors correspond to statistical correlation. See, for example, [11], [33], [35], [51] and [53]. There are also matrix-valued versions of the inequality that are receiving attention, especially in the context of statistical analysis. See [16], [75], [104], and [113]. We noticed that in [62], the equality condition for the generalized Wielandt inequality was established, but the proof was rather involved and complicated. Our main contribution to this topic is a new inequality between angles in inner product spaces. It leads directly to a concise statement and proof of the generalized Wielandt inequality. Legendre-Fenchel conjugate is a basic notion in convex optimization. It is shown in [116, 117] that the convexity of a function is important in finding the explicit expression of the transform for certain functions. As an interesting application of the generalized Wielandt inequality, we shall show that it can be used, in a very elegant way, to derive a sufficient condition for the convexity of the product of positive definite quadratic forms.

1.1 Outline

The thesis is organized as follows. In Chapter 2, we revisit two classical definitions of angle in inner product space: real-part angle and Hermitian angle. Special attention is paid to Kreĭn's inequality and its analogue. Some applications are given, leading to a simple proof of a basic lemma for a trace inequality of unitary matrices and also its extension. A brief survey on recent results of angles between subspaces is presented. This naturally bring us to the world of majorization. In Chapter 3, after introducing the notion of majorization, I present some classical as well as recent results on eigenvalue majorization. Several new norm inequalities are derived by making use of a powerful decomposition lemma for positive semidefinite matrices. We also consider coneigenvalue majorization. Some discussion on the possible generalization of the majorization bounds for Ritz values is presented. In Chapter 4, we turn to a basic notion in convex analysis, the Legendre-Fenchel conjugate. The convexity of a function is important in finding the explicit expression of the transform for certain functions. A sufficient condition is given for the product of positive definite quadratic forms. When the number of quadratic forms is two, the condition is also necessary. The condition is in terms of the condition number of the underlying matrices. The key lemma in our derivation is found to have some connection with the generalized Wielandt inequality that is discussed in Chapter 5. In Chapter 5, a new inequality between angles in inner product spaces is formulated and proved. It leads directly to a concise statement and proof of the generalized Wielandt inequality, including a simple description of all cases of equality. As a consequence, several recent results in matrix analysis and inner product spaces are improved. In Chapter 6, we summarize the main contributions of the thesis.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter we survey some results on angles between complex vectors and canonical angles between subspaces in \mathbb{C}^n .

2.1 Real-part angle and Hermitian-part angle

We let \mathbb{F} denote the field of real numbers \mathbb{R} or the field of complex numbers \mathbb{C} .

For $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)^T \in \mathbb{F}^n$, x^T (resp. x^*) denotes the transpose (resp. conjugate transpose) of x. If $\mathbb{F}^n = \mathbb{C}^n$, the real part (resp. imaginary part) of x is denoted by $\operatorname{Re} x = (\operatorname{Re} x_1, \operatorname{Re} x_2, ..., \operatorname{Re} x_n)^T$ (resp. $\operatorname{Im} x = (\operatorname{Im} x_1, \operatorname{Im} x_2, ..., \operatorname{Im} x_n)^T$).

In a real inner product space $(V, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$, the angle θ_{xy} between two nonzero vectors x, y is defined by $0 \le \theta_{xy} \le \pi$ and

$$\cos \theta_{xy} = \frac{\langle x, y \rangle}{\|x\| \|y\|}.$$
(2.1)

Here $||x|| = \sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}$ is the norm induced by the standard inner product. When considered in a complex inner product space, the situation becomes less intuitive. There is some ambiguity in the definition of angle between complex vectors. Scharnhorst [97] lists several angle concepts between complex vectors: Euclidean (embedded) angle, complex-valued angle, Hermitian angle, Kasner's pseudo angle, Kähler angle (or Wirtinger angle, slant angle, etc). Among them, two are familiar to the linear algebra community¹. One is the *Euclidean angle*, the other one is the *Hermitian angle*.

The Euclidean angle φ_{xy} between two nonzero vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ is defined by $0 \le \varphi_{xy} \le \pi$ and

$$\cos \varphi_{xy} = \frac{\langle \tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \rangle}{\|\tilde{x}\| \|\tilde{y}\|},\tag{2.2}$$

where we choose to determine the components of the vectors $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ by means of the relation $\tilde{x}_{2k-1} = \operatorname{Re} x_k$ and $\tilde{x}_{2k} = \operatorname{Im} x_k, k = 1, \dots, n$.

The Hermitian angle ψ_{xy} between two nonzero vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ is defined by $0 \le \theta_{xy} \le \pi/2$ and

$$\cos \psi_{xy} = \frac{|\langle x, y \rangle|}{\|x\| \|y\|}.$$
(2.3)

As in any real vector space, the cosine of the Hermitian angle between nonzero vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ can be defined to be the ratio between the length of the orthogonal projection of, say, the vector *x* onto the vector *y* to the length of the vector *x* itself (this projection vector is equal to $|\langle x, y \rangle| / ||y||$).

It is easy to observe that (2.2) is equivalent to

$$\cos \varphi_{xy} = \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle x, y \rangle}{\|x\| \|y\|}.$$
(2.4)

In this sense, we use the terminology "*real-part angle*" instead of "Euclidean angle" from now on.

Neither the real-part angle nor the Hermitian angle seems perfectly satisfactory. For the previous one, the law of cosines² holds, but $\varphi_{xy} = \frac{\pi}{2}$ does not imply $\langle x, y \rangle = 0$. For the

¹A historical remark [50]: In the 1950s and 1960s, linear algebra was generally seen as a dead subject which all mathematicians must know, but hardly a topic for research. However, in the 1970s there was another way to look at the field, as an essential ingredient of many mathematical areas (at least during some stage of their development) and that this would lead to new results in linear algebra. An example of such an applied area active in the 1970s is control theory. Now new results arise because of connections to such applied topics as compressed sensing and quantum information.

²Recall that in trigonometry, the law of cosines (also known as the cosine formula or cosine rule) relates the lengths of the sides of a plane triangle to the cosine of one of its angles. More precisely, for a triangle with sides a, b, c, the law of cosines says $c^2 = a^2 + b^2 - 2ab\cos\gamma$, where γ denotes the angle contained between the sides of lengths a and b and opposite the side of length c.

latter, $\psi_{xy} = \frac{\pi}{2}$ if and only if $\langle x, y \rangle = 0$, but the law of cosines does not hold. Nevertheless, these two notions are used for different purpose.

2.2 Kreĭn's inequality

For the real-part angle, Kreĭn [63] in 1969 discovered the following interesting relation between the angles of three nonzero vectors, say $x, y, z \in \mathbb{C}^n$:

$$\varphi_{xz} \le \varphi_{xy} + \varphi_{yz}. \tag{2.5}$$

Kreĭn himself did not include a proof in [63]. A proof can be found in [44, p. 56]. (The proof there was suggested by T. Ando.) Since a part of Ando's proof will be useful for our purposes, we include a proof here.

Proof. (of (2.5)) Without loss of generality, we assume that x, y, z are unit vectors. Let

$$\langle x, y \rangle = a_1 + ib_1, \ \langle y, z \rangle = a_2 + ib_2, \ \langle x, z \rangle = a_3 + ib_3,$$

where $a_j, b_j \in \mathbb{R}$ and $|a_j|^2 + |b_j|^2 \le 1$ for j = 1, 2, 3. We have $\cos \varphi_{xy} = a_1, \cos \varphi_{yz} = a_2$ and $\cos \varphi_{xz} = a_3$. Since $\cos \alpha$ is a decreasing function of $\alpha \in [0, \pi]$, we need only to prove

$$\cos \varphi_{xz} \geq \cos(\varphi_{xy} + \varphi_{yz}) \\ = \cos \varphi_{xy} \cos \varphi_{yz} - \sin \varphi_{xy} \sin \varphi_{yz},$$

or equivalently,

$$a_3 \ge a_1 a_2 - \sqrt{1 - a_1^2} \sqrt{1 - a_2^2}.$$

Thus, we need

$$\sqrt{1-a_1^2}\sqrt{1-a_2^2} \ge a_1a_2 - a_3. \tag{2.6}$$

We are done if the right hand side of (2.6) is negative. Otherwise, we need prove

$$(1-a_1^2)(1-a_2^2) \ge (a_1a_2-a_3)^2$$

or

$$1 - a_1^2 - a_2^2 - a_3^2 + 2a_1a_2a_3 \ge 0.$$

Since the matrix

$$G = \begin{bmatrix} \langle x, x \rangle & \langle x, y \rangle & \langle x, z \rangle \\ \langle y, x \rangle & \langle y, y \rangle & \langle y, z \rangle \\ \langle z, x \rangle & \langle z, y \rangle & \langle z, z \rangle \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.7)

is positive semidefinite³, as is its real part⁴, i.e., the matrix $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & a_1 & a_3 \\ a_1 & 1 & a_2 \\ a_3 & a_2 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ is positive semidefinite, we conclude that its determinant is nonnegative, and the desired result follows.

It is of interest to know whether an analogue relation for Hermitian angles ψ_{xz} , ψ_{xy} , ψ_{yz} holds as well. The answer is yes and the next result gives an analogue of Kreĭn's inequality (2.5).

$$\psi_{xz} \le \psi_{xy} + \psi_{yz}. \tag{2.8}$$

We present two proofs for this result.

The first proof uses part of Ando's proof of *Kreĭn's inequality*, but we first need to invoke an interesting property on positive semidefinite matrices.

Lemma 2.1. [78] Let $A = [a_{ij}] \in H_3^+$. Then

$$|A| := [|a_{ij}|] \in H_3^+.$$
⁵ (2.9)

Proof. 1-by-1 and 2-by-2 principal minors of |A| are easily seen to be nonnegative. It suffices to show that det $|A| \ge 0$. Note that det $A \ge 0$ implies $a_{11}a_{22}a_{33} + a_{12}a_{23}\overline{a}_{13} + a_{13}\overline{a}_{12}\overline{a}_{23} - a_{11}|a_{23}|^2 - a_{22}|a_{13}|^2 - a_{33}|a_{12}|^2 \ge 0$. Moreover,

$$a_{12}a_{23}\overline{a}_{13} + a_{13}\overline{a}_{12}\overline{a}_{23} = 2\operatorname{Re} a_{12}a_{23}\overline{a}_{13}$$

$$\leq 2|a_{12}a_{23}a_{13}| = 2|a_{12}||a_{23}||a_{13}|.$$

³As is well known, a Hermitian matrix is positive semidefinite if and only if it is a *Gram matrix*, see e.g., [51, p.407].

⁴Obviously, here the real part of a matrix is understood as the entrywise real part.

⁵Unless otherwise specified, in this chapter |A| is used to stand for entrywise absolute value.

Hence,

$$0 \leq a_{11}a_{22}a_{33} + 2|a_{12}||a_{23}||a_{13}| -a_{11}|a_{23}|^2 - a_{22}|a_{13}|^2 - a_{33}|a_{12}|^2 = \det |A|.$$

Showing $|A| := [|a_{ij}|] \in H_3^+$.

Remark 2.2. Lemma 2.1 can fail for matrices of size larger than 3 as the following example shows

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} & 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} & 1 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} & 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \\ -\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} & 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} & 1 \end{bmatrix} \in H_4^+,$$

but det |B| < 0. The example was also given in [78] with acknowledgement to R. C. Thompson.

First proof of (2.8). Assume that x, y, z are unit vectors. Let

$$|\langle x,y\rangle| = a, \ |\langle y,z\rangle| = b, \ |\langle x,z\rangle| = c.$$

Then we need to show

$$c \ge ab - \sqrt{1 - a^2}\sqrt{1 - b^2}.$$

It suffices to show

$$(1-a^2)(1-b^2) \ge (ab-c)^2$$

or

$$1 - a^2 - b^2 - c^2 + 2abc \ge 0. \tag{2.10}$$

By Lemma 2.1, we know

$$|G| = \begin{bmatrix} |\langle x, x \rangle| & |\langle x, y \rangle| & |\langle x, z \rangle| \\ |\langle y, x \rangle| & |\langle y, y \rangle| & |\langle y, z \rangle| \\ |\langle z, x \rangle| & |\langle z, y \rangle| & |\langle z, z \rangle| \end{bmatrix}$$

is positive semidefinite, so its determinant is nonnegative, which is just (2.10).

The second proof (suggested by G. Sinnamon) makes a clever use of Kreĭn's inequality (2.5).

Second proof of (2.8). Note that

$$\psi_{xy} = \inf_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}} \varphi_{\alpha x \beta y} = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}} \varphi_{\alpha x y} = \inf_{\beta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}} \varphi_{x \beta y}.$$

Using (2.5) we have, for any nonzero vectors $x, y, z \in \mathbb{C}^n$,

$$\inf_{egin{aligned} lpha,eta\in\mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\}} arphi_{lpha xeta z} &\leq & \inf_{lpha,eta\in\mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\}} (arphi_{lpha xy}+arphi_{yeta z}) \ &= & \inf_{lpha\in\mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\}} arphi_{lpha xy}+ & \inf_{eta\in\mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\}} arphi_{yeta z}. \end{aligned}$$

so

 $\psi_{xz} \leq \psi_{xy} + \psi_{yz}.$

Some remarks are in order.

Remark 2.3. It is easy to see from (2.8) that the Hermitian angle defines a metric.

Remark 2.4. The inequality (2.8) has been rediscovered many times. The earliest one on record seems to be from Wedin [106]. Alternative proofs can be found in Qiu & Davison [92] and Vinnicombe [102] in the engineering literature, and it is demonstrated that the use of the Hermitian angle as a metric is essential in engineering applications. However, the proof in terms of Kreĭn's inequality seems to be new; see [71].

Remark 2.5. *The derivation shows that the inequality for the Hermitian angle* (2.8) *is in a sense weaker than that for the real-part angle* (2.5).

2.3 A Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

The three angle definitions we have seen, i.e., (2.1), (2.2) and (2.3), more or less depend on an underlying *Cauchy-Schwarz inequality*⁶. In [3], the following Cauchy-Schwarz type inequality is stated for triples of real vectors.

⁶Preferrably, we would like to see that the value of the cosine is no larger than 1. However, this is not the case in complex analysis as the Liouville theorem states: every bounded entire function must be constant.

Proposition 2.6. If x, y, z are nonzero vectors in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \ge 3$, then

$$\frac{\langle x, y \rangle^2}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2} + \frac{\langle y, z \rangle^2}{\|y\|^2 \|z\|^2} + \frac{\langle z, x \rangle^2}{\|z\|^2 \|x\|^2} \le 1 + 2\frac{\langle x, y \rangle \langle y, z \rangle \langle z, x \rangle}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2 \|z\|^2},$$
(2.11)

with equality if, and only if, the vectors x, y, z are linearly dependent.

If we consider complex vector spaces, then (2.11) will have three versions.

Proposition 2.7. If x, y, z are nonzero vectors in \mathbb{C}^n , $n \ge 3$, then

$$\frac{|\langle x, y \rangle|^2}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2} + \frac{|\langle y, z \rangle|^2}{\|y\|^2 \|z\|^2} + \frac{|\langle z, x \rangle|^2}{\|z\|^2 \|x\|^2} \le 1 + 2\operatorname{Re}\frac{\langle x, y \rangle \langle y, z \rangle \langle z, x \rangle}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2 \|z\|^2},$$
(2.12)

$$\frac{|\langle x, y \rangle|^2}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2} + \frac{|\langle y, z \rangle|^2}{\|y\|^2 \|z\|^2} + \frac{|\langle z, x \rangle|^2}{\|z\|^2 \|x\|^2} \le 1 + 2\frac{|\langle x, y \rangle||\langle y, z \rangle||\langle z, x \rangle|}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2 \|z\|^2},$$
(2.13)

$$\frac{(\operatorname{Re}\langle x, y \rangle)^2}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2} + \frac{(\operatorname{Re}\langle y, z \rangle)^2}{\|y\|^2 \|z\|^2} + \frac{(\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x \rangle)^2}{\|z\|^2 \|x\|^2} \le 1 + 2\frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle x, y \rangle \operatorname{Re}\langle y, z \rangle \operatorname{Re}\langle z, x \rangle}{\|x\|^2 \|y\|^2 \|z\|^2}.$$
 (2.14)

Equality holds in either (2.12) or (2.13), if, and only if, the vectors x, y, z are linearly dependent. While equality holds in (2.14) if and only if $det(G + \overline{G}) = 0$, where G is given in (2.7).

Proof. The proof, like the proof of (2.11), is to write out the determinant of certain 3×3 positive semidefinite matrices. Consider the Gram matrix *G* given in (2.7). Then (2.12), (2.13) and (2.14) follow from det $G \ge 0$, det $|G| \ge 0$ and det $(G + \overline{G}) \ge 0$, respectively.

Equality holds in (2.12) if and only if det G = 0, or equivalently, x, y, z are linearly dependent.

If x, y, z are linearly dependent, then it is easy to check that equality holds in (2.13). Conversely, if equality holds in (2.13), then equality holds in (2.12) as well, showing x, y, z are linearly dependent.

The following proposition is well known. We include a proof for completeness.

Proposition 2.8. *If* $A, B \in H_n^+$ *, then*

$$\det(A+B) \ge \det A + \det B.$$

Proof. This is weaker than the Minkowski determinant inequality which asserts

$$\det(A+B)^{1/n} \ge \det A^{1/n} + \det B^{1/n},$$

for any $A, B \in H_n^+$; see e.g., [51].

Note that both *G* and \overline{G} are positive semidefinite. Therefore, by Proposition 2.8, we have det $(G + \overline{G}) = 0$ occurs only if both det G = 0 and det $\overline{G} = 0$, or x, y, z are linearly dependent. However, x, y, z being linearly dependent is insufficient to imply det $(G + \overline{G}) = 0$, as the following example shows.

Example 2.9. Taking $G = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & i & 0 \\ -i & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$, obviously, $G \in H_3^+$ and $\det G = 0$. Suppose the Gram matrix G is formed by $x, y, z \in \mathbb{C}^n$, then $\det G = 0$ implies x, y, z are linearly dependent. However, we have $\det(G + \overline{G}) = 8$.

It is readily seen that (2.12) is stronger than (2.13). Using the notion of Hermitian angle and real-part angle, (2.13) and (2.14) can be restated as

$$\cos^{2}\psi_{xy} + \cos^{2}\psi_{yz} + \cos^{2}\psi_{zx} \le 1 + 2\cos\psi_{xy}\cos\psi_{yz}\cos\psi_{zx}$$
(2.15)

and

$$\cos^2\varphi_{xy} + \cos^2\varphi_{yz} + \cos^2\varphi_{zx} \le 1 + 2\cos\varphi_{xy}\cos\varphi_{yz}\cos\varphi_{zx}, \qquad (2.16)$$

respectively.

We have used these two inequalities in the proof of Kreĭn's inequality (2.5) and its analogue (2.8).

2.4 Applications

Originally, Kreĭn's inequality (2.5) was used to establish a property of *deviation*. Recall that the deviation of an operator *T* on a Hilbert space \mathscr{H} , denoted by dev(*T*), is given by dev(*T*) = $\sup_{x \in \mathscr{H}} \phi(Tx, x)$, where $\phi(Tx, x)$, $0 \le \phi \le \pi$, is defined by the equation

$$\cos(\phi(Tx,x)) = \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle Tx,x\rangle}{\|Tx\|\|x\|}.$$

Proposition 2.10. [44] Let A and B be bounded invertible operators on a Hilbert space. Then

$$\operatorname{dev}(AB) \le \operatorname{dev}(A) + \operatorname{dev}(B). \tag{2.17}$$

If we bring in a new object $\underline{dev}(T)$, which is given by $\underline{dev}(T) = \sup_{x \in \mathscr{H}} \frac{\phi}{P}(Tx, x)$, where $\phi(Tx, x), 0 \le \phi \le \pi/2$, is defined by the equation

$$\cos(\underline{\phi}(Tx,x)) = \frac{|\langle Tx,x \rangle|}{\|Tx\|\|\|x\|},$$

then analogously, we have

Proposition 2.11. Let A and B be bounded invertible operators on a Hilbert space. Then

$$\underline{\operatorname{dev}}(AB) \le \underline{\operatorname{dev}}(A) + \underline{\operatorname{dev}}(B).$$
(2.18)

Proof. Obviously, $\underline{\operatorname{dev}}(A) = \underline{\operatorname{dev}}(A^{-1})$. By (2.8), we have

$$\underline{\phi}(ABx, x) \leq \underline{\phi}(ABx, A^{-1}x) + \underline{\phi}(A^{-1}x, x)$$

= $\overline{\phi}(Bx, x) + \phi(A^{-1}x, x).$

Their suprema bear the same relation, so one has

$$\underline{\operatorname{dev}}(AB) \leq \underline{\operatorname{dev}}(A) + \underline{\operatorname{dev}}(B)$$

In [105] (see also [114, p.195]), the following elegant inequality was derived to prove a trace inequality for unitary matrices.

Proposition 2.12. *For any unit vectors* x, y *and* $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$ *, we have*

$$\sqrt{1 - |\langle x, z \rangle|^2} \le \sqrt{1 - |\langle x, y \rangle|^2} + \sqrt{1 - |\langle y, z \rangle|^2}, \qquad (2.19)$$

The next result is to give an interesting application of the inequalities (2.5) and (2.8), from which (2.19) follows immediately.

We start with a simple lemma, with obvious geometric meaning: it can be regarded as the triangle inequality for the chordal metric on the circle. **Lemma 2.13.** Let $\alpha \in [0, \pi]$, $\beta, \gamma \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ with $\alpha \leq \beta + \gamma$. Then

$$\sin\alpha \le \sin\beta + \sin\gamma. \tag{2.20}$$

Proof. If $0 \le \beta + \gamma \le \frac{\pi}{2}$, obviously,

$$\sin \alpha \leq \sin(\beta + \gamma)$$

= $\sin \beta \cos \gamma + \sin \gamma \cos \beta$
 $\leq \sin \beta + \sin \gamma.$

If $\frac{\pi}{2} \leq \beta + \gamma \leq \pi$, then $\beta \geq \frac{\pi}{2} - \gamma$,

$$\sin\beta + \sin\gamma \geq \sin(\frac{\pi}{2} - \gamma) + \sin\gamma$$

= $\cos\gamma + \sin\gamma$
= $\sqrt{2}\sin(\gamma + \frac{\pi}{4}) \geq 1 \geq \sin\alpha$.

With (2.8) and Lemma 2.13, we have

$$\sin \psi_{xz} \le \sin \psi_{xy} + \sin \psi_{yz}, \tag{2.21}$$

which is just a restatement of (2.19). Moreover, we have

Proposition 2.14. *For any unit vectors* x, y *and* $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$ *,*

$$\sqrt{1 - (\operatorname{Re}\langle x, z \rangle)^2} \le \sqrt{1 - (\operatorname{Re}\langle x, y \rangle)^2} + \sqrt{1 - (\operatorname{Re}\langle y, z \rangle)^2}$$
(2.22)

Proof. If $\operatorname{Re}\langle x, y \rangle \leq 0$, we replace x by -x; if $\operatorname{Re}\langle y, z \rangle \leq 0$, we replace z by -z. That is to say, we may always let $\varphi_{xy}, \varphi_{yz} \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ and $\varphi_{xz} \in [0, \pi]$, thus the condition in Lemma 2.13 is satisfied. Therefore $\sin \varphi_{xz} \leq \sin \varphi_{xy} + \sin \varphi_{yz}$, i.e., (2.22) holds.

To end this section, we present a unified extension of (2.19) and (2.22).

Proposition 2.15. [71] Let p > 2, then for any unit vectors x, y and $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$ we have

$$\sqrt[p]{1-|\langle x,z\rangle|^p} \le \sqrt[p]{1-|\langle x,y\rangle|^p} + \sqrt[p]{1-|\langle y,z\rangle|^p}$$
(2.23)

and

$$\sqrt[p]{1 - |\operatorname{Re}\langle x, z\rangle|^p} \le \sqrt[p]{1 - |\operatorname{Re}\langle x, y\rangle|^p} + \sqrt[p]{1 - |\operatorname{Re}\langle y, z\rangle|^p}$$
(2.24)

Proof. ⁷ Fix p > 2 and set $f(t) = (1 - (1 - t^2)^{p/2})^{1/p}$ for $t \in [0, 1]$. Then simple calculation shows

$$\frac{d}{dt}f(t) = (1 - (1 - t^2)^{p/2})^{1/p - 1}(1 - t^2)^{p/2 - 1}t \ge 0.$$

and

$$\frac{d}{dt}\frac{f(t)}{t} = t^{-2}(1-(1-t^2)^{p/2})^{1/p-1}((1-t^2)^{p/2-1}-1) \le 0.$$

Since f(t) is increasing and f(t)/t is decreasing, if $a, b, c \in [0, 1]$ and $0 \le a \le b + c \le 1$, then

$$f(a) \leq f(b+c)$$

$$= b\frac{f(b+c)}{b+c} + c\frac{f(b+c)}{b+c}$$

$$\leq b\frac{f(b)}{b} + c\frac{f(c)}{c}$$

$$= f(b) + f(c).$$

If $a, b, c \in [0, 1]$ and $0 \le a \le 1 \le b + c$, then we can choose b', c' such that $0 \le b' \le b$ and $0 \le c' \le c$ and b' + c' = 1. Again, we have $f(a) \le f(1) \le f(b') + f(c') \le f(b) + f(c)$, i.e., $f(a) \le f(b) + f(c)$. Taking $a = \sqrt{1 - |\langle x, z \rangle|^2}$, $b = \sqrt{1 - |\langle x, y \rangle|^2}$, and $c = \sqrt{1 - |\langle y, z \rangle|^2}$, we get

$$(1 - |\langle x, z \rangle|^p)^{1/p} = f(a)$$

$$\leq f(b) + f(c)$$

$$= (1 - |\langle x, y \rangle|^p)^{1/p} + (1 - |\langle y, z \rangle|^p)^{1/p}.$$

This proves (2.23). Inequality (2.24) can be proved by taking $a = \sqrt{1 - |\operatorname{Re}\langle x, z \rangle|^2}$, $b = \sqrt{1 - |\operatorname{Re}\langle x, y \rangle|^2}$, and $c = \sqrt{1 - |\operatorname{Re}\langle y, z \rangle|^2}$.

2.5 Angles between subspaces

In this section, we shall survey some remarkable results related to the angle between subspaces. To begin, let us recall the notion of *canonical angles* (in the literature, the terminology "principal angles" is occasionally used).

⁷The elegant proof was suggested by Gord Sinnamon, to whom I am indebted.

Let \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} be *m*-dimensional subspaces of \mathbb{C}^n (of course, $m \leq n$). One may define a vector

$$\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}) = (\Psi_1(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}), \cdots, \Psi_m(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}))$$

of *m* angles describing the relative position between these two subspaces (see e.g., [43]) as follows:

Let

$$\Psi_m(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}) := \max_{x \in \mathscr{X}, y \in \mathscr{Y}} |\langle x, y \rangle|, \quad \|x\| = \|y\| = 1.$$

This defines the smallest angle $\Psi_k(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$ between \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} . The maximum is achieved for some $x_k \in \mathscr{X}$ and $y_k \in \mathscr{Y}$. Now "remove" x_m from \mathscr{X} by considering the orthogonal complement of x in \mathscr{X} and do the same for y_m in \mathscr{Y} . Repeat the definition for the m-1dimensional subspaces

$$\{x \in \mathscr{X} : x \perp x_m\}$$
 and $\{y \in \mathscr{Y} : y \perp y_m\},\$

and then keep going in the same fashion until reaching empty spaces. After completion the above procedure defines recursively the m canonical angles

$$\pi/2 \ge \Psi_1(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}) \ge \cdots \ge \Psi_m(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}) \ge 0.$$

The angle $\Psi_m(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$ is called the *minimal angle* between \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} , which is of particular interest. In practice, one is also interested in the maximal angle $\Psi_1(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$, since it gives a better idea of "how far away" the spaces are from each other. In this sense, $\Psi_1(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y})$ is usually called the *gap* between \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} and is sometimes used as a measure of the "distance" between \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} .

The next example serves as a description of minimal angle and maximal angle in \mathbb{R}^3 .

Example 2.16. Given two planes $\mathscr{P}_1, \mathscr{P}_2$ in \mathbb{R}^3 . Without loss of generality, they pass through the origin. If they are the same, then we say the angle between them is 0. Assume $\mathscr{P}_1 = span\{u,v\}$, with $u \perp v$ and $\mathscr{P}_1 = span\{u,w\}$ with $u \perp w$.

In this case, we know the minimal canonical angle between the subspaces $span\{u,v\}$ and $span\{u,w\}$ is 0. Then we go on to find the second smallest canonical angle (by considering the **orthogonal complement** of u in $span\{u,v\}$ and $span\{u,w\}$, respectively): it is the angle between v and w. Thus the angle between two planes $\mathcal{P}_1, \mathcal{P}_2$ in the usual sense is the maximal canonical angle. **Remark 2.17.** Note that the canonical angles are defined in terms of Hermitian angle between complex vectors. What if we use real-part angle instead? It turns out with little surprise that they are the same, since we consider angles between **subspaces**; see [41, Lemma 6].

Let the columns of $X, Y \in M_{n \times m}(\mathbb{F})$ be any two orthonormal bases for the *m* dimensional subspaces \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} , respectively. Singular value decomposition tells us that we can take unitary matrices *U* and *V* such that

$$U^*X^*YV = \text{Diag}(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_m)$$

where the singular values are written from largest to smallest. It is easy to observe that the columns of X and Y satisfy the above procedure of defining canonical angles. This also shows that the cosines of the canonical angles between \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} are precisely the singular values of the matrix X^*Y . Note here that these singular values are always the same regardless of the initial choice of bases \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} , that is, the angles depend on the subspaces but not on the choice of bases. Generally we have

$$\cos\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y})=\sigma(X^*Y),$$

with X, Y being any orthonormal bases for \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} , respectively.

It is natural to ask whether Kreĭn's inequality (2.5) or its analogue (2.8) has some extension in the setting of angles between subspaces. Taking into account Remark 2.17, we consider the original version of canonical angle (i.e., defined in terms of Hermitian angle). Indeed, a conjecture on this was announced by Qiu at the 10th ILAS conference in 2002. Later, Qiu et al [93] proved his conjecture. Their result can be stated as

Theorem 2.18. Let \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} and $\mathscr{Z} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be subspaces of the same dimension, say m. Then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \Psi_{j}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Z}) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{k} \Psi_{j}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y}) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \Psi_{j}(\mathscr{Y}, \mathscr{Z})$$
(2.25)

and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \Psi_{i_j}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Z}) \le \sum_{j=1}^{k} \Psi_{i_j}(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y}) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \Psi_j(\mathscr{Y}, \mathscr{Z})$$
(2.26)

for any $1 \le i_1 < \cdots < i_k \le m$ and $1 \le k \le m$.

Remark 2.19. In [93], the authors showed something more. It is clear that (2.26) is stronger than (2.25), both of them can be regarded as an extension of (2.8).

Results of the form (2.25) or (2.26) are called (weak) majorization relation (they are also proved using techniques of majorization) whose definition is given in the beginning of the next chapter. That is, (2.25) can be rewritten equivalently as

$$\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Z})\prec_{w}\Psi(\mathscr{Y},\mathscr{Z})+\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}).$$

Similarly, (2.26) corresponds with (but is slightly stronger than)

$$|\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Z}) - \Psi(\mathscr{Y},\mathscr{Z})| \prec_w \Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}).$$

Regarding the extension of (2.21) to the multidimensional setting, Knyazev and Argentati [60] obtained the following result.

Theorem 2.20. Let \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} and $\mathscr{Z} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be subspaces of the same dimension. Then

$$|\sin\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Z}) - \sin\Psi(\mathscr{Y},\mathscr{Z})| \prec_{w} \sin\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y})$$
(2.27)

and

$$|\cos\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Z})-\cos\Psi(\mathscr{Y},\mathscr{Z})|\prec_{\scriptscriptstyle W}\sin\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y}).$$

Obviously, (2.27) implies

$$\sin\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Z})\prec_{\scriptscriptstyle W}\sin\Psi(\mathscr{X},\mathscr{Y})+\sin\Psi(\mathscr{Y},\mathscr{Z}).$$

There is also one additional important breakthrough related to the topic of majorization bounds for angles in subspaces. It was conjectured in [8] and proved in [61] by Knyazev and Argentati that the following extension of Ruhe's result [96] holds true.

Theorem 2.21. Let \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} be subspaces of \mathbb{C}^n having the same dimension, with orthonormal bases given by the columns of the matrices X and Y, respectively. Also, let $A \in H_n$ and let \mathscr{X} be A-invariant. Then

$$|\lambda(X^*AX) - \lambda(Y^*AY)| \prec_{w} \operatorname{spr}(A) \sin^2 \Psi(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y}).$$
(2.28)

Here, the spread of a matrix $X \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ with spectrum $\{\lambda_1(X), \dots, \lambda_n(X)\}$ is defined by $\operatorname{spr}(X) = \max_{j,k} |\lambda_j(X) - \lambda_k(X)|$.

It is not the purpose of this thesis to exposit the proof of the above majorization results. For Theorem 2.21, a nice exposition has appeared in a recent PhD thesis [88]. As I mentioned, majorization results are usually (if not mainly) proved using majorization techniques. This is especially the case for the proof of Theorem 2.21 (originally a conjecture). What interests me in this thesis is the majorization technique or tools that underly the beautiful results I will expand on in the next chapter.

Chapter 3

Some block-matrix majorization inequalities

In this chapter, we survey some classical and recent results on majorization inequalities. Special attention is given to majorization results of block-matrices.

For a real vector $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$, let $x^{\downarrow} = (x_1^{\downarrow}, x_2^{\downarrow}, ..., x_n^{\downarrow})$ be the vector obtained by rearranging the coordinates of x in nonincreasing order. Thus $x_1^{\downarrow} \ge x_2^{\downarrow} \ge ... \ge x_n^{\downarrow}$.

The set of $m \times n$ matrices with entries from \mathbb{F} is denoted by $M_{m \times n}(\mathbb{F})$. Also, we identify $M_n(\mathbb{F}) = M_{n \times n}(\mathbb{F})$. The set of $n \times n$ Hermitian matrices is denoted by H_n . $H_n^{++}(H_n^+)$ means the set of $n \times n$ positive definite (semidefinite) matrices.

We start with the notion of *majorization* relations between two real vectors.

Definition 3.1. Let $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then we say that x is weakly majorized by y, denoted by $x \prec_w y$ (the same as $y \succ_w x$), if $\sum_{j=1}^k x_j^{\downarrow} \leq \sum_{j=1}^k y_j^{\downarrow}$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., n. We say that x is majorized by y, denoted by $x \prec y$ (or $y \succ x$), if further $\sum_{j=1}^n x_j = \sum_{j=1}^n y_j$.

Majorization is a powerful, easy-to-use and flexible mathematical tool which can be applied to a wide variety of problems in pure and applied mathematics. For example, applications in quantum mechanics can be found in e.g., [85, 86, 87].

A well known and useful characterization of majorization is in terms of *doubly stochastic matrices*. Recall that a doubly stochastic matrix is a square (entrywise) nonnegative matrix whose row sums and column sums are all equal to 1. In symbols, $A \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$ is doubly stochastic if A is nonnegative and for $e = (1, ..., 1)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$Ae = e$$
 and $e^T A = e^T$

A *doubly substochastic matrix* is a square nonnegative matrix whose row and column sums are each at most 1, i.e.,

$$Ae \leq e$$
 and $e^T A \leq e^T$.

Proposition 3.2. [114] Let $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then $x \prec y$ if and only if there is a doubly stochastic matrix $A \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$ such that x = Ay. $x \prec_w y$ if and only if there is a doubly substochastic matrix $A \in M_n(\mathbb{R})$ such that x = Ay.

Another useful characterization of majorization is related to convex functions.

Proposition 3.3. [114] Let $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then

- 1. $x \prec y \Leftrightarrow \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(x_j)$ for all convex functions f.
- 2. $x \prec_w y \Leftrightarrow \sum_{j=1}^n f(x_j) \leq \sum_{j=1}^n f(x_j)$ for all increasing convex functions f.

For many specific applications, a weaker form is generally enough. Here, we let $f(x) := (f(x_1), \ldots, f(x_n))$.

Proposition 3.4. [114] Let $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. If f is convex, then

$$x \prec y \Rightarrow f(x) \prec_w f(y);$$

if f is increasing and convex, then

$$x \prec_w y \Rightarrow f(x) \prec_w f(y).$$

An interesting corollary of Proposition 3.4 is the following.

Corollary 3.5. *If* $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ *and* $x \prec y$ *, then*

$$\prod_{j=k}^n x_j \ge \prod_{j=k}^n y_j,$$

for k = 1, ..., n.

Proof. Note that $f(t) = -\log t$ is convex for $t \in (0, \infty)$.

The vector of eigenvalues of a matrix $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ is denoted by

$$\lambda(A) = (\lambda_1(A), \lambda_2(A), \dots, \lambda_n(A)).$$

When the eigenvalues are real, they are ordered

$$\lambda_1(A) \geq \lambda_2(A) \geq \ldots \geq \lambda_n(A)$$

otherwise, the real parts satisfy

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda_1(A) \geq \operatorname{Re} \lambda_2(A) \geq \ldots \geq \operatorname{Re} \lambda_n(A).$$

We mainly focus on majorization between real or real part of the eigenvalues of some matrices.

3.1 Classical results

This section is devoted to some classical results on eigenvalue majorization. In most cases, we include the proof for completeness.

The diagonal part of a square matrix A is denoted by Diag(A), i.e., Diag(A) is obtained by replacing off-diagonal entries of A by zeros. The *direct sum* of two matrices $A \in M_m(\mathbb{F})$ and $B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ is a larger block matrix $\begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{bmatrix}$, denoted by $A \oplus B$. Zeros here are understood as zero matrices of appropriate size. A remark on the notation: in the sequel, if $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ and $B \in M_m(\mathbb{F})$ with m < n, then $\lambda(A) \prec \lambda(B)$ really means that $\lambda(A) \prec \lambda(B \oplus 0)$ by adding a zero matrix such that the size of A and $B \oplus 0$ agree. Since the zero eigenvalues are not so important in our consideration, we may simply write $\lambda(A) = \lambda(A \oplus 0)$ for any zero square matrix 0.

Proposition 3.6. Schur(1923): *If* $A \in H_n$, *then*

$$\operatorname{Diag}(A) \prec \lambda(A).$$

Proof. The proof adapted here can be found in [79]. Since *A* is Hermitian, there exists a unitary matrix $U = [u_{ij}]$ such that $H = UDU^*$, where *D* is diagonal with diagonal entries $\lambda_1(A), \ldots, \lambda_n(A)$. The diagonal elements $a_{11}, a_{22}, \ldots, a_{nn}$ of *A* are

$$a_{ii} = \sum_{j=1}^n u_{ij} \bar{u}_{ij} \lambda_j(A) = \sum_{j=1}^n p_{ij} \lambda_j(A), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

where $p_{ij} = u_{ij}\bar{u}_{ij}$. Because *U* is unitary, the matrix $P = [p_{ij}]$ is doubly stochastic. Consequently,

$$(a_{11},a_{22},\ldots,a_{nn})=(\lambda_1(A),\lambda_2(A),\ldots,\lambda_n(A))P,$$

so that by Proposition 3.2, the assertion follows.

Schur's result can be extended to the block case.

Proposition 3.7. Fan (1954): If
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{m+n}$$
, then
 $\lambda(A \oplus B) \prec \lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix}\right).$ (3.1)

Proof. Let $A = U^*D_1U$, $B = V^*D_2V$, where D_1, D_2 are diagonal matrices, be the spectral decomposition of *A*, *B*, respectively. Then

$$egin{array}{rcl} \lambda\left(egin{bmatrix}A & X\X^* & B\end{bmatrix}
ight) &=& \lambda\left(egin{bmatrix}D_1 & UXV^*\VX^*U^* & D_2\end{bmatrix}
ight) \ &\succ& \lambda(D_1\oplus D_2) \ &=& \lambda(A\oplus B), \end{array}$$

where the majorization is by Proposition 3.2.

Another well known result by Fan on majorization is the following

Proposition 3.8. Fan (1949): *If* $A, B \in H_n$, *then*

$$\lambda(A+B) \prec \lambda(A) + \lambda(B). \tag{3.2}$$

A stronger result than (3.2) is obtained by Thompson.

Theorem 3.9. Thompson (1971): Let $A, B \in H_n$. Then for any sequence $1 \le i_1 < \cdots < i_k \le n$,

$$\sum_{t=1}^{k} \lambda_{i_t}(A) + \sum_{t=1}^{k} \lambda_{n-k+t}(B) \le \sum_{t=1}^{k} \lambda_{i_t}(A+B) \le \sum_{t=1}^{k} \lambda_{i_t}(A) + \sum_{t=1}^{k} \lambda_t(B)$$
(3.3)

This theorem is proved by using the min-max expression for the sum of eigenvalues. The proof is delicate and I decide not to spare too much room for the proof. A detailed proof can be found in [114, p.281].

Theorem 3.9 leads to another well known result due to Lidskii, see [69] or [14, p. 69].

Proposition 3.10. Lidskii (1950): *If* $A, B \in H_n$, *then*

$$\lambda(A) - \lambda(B) \prec \lambda(A - B). \tag{3.4}$$

Proof. The proof adapted here is from the standard reference [114]. Write A = B + (A - B). By Theorem 3.9,

$$\sum_{t=1}^n \lambda_{i_t}(A) \le \sum_{t=1}^n \lambda_{i_t}(B) + \sum_{t=1}^k \lambda_t(A-B)$$

which yields, for $k = 1, 2, \ldots, n$,

$$\max_{1\leq i_1<\cdots< i_k\leq n}\sum_{t=1}^k \left(\lambda_{i_t}(A)-\lambda_{i_t}(B)\right)\leq \sum_{t=1}^k \lambda_t(A-B),$$

that is,

$$\lambda(A) - \lambda(B) \prec_{w} \lambda(A - B).$$

As equality holds when k = n, the desired majorization follows.

A very basic and useful result was obtained by Rotfel'd and independently by Thompson.

Proposition 3.11. Rotfel'd (1969); Thompson (1977): *If* $A, B \in H_n^+$ *, then*

$$\lambda(A \oplus B) \prec \lambda(A + B). \tag{3.5}$$

Proof. The proof adapted here is from [79]. Since *A* and *B* are positive semidefinite, they can be written in the form $A = MM^*$, $B = NN^*$, for some $M, N \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$. If X = [M, N],

then $A + B = XX^*$. Furthermore, the nonzero eigenvalues of XX^* coincide with the nonzero eigenvalues of

$$X^*X = egin{bmatrix} M^*M & M^*N \ N^*M & N^*N \end{bmatrix},$$

It follows from (3.1) that

$$\begin{split} \lambda(A \oplus B) &= (\lambda(A), \lambda(B)) \\ &= (\lambda(MM^*), \lambda(NN^*)) \\ &= (\lambda(M^*M), \lambda(N^*N)) \\ &\prec \lambda(X^*X) = \lambda(XX^*) = \lambda(A+B). \end{split}$$

The completes the proof.

Another result complementary to Fan's (3.1) is the following, which can be found in [52, p. 217, Problem 22].

Proposition 3.12. If
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{m+n}^+$$
, then

$$\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) \prec \lambda(A) + \lambda(B).$$
(3.6)

Proof. Since $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix}$ positive semidefinite, then we have $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} = [M, N]^*[M, N],$

for some $M \in M_{m+n,m}(\mathbb{F})$ and $N \in M_{m+n,n}(\mathbb{F})$. Therefore $A = M^*M$, $B = N^*N$ and so

$$\lambda \left(\left[\begin{array}{ccc} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{array} \right] \right) = \lambda \left([M,N]^* [M,N] \right)$$
$$= \lambda \left([M,N] [M,N]^* \right)$$
$$= \lambda (MM^* + NN^*)$$
$$\prec \lambda (MM^*) + \lambda (NN^*)$$
$$= \lambda (M^*M) + \lambda (N^*N)$$
$$= \lambda (A) + \lambda (B),$$

In view of (3.4), the above proposition can be slightly improved.

Proposition 3.13. If
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{m+n}^+$$
, then

$$\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) - \lambda(A) \prec \lambda(B).$$
(3.7)

Proof. As above, write

$$\left[egin{array}{cc} A & X \ X^* & B \end{array}
ight] = [M,N]^*[M,N],$$

for some $M \in M_{m+n,m}(\mathbb{F})$ and $N \in M_{m+n,n}(\mathbb{F})$. Then

$$\begin{split} \lambda \left(\left[\begin{array}{cc} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{array} \right] \right) - \lambda(A) &= \lambda \left([M, N]^* [M, N] \right) - \lambda(M^* M) \\ &= \lambda (MM^* + NN^*) - \lambda(MM^*) \\ &\prec \lambda(NN^*) = \lambda(N^* N) = \lambda(B), \end{split}$$

where the majorization is by (3.4). This completes the proof.

Remark 3.14. Proposition 3.12 can be generalized to $m \times m$ block matrices by simple induction, so I wonder whether Proposition 3.13 also has such an extension. What will be a correct form? Generally, we don't have $\lambda(X+Y+Z) - \lambda(X) - \lambda(Y) \prec \lambda(Z)$ for $X, Y, Z \in H_n$. For example, one may take Z = 0, then it reduces to $\lambda(X+Y) - \lambda(X) - \lambda(Y) \prec 0$, which clearly does not hold.

Comparing (3.1), (3.5) and (3.6), it is natural to ask the question: if $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{2n}^+$, do we have

$$\lambda\left(\left[\begin{array}{cc}A & X\\ X^* & B\end{array}\right]\right)\prec\lambda(A+B)?$$

Generally, the answer is no as the following examples shows.

Example 3.15. Let $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$, $B = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $X = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$. Then $\lambda(A+B) = (4+\sqrt{2}, 4-\sqrt{2}),$ $\lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B\end{bmatrix}\right) = (4+\sqrt{5}, 4-\sqrt{5}),$ where the spectrum of $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B\end{bmatrix}$ ensures the block matrix is positive semidefinite.

However, if we add an additional requirement that the off block diagonal X is Hermitian, then the answer is affirmative. This is the main result of next section.

3.2 Recent results

The following result has been published in [74]. It is a joint work with Wolkowicz. We shall provide two proofs. Only after the publication of [74] and [20] did we get informed by K. Audenaert that Hiroshima [49] proved a more general result obtained from the consideration of quantum information science. However, the line of proof is quite different.

Theorem 3.16. If
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{2n}^+$$
 with X being Hermitian, then

$$\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) \prec \lambda (A+B).$$
(3.8)

We need the a simple lemma in our first proof.

Lemma 3.17. *If* $A, B \in H_n$ *, then*

$$2\lambda(A) \prec \lambda(A+B) + \lambda(A-B). \tag{3.9}$$

Proof. The lemma is easily seen to be equivalent to Fan's majorization inequality (3.2), i.e., $\lambda(A+B) \prec \lambda(A) + \lambda(B)$. A proof can be found in [51, Theorem 4.3.27].

First proof of (3.8). Since $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix}$ is positive semidefinite, as before we may write $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix} = [M, N]^*[M, N],$

for some $M \in M_{2n,n}(\mathbb{F})$ and $N \in M_{2n,n}(\mathbb{F})$. Therefore, we have $A = M^*M$, $B = N^*N$ and $X = M^*N = N^*M$. Note that $\lambda \begin{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix} \end{pmatrix} = \lambda ([M,N][M,N]^*) = \lambda (MM^* + NN^*)$. The conclusion is then equivalent to showing

$$M^*N = N^*M \implies \lambda(MM^* + NN^*) \prec \lambda(M^*M + N^*N).$$
(3.10)

First, note that

$$(M+iN)^*(M+iN) = M^*M + N^*N + i(M^*N - N^*M)$$

= $M^*M + N^*N$

$$(M - iN)^*(M - iN) = M^*M + N^*N - i(M^*N - N^*M)$$

= $M^*M + N^*N$

$$(M+iN)(M+iN)^* = MM^* + NN^* - i(MN^* - NM^*)$$

$$(M-iN)(M-iN)^* = MM^* + NN^* + i(MN^* - NM^*).$$

Therefore we see that

$$\begin{split} \lambda \left(X^*X + Y^*Y \right) &= \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \lambda \left((X + iY)^* (X + iY) \right) + \lambda \left((X - iY)^* (X - iY) \right) \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \lambda \left((X + iY) (X + iY)^* \right) + \lambda \left((X - iY) (X - iY)^* \right) \right\} \\ &\succ \quad \lambda (XX^* + YY^*), \end{split}$$

where the majorization is by applying Lemma 3.17 with $A = (XX^* + YY^*)$, $B = i(XY^* - YX^*)$.

For $A, B \in H_n$, we write $A \succeq B$ (the same as $B \preceq A$) to mean A - B is positive semidefinite. Thus $A \succeq 0$ is the same as saying $A \in H_n^+$. This notion is the so called *Löwner partial*

order; see e.g., [14]. $A^{1/2}$ means the unique square root of $A \in H_n^+$, which is also positive semidefinite. Now we can introduce the *absolute value* of a general matrix $A \in M_{m \times n}(\mathbb{F})$, defined by $|A| = (A^*A)^{1/2}$.

After defining the object |A|, the authors of the book [94] warn "The reader should be wary of the emotional connotations of the symbol $|\cdot|$ ". This is because negative answers to some plausible inequalities. For example, among other things, the prospective triangle inequality

$$|A+B| \preceq |A| + |B|$$

is not true in general. Also, $|A - B| \leq |A| + |B|$ is not true for $A, B \in H_n^+$, see, e.g., [17]. Let $A, B \in H_n^{++}$, their *geometric mean* $A \ddagger B$ is defined by two quite natural requirements:

- AB = BA implies $A \sharp B = \sqrt{AB}$,
- $(X^*AX) \sharp (X^*BX) = X^*(A \sharp B)X$ for any invertible *X*.

Then, we must have

$$A \sharp B = A^{1/2} (I \sharp A^{-1/2} B A^{-1/2}) A^{1/2} = A^{1/2} (A^{-1/2} B A^{-1/2})^{1/2} A^{1/2},$$

i.e., $A \ddagger B := A^{1/2} (A^{-1/2} B A^{-1/2})^{1/2} A^{1/2}$. This is the commonly accepted definition of the geometric mean of two positive definite matrices.

In recent years there has been added interest in this object because of its connections with Riemannian geometry, e.g., [15].

A differentiable function $\gamma: [0,1] \to H_n^{++}$ is called curve, its tangent vector at t is $\gamma'(t)$ and the length of the curve is

$$\int_0^1 \sqrt{g_{\gamma(t)}(\gamma'(t),\gamma'(t))} dt.$$

Here the inner product on the tangent space at $A \in H_n^{++}$ is $g_A(H_1, H_2) = \text{Tr}A^{-1}H_1A^{-1}H_2$. Note that this geometry has many symmetries, each similarity transformation of the matrices becomes a symmetry. Namely,

$$g_{S^{-1}AS^{-1}}(S^{-1}H_1S^{-1}, S^{-1}H_2S^{-1}) = g_A(H_1, H_2).$$

Given $A, B \in H_n^{++}$ the curve

$$\gamma(t) = A^{1/2} (A^{-1/2} B A^{-1/2})^t A^{1/2} \qquad (0 \le t \le 1)$$

connects these two points: $\gamma(0) = A$, $\gamma(1) = B$. This is the shortest curve connecting the two points, it is called geodesic, e.g., [90]. Thus, the geometric mean $A \ddagger B$ is just the mid point of the geodesic curve.

A remarkable property of the geometric mean is a *maximal characterization* by Pusz-Woronovicz [91]:

Proposition 3.18. Let $A, B \in H_n^{++}$. Then

$$A \sharp B = \max \left\{ X : \left[\begin{array}{cc} A & X \\ X & B \end{array} \right] \succeq 0, X = X^* \right\}.$$

The maximization here is in the sense of Löwner partial order.

Proof. Since
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix}$$
 is positive semidefinite, then $B \ge XA^{-1}X$, and hence
$$A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2} \succeq A^{-1/2}XA^{-1}XA^{-1/2} = (A^{-1/2}XA^{-1/2})^2.$$

By the operator monotonicity¹ of the square root functions (see, e.g., [15]), this leads to

$$A^{1/2}(A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2})^{1/2}A^{1/2} \succeq X.$$

On the other hand, if $X = A^{1/2} (A^{-1/2} B A^{-1/2})^{1/2} A^{1/2}$, then $B = X A^{-1} X$. This shows the maximality property of $A \ddagger B$.

In the above proof, with $A, B \in H_n^+$, we only require A is positive definite. Therefore, Proposition 3.18 tells us that $A \sharp B$ is the largest positive matrix X such that $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix}$ is positive semidefinite. This can be the definition for non-invertible A. An equivalent possibility is

$$A \sharp B := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (A + \varepsilon I) \sharp B.$$

An immediate consequence of Theorem 3.16 is the following

¹A real-valued continuous function f(t) defined on a real interval Λ is said to be operator monotone if $A \leq B$ implies $f(A) \leq f(B)$ for all such Hermitian matrices A, B of all orders whose eigenvalues are contained in Λ , see e.g., [112].

Corollary 3.19. Let $A, B \in H_n^+$, then

$$\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & A \sharp B \\ A \sharp B & B \end{bmatrix} \right) \prec \lambda (A + B).$$
(3.11)

To my best knowledge, we know fairly little about $\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & A \# B \\ A \# B & B \end{bmatrix} \right)$ besides (3.11).

The second proof of (3.8) is made possible by a powerful decomposition lemma for positive definite matrices, which is of independent interest. I will present the decomposition lemma in a separate section, followed by the second proof. The remaining part of this section is devoted to several applications of Theorem 3.16.

As we can see from the first proof of (3.8), a special case of Theorem 3.16 can be stated as follows.

Corollary 3.20. Let $M, N \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ with M^*N Hermitian. Then we have

$$\lambda(MM^*+NN^*)\prec\lambda(M^*M+N^*N).$$

Corollary 3.21. Let $k \ge 1$ be an integer. If $A, B \in H_n$, then we have

$$\lambda (A^2 + (BA)^k (AB)^k) \prec \lambda (A^2 + (AB)^k (BA)^k).$$

Proof. Let M = A and $N = (BA)^k$. Then $M^*N = A(BA)^k$ is Hermitian. The result now follows from Corollary 3.20.

Corollary 3.22. Let $k \ge 1$ be an integer, $p \in [0, \infty)$ and let $A, B \in H_n$. Then we have

1.
$$\operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + (AB)^k (BA)^k)^p] \ge \operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + (BA)^k (AB)^k)^p], p \ge 1;$$

2. $\operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + (AB)^k (BA)^k)^p] \le \operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + (BA)^k (AB)^k)^p], 0 \le p \le 1$

Proof. Since $f(x) = x^p$ is a convex function for $p \ge 1$ and concave for $0 \le p \le 1$, Corollary 3.22 follows from Corollary 3.21 and Proposition 3.3.

Corollary 3.23. Let $A, B \in H_n^{++}$, then

$$\operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + AB^2A)^{-1}] \ge \operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + BA^2B)^{-1}].$$

Proof. Note that $g(x) = x^{-1}$ is a convex function on $(0,\infty)$. Corollary 3.23 follows from Corollary 3.21 and Proposition 3.3.

Corollary 3.24. If $A, B \in H_n^+$, then

$$\det(A^2 + AB^2A) \le \det(A^2 + BA^2B).$$

Proof. By Corollary 3.21, we have $\lambda(A^2 + AB^2A) \succ \lambda(A^2 + BA^2B)$. Applying Corollary 3.5 to k = 1, we get $\prod_{j=1}^n \lambda_j (A^2 + AB^2A) \le \prod_{j=1}^n \lambda_j (A^2 + BA^2B)$, i.e., $\det(A^2 + AB^2A) \le \det(A^2 + BA^2B)$. This completes the proof.

Remark 3.25. A slightly different argument can be found in [81].

In [39], the following conjecture was posed.

Conjecture 3.26. *If* $X, Y \in H_n^+$ *and* $p \in \mathbb{R}$ *, then*

(*i*)
$$\operatorname{Tr}[(I + X + Y + Y^{1/2}XY^{1/2})^p] \le \operatorname{Tr}[(I + X + Y + XY)^p], p \ge 1.$$

(*ii*) $\operatorname{Tr}[(I + X + Y + Y^{1/2}XY^{1/2})^p] \ge \operatorname{Tr}[(I + X + Y + XY)^p], 0 \le p \le 1.$

We firstly note that the matrix I + X + Y + XY = (I+X)(I+Y) is generally not positive semidefinite. However, the eigenvalues of the matrix (I+X)(I+Y) are same to those of the positive semidefinite matrix $(I+X)^{1/2}(I+Y)(I+X)^{1/2}$. Therefore the expression $Tr[(I+X+Y+XY)^p]$ makes sense.

We easily find that the equality for (i) and (ii) in Conjecture 3.26 holds in the case of p = 1. In addition, the case of p = 2 was proven by elementary calculations in [39].

Putting $A = (I + X)^{1/2}$ and $B = Y^{1/2}$, Conjecture 3.26 can be equivalently reformulated as the following one (now a theorem), because we have

$$Tr[(I + X + Y + XY)^{p}] = Tr[(A^{2} + A^{2}B^{2})^{p}] = Tr[(A^{2}(I + B^{2}))^{p}]$$

= Tr[(A(I + B^{2})A)^{p}] = Tr[(A^{2} + AB^{2}A)^{p}].

Theorem 3.27. If $A, B \in H_n^+$ and $p \in \mathbb{R}$, then

$$\operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + BA^2B)^p] \leq \operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + AB^2A)^p], p \geq 1;$$

 $\operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + BA^2B)^p] \geq \operatorname{Tr}[(A^2 + AB^2A)^p], 0 \leq p \leq 1$

It is then clear that this is just the case where k = 1 in Corollary 3.22. Thus Conjecture 3.26 will be referred to as Theorem 3.26.

In statistical mechanics, Golden [42] has proved that if $A, B \in H_n^+$ then the inequality

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{A} e^{B} \ge \operatorname{Tr} e^{A+B} \tag{3.12}$$

holds. Independently, Thompson [100] proved (3.12) for Hermitian A, B without the requirment of definiteness. As an application of Theorem 3.26, we shall give a one-parameter extension of the *Golden-Thompson inequality*.

We denote $\exp_{v}(x) \equiv (1 + vx)^{\frac{1}{v}}$ if 1 + vx > 0, otherwise it is undefined. It is clear that $\lim_{v \to 0} \exp_{v}(x) = e^{x}$.

We also need the following proposition proved in [38]. For completeness, we include the simple proof.

Proposition 3.28. [38] *For* $A, B \in H_n^+$ *, and* $v \in (0, 1]$ *, we have*

$$Tr[exp_{v}(A+B)] \le Tr[exp_{v}(A+B+vB^{1/2}AB^{1/2})];$$
(3.13)

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\exp_{v}(A + B + vAB)] \le \operatorname{Tr}[\exp_{v}(A)\exp_{v}(B)].$$
(3.14)

Proof. Since $B^{1/2}AB^{1/2} \in H_n^+$, we have

$$I + v(A + B) \leq I + v(A + B + v(B^{1/2}AB^{1/2})).$$

Proposition 3.4 tells us

$$Tr[(I + v(A + B)^{v})^{1/v}] \le Tr[(I + v(A + B + v(B^{1/2}AB^{1/2})))^{1/v}]$$

for $0 < v \le 1$. This proves the first claim. For the second one, *Lieb-Thirring inequality* [70] says $\text{Tr}[(XY)^{1/v}] \le \text{Tr}[X^{1/v}Y^{1/v}]$ for any $X, Y \in H_n^+$. Now putting X = I + vA, Y = I + vB, we have

$$Tr[((I + vA)(I + vB))^{1/v}] \le Tr[(I + vA)^{1/v}(I + vA)^{1/v}].$$

As desired.

By Theorem 3.26 and Proposition 3.28, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3.29. For $A, B \in H_n^+$ and $v \in (0, 1]$, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\exp_{\nu}(A+B)] \leq \operatorname{Tr}[\exp_{\nu}(A)\exp_{\nu}(B)].$$
(3.15)

Proof. It suffices to show RHS (i.e., right hand side) of (3.13) is bounded from the above by the LHS (i.e., left hand side) of (3.14). Putting $A_1 = vA$, $B_1 = vB$ and $p = \frac{1}{v}$, then

$$Tr\left[\exp_{v}(A+B+vB^{1/2}AB^{1/2})\right] = Tr\left[\left\{I+v(A+B+vB^{1/2}AB^{1/2})\right\}^{\frac{1}{v}}\right] \\ = Tr\left[(I+A_{1}+B_{1}+B_{1}^{1/2}A_{1}B_{1}^{1/2})^{p}\right] \\ \leq Tr\left[(I+A_{1}+B_{1}+A_{1}B_{1})^{p}\right] \\ = Tr\left[\{I+v(A+B+vAB)\}^{\frac{1}{v}}\right] \\ = Tr\left[\exp_{v}(A+B+vAB)\right],$$

This completes the proof.

Remark 3.30. Though we have positivity requirement on A, B, in the proof, we only need I + vA > 0 and I + vB > 0 for $0 < v \le 1$. As $v \to 0^+$, we necessarily have I + vA > 0 and I + vB > 0 for Hermitian matrices A, and B. In this sense, inequality (3.15) can be regarded as a kind of one-parameter extension of the Golden-Thompson inequality.

The simplest proof of Golden-Thompson inequality (3.12) appeals to Lieb-Thirring inequality and the following exponential product formula for matrices

Proposition 3.31. *For any* $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ *,*

$$\lim_{p \to \infty} (e^{A/p} e^{B/p})^p = \lim_{p \to \infty} (e^{B/2p} e^{A/p} e^{B/2p})^p = e^{A+B}.$$

It is worthwhile to note that [25] contains interesting historical remarks concerning the previous proposition.

Remark 3.32. A remarkable extension of Golden-Thompson inequality is due to Cohen et al. [25], which says for any $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$,

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{(A+A^*)/2} e^{(B+B^*)/2} \ge |\operatorname{Tr} e^{A+B}|.$$

We end this section with a question.

Question 3.33. Let $A, B \in M_n$ such that A^*B is Hermitian. Is it true

$$\lambda(|A^*| + |B^*|) \prec \lambda(|A| + |B|)?$$

3.3 A decomposition lemma for positive definite matrices

For positive block-matrices,

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{n+m}^+, \quad \text{with } A \in H_n^+, B \in H_m^+,$$

we have a remarkable *decomposition lemma* for elements in H_{n+m}^+ observed in [19]:

Lemma 3.34. For every matrix in H_{n+m}^+ written in blocks, we have the decomposition

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} = U \begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} U^* + V \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{bmatrix} V^*$$

for some unitaries $U, V \in M_{n+m}(\mathbb{F})$.

The motivation for such a decomposition is various inequalities for convex or concave functions of positive operators partitioned in blocks. These results are extensions of some classical majorization, Rotfel'd and Minkowski type inequalities. Lemma 3.34 actually implies a host of such inequalities as shown in the recent papers [18] and [19] where a proof of Lemma 3.34 can be found too. Here we also include the simple proof. Positivity of $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix}$ tells us there is a Hermitian matrix $\begin{bmatrix} C & Y \\ Y^* & D \end{bmatrix}$, comformally partitioned such that $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} C & Y \\ Y^* & D \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} C & Y \\ Y^* & D \end{bmatrix}$

and observe that it can be written as

$$\begin{bmatrix} C & 0 \\ Y^* & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} C & Y \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & Y \\ 0 & D \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ Y^* & D \end{bmatrix} = T^*T + S^*S.$$

Then, use the fact that T^*T and S^*S are unitarily congruent to

$$TT^* = \begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } SS^* = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{bmatrix}$$

3.4 Several norm inequalities

Most of the result in this section has appeared in [20]. It is a joint work with Bourin and Lee.

If A is a linear operator on \mathbb{F}^n , the *operator norm* of A, denoted by $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$, is defined as

$$||A||_{\infty} = \sup_{||x||=1} ||Ax||.$$

A norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $M_n(\mathbb{F})$ is called symmetric if for $A, B, C \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$

$$||BAC|| \le ||B||_{\infty} ||A|| ||C||_{\infty}$$

Classical symmetric norms include Ky Fan k-norms, denoted by $\|\cdot\|_k$, $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$, where *n* is the size of the matrix²; and the usual Schatten *p*-norms, denoted by $\|\cdot\|_p$, $1 \le p < \infty$; see e.g., [52].

Proposition 3.35. [14, p. 94] A norm on $M_n(\mathbb{F})$ is symmetric if and only if it is unitarily invariant, *i.e.*, ||UAV|| = ||A|| for any unitaries $U, V \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$.

By the *Fan dominance theorem* [14], given $A, B \in H_n^+$, the following two conditions are equivalent:

- (*i*) $||A|| \le ||B||$ for all symmetric norms.
- (*ii*) $\sum_{j=1}^{k} \lambda_j(A) \le \sum_{j=1}^{k} \lambda_j(B)$ for all $k = 1, 2, \cdots, n$.

In particular, $\lambda(A) \prec \lambda(B)$ implies $||A|| \le ||B||$ for every symmetric norm for $A, B \in H_n^+$. Most of the corollaries below are rather straightforward consequences of Lemma 3.34, except Corollary 3.42 which also requires some more elaborated estimates. If we first use a *unitary congruence* with

$$J = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} I & -I \\ I & I \end{bmatrix}$$

where *I* is the identity of M_n , we observe that

$$J\begin{bmatrix} A & X\\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} J^* = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{A+B}{2} + \operatorname{Re}X & \star\\ \star & \frac{A+B}{2} - \operatorname{Re}X \end{bmatrix}$$

²When k = 1, n, it is just operator norm, trace norm, respectively.

where \star stands for unspecified entries and Re $X = (X + X^*)/2$, the so called *Hermitian part* of a square matrix *X*.

Remark 3.36. If we take

$$K = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} I & I \\ I & -I \end{bmatrix},$$

again, we have

$$J\begin{bmatrix}A & X\\X^* & B\end{bmatrix}J^* = \begin{bmatrix}\frac{A+B}{2} + \operatorname{Re}X & \star\\ \star & \frac{A+B}{2} - \operatorname{Re}X\end{bmatrix}.$$

A special case of K, i.e., $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ is called the Hadamard gate. It sends the basis vectors into uniform superposition and vice versa. For more information of this kind of matrix; see [90, p. 122].

Thus Lemma 3.34 yields:

Proposition 3.37. For every matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of the same size, we have a decomposition

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} = U \begin{bmatrix} \frac{A+B}{2} + \operatorname{Re}X & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} U^* + V \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{A+B}{2} - \operatorname{Re}X \end{bmatrix} V^*$$

for some unitaries $U, V \in M_{2n}(\mathbb{F})$.

This is equivalent to Proposition 3.38 below by the obvious unitary congruence

$$\begin{bmatrix} iI & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} iI & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{bmatrix}^* = \begin{bmatrix} A & iX \\ -iX^* & B \end{bmatrix}.$$

Proposition 3.38. For every matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size, we have a decomposition

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} = U \begin{bmatrix} \frac{A+B}{2} + \operatorname{Im} X & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} U^* + V \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{A+B}{2} - \operatorname{Im} X \end{bmatrix} V^*$$

for some unitaries $U, V \in M_{2n}(\mathbb{F})$.

Here $\text{Im}X = (X - X^*)/2i$, the so called *skew-Hermitian part* of X. The decomposition allows to obtain some norm estimates depending on how the full matrix is far from a block-diagonal matrix.

Second proof of (3.8). From Proposition 3.37 and Proposition 3.38, we know that if X is skew-Hermitian or Hermitian, i.e., ReX = 0 or ImX = 0, by using Fan's inequality (3.2), (3.8) follows immediately.

Now, by noticing that $\text{Im}X \leq |\text{Im}X| = \frac{1}{2}|X - X^*|$, we have:

Proposition 3.39. For every matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size, we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \preceq \frac{1}{2} \left\{ U \begin{bmatrix} A+B+|X-X^*| & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} U^* + V \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & A+B+|X-X^*| \end{bmatrix} V^* \right\}$$

for some unitaries $U, V \in M_{2n}(\mathbb{F})$.

The remaining part of this section is devoted to inequalities. Since a symmetric norm on $M_{n+m}(\mathbb{F})$ induces a symmetric norm on $M_n(\mathbb{F})$, we may assume that our norms are defined on all spaces $M_n(\mathbb{F})$, $n \ge 1$.

We start with a lemma.

Lemma 3.40. If $S, T \in H_n^+$ and if $f : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is concave, then, for some unitary $U, V \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$,

$$f(S+T) \le Uf(S)U^* + Vf(T)V^*.$$
 (3.16)

The lemma can be found in [7] (for a proof see also, [19, Section 3]).

(3.16) is a matrix version of the scalar inequality $f(a+b) \le f(a) + f(b)$ for positive concave functions f on $[0,\infty)$. This inequality via unitary orbits considerably improves the famous Rotfel'd trace inequality for non-negative concave functions and positive operators,

$$\operatorname{Tr} f(A+B) \leq \operatorname{Tr} f(A) + \operatorname{Tr} f(B),$$

and its symmetric norm version

$$||f(A+B)|| \le ||f(A)|| + ||f(B)||,$$

Combined with Lemma 3.34, (3.16) entails a recent result of Lee [65], which states: Let f(t) be a non-negative concave function on $[0,\infty)$. Then, given an arbitrary partitioned positive semi-definite matrix,

$$\left\| f\left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) \right\| \le \|f(A)\| + \|f(B)\|,$$

for all symmetric norms.

Remark 3.41. Specified to f(x) = |x|. Obviously, the condition of Lemma 3.40 is satisfied. In this context, a remarkable property due to Thompson says that for any $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$, there are unitary matrices U and V such that

$$|A+B| \le U|A|U^* + V|B|V^*.$$

We refer to [114, p. 289] for a proof.

Proposition 3.42. For every matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size and for all symmetric norms, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix}^p \right\| \le 2^{|p-1|} \{ \| (A+B)^p \| + \| |X-X^*|^p \| \}$$

for all p > 0.

Proof. We first show the case $0 . Applying (3.16) to <math>f(t) = t^p$ and the RHS of Proposition 3.39 with

$$S = \frac{1}{2}U \begin{bmatrix} A+B+|X-X^*| & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} U^*, \quad T = \frac{1}{2}V \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & A+B+|X-X^*| \end{bmatrix} V^*$$

we obtain

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix}^p \right\| \le 2^{1-p} \left\{ \left\| (A+B+|X-X^*|)^p \right\| \right\}$$

Applying again (3.16) with $f(t) = t^p$, S = A + B and $T = |X - X^*|$ yields the result for 0 .

To get the inequality for $p \ge 1$, it suffices to use in the RHS of Proposition 3.39 the elementary inequality, for $S, T \in H_n^+$,

$$\left\| \left(\frac{S+T}{2}\right)^{p} \right\| \le \frac{\|S^{p}\| + \|T^{p}\|}{2}$$
(3.17)

With

$$S = U \begin{bmatrix} A + B + |X - X^*| & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} U^*,$$
$$T = V \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & A + B + |X - X^*| \end{bmatrix} V^*$$

we get from Proposition 3.39 and (3.17)

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix}^p \right\| \le \left\| (A + B + |X - X^*|)^p \right\|$$

and another application of (3.17) with S = 2(A + B) and $T = 2|X - X^*|$ completes the proof.

Proposition 3.43. For any matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size such that the right upper block X is accretive, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\| \le \|A + B\| + \|\operatorname{Re} X\|$$

for all symmetric norms.

Proof. By Proposition3.38, for all Ky Fan *k*-norms $\|\cdot\|_k$, k = 1, ..., 2n, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{k} \leq \left\| \begin{bmatrix} \frac{A+B}{2} + \operatorname{Re}X & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{k} + \left\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{A+B}{2} \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{k}.$$

Equivalently,

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{k} \leq \left\| \left(\frac{A+B}{2} + \operatorname{Re} X \right)^{\downarrow} \right\|_{k} + \left\| \left(\frac{A+B}{2} \right)^{\downarrow} \right\|_{k}$$

where Z^{\downarrow} stands for the diagonal matrix listing the eigenvalues of $Z \in H_n^+$ in decreasing order. By using the triangle inequality for $\|\cdot\|_k$ and the fact that

$$||Z_1^{\downarrow}||_k + ||Z_2^{\downarrow}||_k = ||Z_1^{\downarrow} + Z_2^{\downarrow}||_k$$

for all $Z_1, Z_2 \in H_n^+$ we infer

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{k} \leq \left\| (A+B)^{\downarrow} + (\operatorname{Re} X)^{\downarrow} \right\|_{k}.$$

Hence

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\| \le \left\| (A+B)^{\downarrow} + (\operatorname{Re} X)^{\downarrow} \right\|$$

for all symmetric norms. The triangle inequality completes the proof

Recall that the *field of values*³ $W(\cdot)$ is a set of complex numbers naturally associated with a given *n*-by-*n* matrix *A*:

$$W(A) = \{x^*Ax : x \in \mathbb{C}^n, x^*x = 1\}.$$

The spectrum (i.e., the set of eigenvalues) of a matrix is a discrete point set, while the field of values can be a continuum, it is always a compact convex set. The *numerical radius* of $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ is

$$w(A) = \max\{|z| : z \in F(A)\}.$$

It is easy to observe that for all $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$, W(ReA) = ReW(A); see e.g., [52, p. 9]. This immediately leads to

Corollary 3.44. Let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$. Then W(A) is contained in RHS (i.e., right half plane) if and only if ReA is positive definite.

We need the following interesting fact that characterizes whether the origin is in the field of value.

Lemma 3.45. Let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be given. Then $0 \notin W(X)$ if and only if there exists a complex number z such that RezA is positive definite.

Proof. The proof here is adapted from [52, p. 21]. If Re *zA* is positive definite for some $z \in \mathbb{C}$, then $0 \notin W(A)$ by Corollary 3.44. Conversely, suppose $0 \notin W(A)$. By the separating hyperplane theorem (see e.g., [24]), there is a line *L* in the plane such that each of the two nonintersecting compact convex sets $\{0\}$ and W(A) lies entirely within exactly one of the two open half-planes determined by *L*. The coordinate axes may now be rotated so that the line *L* is carried into a vertical line in the right half-plane with W(A) strictly to the right of it, that is, for some $z \in \mathbb{C}$, $W(zA) = zW(A) \subset RHP$, so W(zA) is positive definite by Corollary 3.44.

³This is the same as the terminology "numerical range".

A classical bound for numerical radius in terms of operator norms can be found, e.g., in [52, p.44]:

$$\frac{1}{2} \|A\|_{\infty} \le w(A) \le \|A\|_{\infty},$$

and both bounds are sharp.

Proposition 3.46. For any matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size such that $0 \notin W(X)$, the numerical range the of right upper block X, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\| \le \|A + B\| + \|X\|$$

for all symmetric norms.

Proof. By Lemma 3.45 The condition $0 \notin W(X)$ means that zX is accretive for some complex number z in the unit circle. Making use of the unitary congruence

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \simeq \begin{bmatrix} A & zX \\ \overline{z}X^* & B \end{bmatrix}$$

we obtain the result from Corollary 3.43.

The condition $0 \notin W(X)$ in the previous corollary can obviously be relaxed to 0 does not belong to the relative interior⁴ of *X*, denoted by $W_{int}(X)$. In case of the usual operator norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$, this can be restated with the numerical radius w(X):

Corollary 3.47. For any matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size such that $0 \notin W_{int}(X)$, the relative interior of the numerical range the of right upper block X, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{\infty} \le \|A + B\|_{\infty} + w(X).$$

In case of the operator norm, we also infer from Proposition 3.37 the following result:

Corollary 3.48. For any matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size, we have

_ ..

.. _

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{\infty} \le \|A + B\|_{\infty} + 2w(X).$$

⁴Intuitively, the relative interior of a set contains all points which are not on the "edge" of the set, relative to the smallest subspace in which this set lies.

Once again, the proof follows by replacing X by zX where z is a complex number of modulus 1 such that $w(X) = w(zX) = ||\operatorname{Re}(zX)||_{\infty}$ and then by applying Proposition 3.37.

Example 3.49. By letting

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad X = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

we have an equality case in the previous corollary. This example also gives an equality case in Proposition 3.42 for the operator norm and any $p \ge 1$. (For any 0 and for the trace norm, equality occurs in Proposition 3.42 with <math>A = B and X = 0.)

Letting X = 0 in the above corollary we get the basic inequality (3.5). The last two corollaries seem to be folklore.

Corollary 3.50. Given any matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \oplus \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\| \le 2 \|A \oplus B\|$$

for all symmetric norms.

Proof. This follows from (3.5) and the obvious unitary congruence

$$egin{bmatrix} A & X \ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \oplus egin{bmatrix} A & X \ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \simeq egin{bmatrix} A & X \ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \oplus egin{bmatrix} A & -X \ -X^* & B \end{bmatrix}$$

The previous corollary entails the last one:

Corollary 3.51. Given any matrix in H_{2n}^+ written in blocks of same size, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{p} \le 2^{1-1/p} (\|A\|_{p}^{p} + \|B\|_{p}^{p})^{1/p}$$

for all $p \in [1, \infty)$.

Proof.

$$2 \left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\|_p^p = \left\| \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \oplus \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right\|_p^p$$
$$\leq 2^p \|A \oplus B\|_p^p$$
$$= 2^p (\|A\|_p^p + \|B\|_p^p).$$

Taking *p*th root on both sides, this completes the proof.

Note that if A = X = B we have an equality case in Corollary 3.51.

Remark 3.52. Lemma 3.34 is still valid for compact operators on a Hilbert space, by taking U and V as partial isometries. A similar remark holds for the subadditivity inequality (3.16). Hence the symmetric norm inequalities in this paper may be extended to the setting of normed ideals of compact operators.

We have made the following conjecture in [20]:

Conjecture 3.53. If
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & N \\ N^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{2n}^+$$
 with $N \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ being normal, then
 $\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & N \\ N^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) \prec \lambda(A+B).$

C.-K. Li has sent us a counterexample. Each block in his example is 3×3 . Thus we would ask

Question 3.54. If
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & N \\ N^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_4^+$$
 with $N \in M_2(\mathbb{F})$ being normal, is it true that $\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & N \\ N^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) \prec \lambda(A+B)$?

Also, we would like to ask

Question 3.55. If $\begin{bmatrix} A & N \\ N^* & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{2n}^+$ with $N \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ being normal and AB = BA, is it true that л \ λ ?

$$\left(\left[\begin{array}{cc} A & N \\ N^* & B \end{array} \right] \right) \prec \lambda (A+B)^{*}$$

3.5 Positive definite matrices with Hermitian blocks

The result of this section has been published in [21]. It is a joint work with Bourin and Lee.

In the next subsections we will see what can be said for $\alpha = 2$ and $\alpha = 4$ (and as a byproduct the case $\alpha = 3$).

3.5.1 2-by-2 blocks

For partitions of positive matrices, the diagonal blocks play a special role.

Theorem 3.56. Given any matrix in $H_{2n}^+(\mathbb{C})$ partitioned into blocks in $H_n(\mathbb{C})$ with Hermitian off-diagonal blocks, we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ U(A+B)U^* + V(A+B)V^* \right\}$$

for some isometries $U, V \in M_{2n \times n}(\mathbb{C})$.

Theorem 3.56 is implicit in [20]. We detail here how it follows from Lemma 3.34.

Proof. Taking the unitary matrix

$$W = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} -iI & iI \\ I & I \end{bmatrix},$$

where *I* is the identity of M_n , then

$$W^* \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix} W = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} A+B & * \\ * & A+B \end{bmatrix}$$

where * stands for unspecified entries. By Lemma 3.34, there are two unitaries $U, V \in M_{2n}$ partitioned into equally sized matrices,

$$U = \begin{bmatrix} U_{11} & U_{12} \\ U_{21} & U_{22} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad V = \begin{bmatrix} V_{11} & V_{12} \\ V_{21} & V_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$

such that

$$\frac{1}{2}\begin{bmatrix} A+B & *\\ * & A+B \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ U \begin{bmatrix} A+B & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} U^* + V \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & A+B \end{bmatrix} V^* \right\}.$$

Therefore

$$\frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} A+B & * \\ * & A+B \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \widetilde{U}(A+B)\widetilde{U}^* + \widetilde{V}(A+B)\widetilde{V}^* \right\}$$

where

$$\widetilde{U} = \begin{bmatrix} U_{11} \\ U_{21} \end{bmatrix}$$
 and $\widetilde{V} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{12} \\ V_{22} \end{bmatrix}$

are isometries. The proof is complete by assigning $W\widetilde{U}$, $W\widetilde{V}$ to new isometries U, V, respectively.

As a consequence of this inequality we have a refinement of a well-known determinantal inequality,

$$\det(I+A)\det(I+B) \ge \det(I+A+B)$$

for all $A, B \in H_n^+$.

Corollary 3.57. Let $A, B \in H_n^+$. For any Hermitian $X \in M_n$ such that $H = \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix}$ is positive semi-definite, we have

$$\det(I+A)\det(I+B) \ge \det(I+H) \ge \det(I+A+B).$$

Note that equality obviously occurs in the first inequality when X = 0, and equality occurs in the second inequality when AB = BA and $X = A^{1/2}B^{1/2}$.

Proof. The left inequality is a special case of Fischer's inequality,

$$\det X \det Y \ge \det \begin{bmatrix} X & Z \\ Z^* & Y \end{bmatrix}$$

for any partitioned positive semi-definite matrix. The second inequality follows from (refnorm1). Indeed, the majorization $S \prec T$ in H_n^+ entails the trace inequality

$$\operatorname{Tr} f(S) \ge \operatorname{Tr} f(T)$$
 (3.18)

for all concave functions f(t) defined on $[0,\infty)$. using (3.18) with $f(t) = \log(1+t)$ and the relation $H \prec A + B$ we have

$$det(I+H) = exp \operatorname{Tr} \log(I+H)$$

$$\geq exp \operatorname{Tr} \log(I + ((A+B) \oplus 0_n))$$

$$= det(I+A+B).$$

Theorem 3.56 says more than the eigenvalue majorization in Theorem 3.16. We have a few other eigenvalue inequalities as follows.

Corollary 3.58. Let $H = \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix} \in H_{2n}^+$ be partitioned into Hermitian blocks in M_n . Then, we have $\lambda_{1+2k}(H) \leq \lambda_{1+k}(A+B)$

for all k = 0, ..., n - 1.

Proof. Together with Theorem 3.56, the alleged inequalities follow immediately from a simple fact, Weyl's theorem: if $Y, Z \in H_m$, then

$$\lambda_{r+s+1}(Y+Z) \le \lambda_{r+1}(Y) + \lambda_{s+1}(Z)$$

for all nonnegative integers r, s such that $r + s \le m - 1$.

Corollary 3.59. *Let* $S, T \in H_n$ *. Then*

$$\lambda_{1+2k}(T^2 + ST^2S) \le \lambda_{1+k}(T^2 + TS^2T)$$

for all k = 0, ..., n - 1.

Proof. The nonzero eigenvalues of $T^2 + ST^2S = \begin{bmatrix} T & ST \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T & ST \end{bmatrix}^*$ are the same as those of

$$\begin{bmatrix} T & ST \end{bmatrix}^* \begin{bmatrix} T & ST \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} T^2 & TST \\ TST & TS^2T \end{bmatrix}$$

This block-matrix is of course positive and has its off-diagonal blocks Hermitian. Therefore, the eigenvalue inequalities from Corollary 3.58. \Box

3.5.2 Quaternions and 4-by-4 blocks

Theorem 3.56 refines Hiroshima's theorem in case of 2-by-2 blocks. In this section, we introduce quaternions to deal with 4-by-4 partitions. This approach leads to the following theorem.

Theorem 3.60. Let $H = [A_{s,t}] \in H^+_{\beta n}(\mathbb{C})$ be partitioned into Hermitian blocks in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ with $\beta \in \{3,4\}$ and let $\Delta = \sum_{s=1}^{\beta} A_{s,s}$ be the sum of its diagonal blocks. Then,

$$H \oplus H = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{4} V_k \left(\Delta \oplus \Delta \right) V_k^*$$

for some isometries $V_k \in M_{2\beta n \times 2n}(\mathbb{C})$, k = 1, 2, 3, 4.

Note that, for $\alpha = \beta \in \{3,4\}$, Theorem 3.60 considerably improves Theorem 3.64. Indeed, Theorem 3.60 implies the majorization $||H \oplus H|| \le ||\Delta \oplus \Delta||$ which is equivalent to the majorisation of Theorem 3.64, $||H|| \le ||\Delta||$.

Likewise for Theorem 3.56, we must consider isometries with complex entries, even for a full matrix H with real entries. The isometries are then with real coefficients, but the proof is more intricate and the result is not so simple since it requires direct sums of sixteen copies: we obtain a decomposition of $\oplus^{16}H$ in term of $\oplus^{16}\Delta$.

Before turning to the proof, we recall some facts about quaternions.

The algebra \mathbb{H} of quaternions is an associative real division algebra of dimension four containing \mathbb{C} as a sub-algebra. Quaternions *q* are usually written as

$$q = a + bi + cj + dk$$

with $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a + bi \in \mathbb{C}$. The quaternion units 1, i, j, k satisfy

$$i^2 = j^2 = k^2 = ijk = -1.$$

The algebra \mathbb{H} can be represented as the real sub-algebra of M_2 consisting of matrices of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} z & -\overline{w} \\ w & \overline{z} \end{pmatrix}$$

by the identification map

$$a+bi+cj+dk \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a+bi & ic-d\\ ic+d & a-ib \end{pmatrix}$$

The quaternion units 1, i, j, k are then represented by the matrices (related to the Pauli matrices),

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & -i \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.19)

that we will use in the following proof of Theorem 3.60.

We will work with matrices in M_{8n} partitioned in 4-by-4 blocks in M_{2n} .

Proof. It suffices to consider the case $\beta = 4$, the case $\beta = 3$ follows by completing *H* with some zero columns and rows.

First, replace the positive block matrix $H = [A_{s,t}]$ where $1 \le s, t, \le 4$ and all blocks are Hermitian by a bigger one in which each block in counted two times :

$$G = [G_{s,t}] := [A_{s,t} \oplus A_{s,t}].$$

Thus $G \in_{8n} (\mathbb{C})$ is written in 4-by-4 blocks in $M_{2n}(\mathbb{C})$. Then perform a unitary congruence with the matrix

$$W = E_1 \oplus E_2 \oplus E_3 \oplus E_4$$

where the E_i are the analogues of quaternion units, that is, with I the identity of $M_n(\mathbb{C})$,

$$E_1 = \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{bmatrix}, \quad E_2 = \begin{bmatrix} iI & 0 \\ 0 & -iI \end{bmatrix}, \quad E_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & iI \\ iI & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad E_4 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -I \\ I & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that $E_s E_t^*$ is skew-Hermitian whenever $s \neq t$. A direct matrix computation then shows that the block matrix

$$\Omega := WGW^* = [\Omega_{s,t}]$$

has the following property for its off-diagonal blocks : For $1 \le s < t \le 4$

$$\Omega_{s,t} = -\Omega_{t,s}.$$

Using this property we compute the unitary congruence implemented by

and we observe that $R_2\Omega R_2^*$ has its four diagonal blocks $(R_2\Omega R_2^*)_{k,k}$, $1 \le k \le 4$, all equal to the matrix $D \in M_{2n}(\mathbb{C})$,

$$D=\frac{1}{4}\sum_{s=1}^{4}A_{s,s}\oplus A_{s,s}.$$

Let $\Gamma = D \oplus 0_{6n} \in M_{8n}$. Thanks to the decomposition of Lemma 3.34, there exist some unitaries $U_i \in M_{8n}(\mathbb{C})$, $1 \le i \le 4$, such that

$$\Omega = \sum_{i=1}^4 U_i \Gamma U_i^*.$$

That is, since Ω is unitarily equivalent to $H \oplus H$, and $\Gamma = WDW^*$ for some isometry $W \in M_{8n \times 2n}(\mathbb{C})$,

$$H \oplus H = \sum_{s=1}^{4} V_k D V_k^*$$

for some isometries $V_k \in M_{8n \times 2n}(\mathbb{C})$. Since $D = \frac{1}{4}\Delta \oplus \Delta$, the proof is complete. \Box

In the same vein, we have the following consequences.

Corollary 3.61. Let $H = [A_{s,t}] \in H_{\beta n}^+$ be written in Hermitian blocks in H_n with $\beta \in \{3,4\}$ and let $\Delta = \sum_{s=1}^{\beta} A_{s,s}$ be the sum of its diagonal blocks. Then,

$$\prod_{s=1}^{\beta} \det(I + A_{ss}) \ge \det(I + H) \ge \det\left(I + \sum_{s=1}^{\beta} A_{ss}\right).$$

Corollary 3.62. Let $H = [A_{s,t}] \in H_{\beta n}^+$ be written in Hermitian blocks in M_n with $\beta \in \{3,4\}$ and let $\Delta = \sum_{s=1}^{\beta} A_{s,s}$ be the sum of its diagonal blocks. Then,

$$\lambda_{1+4k}(H) \leq \lambda_{1+k}(A+B)$$

for all k = 0, ..., n - 1.

Corollary 3.63. Let $T \in H_n$ and let $\{S_i\}_{i=1}^{\beta} \in_n$ be commuting Hermitian matrices with $\beta \in \{3,4\}$. Then,

$$\left\|\sum_{i=1}^{\beta} S_i T^2 S_i\right\| \le \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{\beta} T S_i^2 T\right\|$$

for all symmetric norms, and

$$\lambda_{1+4k}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\beta} S_i T^2 S_i\right) \le \lambda_{1+k}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\beta} T S_i^2 T\right)$$

for all k = 0, ..., n - 1.

The proofs of these corollaries are quite similar of those of Section 2. We give details only for the norm inequality of Corollary 3.63.

Proof. We may assume that $\beta = 4$ by completing, if necessary with $S_4 = 0$. So, let $T \in H_n^+$ and let $\{S_i\}_{i=1}^4$ be four commuting Hermitian matrices in M_n . Then

$$H = XX^* = \begin{bmatrix} TS_1 \\ TS_2 \\ TS_3 \\ TS_4 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} S_1T & S_2T & S_3T & S_4T \end{bmatrix}$$

is positive and partitioned into Hermitian blocks with diagonal blocks TS_i^2T , $1 \le i \le 4$. Thus, from Theorem 3.60, for all symmetric norms,

$$\|H \oplus H\| \le \left\| \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{4} TS_i^2 T \right\} \oplus \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{4} TS_i^2 T \right\} \right\|$$

or equivalently

$$\|H\| \le \left\|\sum_{i=1}^4 TS_i^2 T\right\|$$

Since $H = XX^*$ and $X^*X = \sum_{i=1}^4 S_i T^2 S_i$, the norm inequality of Corollary 3.63 follows. \Box

Bourin and Lee have continued some works in the direction, for more details, we refer to [22].

We end this section by recording Hiroshima's beautiful result, which contains Theorem 3.16 as a special case.

Theorem 3.64. [49] Let $H = [A_{s,t}] \in H^+_{\beta n}(\mathbb{C})$ be partitioned into Hermitian blocks in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$ with any positive integer β and let $\Delta = \sum_{s=1}^{\beta} A_{s,s}$ be the sum of its diagonal blocks. Then,

$$\lambda(H) \prec \lambda(\Delta).$$

By recognizing that every $H \in H_m^+$ can be written as $H = M^*M$ for some $M \in M_m(\mathbb{C})$. Theorem 3.64 has the following appealing variant.

Theorem 3.65. Let $X_1, \ldots, X_k \in M_{m \times n}(\mathbb{C})$ such that $X_s^* X_t$ is Hermitian for all $1 \le s, t \le k$. Then

$$\lambda\left(\sum_{s=1}^{k} X_s X_s^*\right) \prec \lambda\left(\sum_{s=1}^{k} X_s^* X_s\right). \tag{3.20}$$

3.6 Discussion

In this section, we present some discussion and questions for further investigation.

As before, the absolute value is defined as $|X| = (X^*X)^{1/2}$ and the geometric mean between two positive definite matrices *A*, *B* is given by $A \sharp B = A^{1/2} (A^{-1/2} B A^{-1/2})^{1/2} A^{1/2}$.

Question 3.66. Let $A, B \in H_n$. Is it true

$$\lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & X\\ X^* & B\end{bmatrix}\right) \succ \lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & Y\\ Y^* & B\end{bmatrix}\right)$$

if $\lambda(|X|) \succ_w \lambda(|Y|)$?

When A = B = 0, obviously, the answer is yes.

The question is motivated by the following fact, see [77, Theorem 2.10].

Proposition 3.67. *If* $A, B \in H_n^+$ *, then*

$$\lambda(|A^{1/2}B^{1/2}|) \succ_w \lambda(A \sharp B).$$

It is easy to see that for positive definite matrices A, B

$$\lambda\left(egin{bmatrix} A & A^{1/2}B^{1/2} \\ B^{1/2}A^{1/2} & B \end{bmatrix}
ight)=\lambda(A+B).$$

Remark 3.68. In [77], the authors showed something stronger, that is

$$\lambda(|A^{1/2}B^{1/2}|) \succ_{\log} \lambda(A \sharp B).$$

The definition of log majorization is to be clear soon.

Thus if Question 3.66 is true, then the assertion of Theorem 3.16 follows immediately.

However, the answer to Question 3.66 is no. Below is a concrete example adapted from [109] showing

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \ge 0 \Rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} A & X^* \\ X & B \end{bmatrix} \ge 0,$$

let alone the spectrums of
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix}$$
 and
$$\begin{bmatrix} A & X^* \\ X & B \end{bmatrix}$$
 are the same.

Example 3.69. Taking $A = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$, $X = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $B = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & x \end{bmatrix}$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$, then $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \ge 0$ for any $x \ge 2$.

But $\begin{bmatrix} A & X^* \\ X & B \end{bmatrix} \not\geq 0$ for any $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

Question 3.70. Let $A, B \in H_n$. Is it true

$$\lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & X\\ X^* & B\end{bmatrix}\right) \succ \lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & Y\\ Y^* & B\end{bmatrix}\right)$$

if $|X| \ge |Y|$?

One interesting evidence to support Question 3.70 is the following fact, which can be found in [79, p. 309].

Proposition 3.71. Let $A, B \in H_n$ and $1 \ge t_1 \ge t_2 \ge 0$, then

$$\lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & t_1X\\t_1X^* & B\end{bmatrix}\right) \succ \lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & t_2X\\t_2X^* & B\end{bmatrix}\right).$$

Proof. It is sufficient to prove the result with $t_1 = 1$. Write

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & t_2 X \\ t_2 X^* & B \end{bmatrix} = t_2 \begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} + (1 - t_2) \begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{bmatrix}.$$

By Fan's inequality (3.1) and (3.2), we get

$$\begin{split} \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & t_2 X \\ t_2 X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) &\prec t_2 \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) + (1 - t_2) \lambda (A \oplus B) \\ &\prec t_2 \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) + (1 - t_2) \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ &= \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X^* & B \end{bmatrix} \right). \end{split}$$

Unfortunately, the answer to Question 3.70 is still no. There are examples

$$\begin{bmatrix} A & U \\ U^* & B \end{bmatrix} \ge 0 \Rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} A & U^* \\ U & B \end{bmatrix} \ge 0$$

for U being unitary. Since we may observe that

$$A - UB^{-1}U^* \ge 0 \Rightarrow A - U^*B^{-1}U \ge 0.$$

Question 3.72. Let $A, B, X, Y \in H_n$ and $|X| \ge |Y|$. Is it true

$$\lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & X\\ X & B\end{bmatrix}\right) \succ \lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & Y\\ Y & B\end{bmatrix}\right)?$$

I have run extensive experiments for the following special case of Question 3.72:

Conjecture 3.73. *If* $X \ge Y \ge 0$ *, then*

$$\lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & X\\ X & B\end{bmatrix}\right) \succ \lambda\left(\begin{bmatrix}A & Y\\ Y & B\end{bmatrix}\right).$$

Without loss of generality, we may assume both $\begin{bmatrix} A & X \\ X & B \end{bmatrix}$, $\begin{bmatrix} A & Y \\ Y & B \end{bmatrix}$ are positive definite, then Conjecture 3.73 has a familiar equivalent reformulation.

The next result is due to Bapat and Sunder.

Theorem 3.74. [10] If $A \in H_n$ and $D_1, ..., D_m \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ such that $\sum_{k=1}^m D_k D_k^* = \sum_{k=1}^m D_k^* D_k = I$. Then

$$\lambda\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} D_k A D_k^*\right) \prec \lambda(A). \tag{3.21}$$

Remark 3.75. *The idea of the proof in [10] is to find out a doubly stochastic matrix. A new proof?*

Specified to m = 2, we have

Corollary 3.76. If $A \in H_n$ and $D_1, D_2 \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ such that $A = A^*$ and $D_1^*D_1 + D_2^*D_2 = D_1D_1^* + D_2D_2^* = I$. Then

$$\lambda\left(\sum_{k=1}^2 D_k A D_k^*\right) \prec \lambda(A).$$

We may assume without loss of generality that A is positive definite by a shift. Then

$$\begin{split} \lambda \left(\sum_{k=1}^{2} D_{k} A D_{k}^{*}\right) &= \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} D_{1} & D_{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & A \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} D_{1}^{*} \\ D_{2}^{*} \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ &= \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & A \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} D_{1}^{*} \\ D_{2}^{*} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} D_{1} & D_{2} \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ &= \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A^{1/2} D_{1}^{*} D_{1} A^{1/2} & A^{1/2} D_{1}^{*} D_{2} A^{1/2} \\ A^{1/2} D_{2}^{*} D_{1} A^{1/2} & A^{1/2} D_{2}^{*} D_{2} A^{1/2} \end{bmatrix} \right) \end{split}$$

It would be very good if $D_1^*D_2$ is Hermitian, then using (3.8), one would have

$$\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} A^{1/2} D_1^* D_1 A^{1/2} & A^{1/2} D_1^* D_2 A^{1/2} \\ A^{1/2} D_2^* D_1 A^{1/2} & A^{1/2} D_2^* D_2 A^{1/2} \end{bmatrix} \right) \prec \lambda \left(A^{1/2} (D_1^* D_1 + D_2^* D_2) A^{1/2} \right) = \lambda(A).$$

Unfortunately, $D_1^*D_2$ is not Hermitian generally, e.g., taking $D_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}U$, $D_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}V$ for any two unitaries $U, V \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$. However, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3.77. If $D_1, D_2 \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ are such that $D_1^*D_1 + D_2^*D_2 = D_1D_1^* + D_2D_2^* = I$. Then $D_1^*D_2$ is normal.

Proof. Pre and post multiplying

$$D_1 D_1^* + D_2 D_2^* = I \tag{3.22}$$

by D_1^* and D_1 , respectively, we get

$$(D_1^*D_1)^2 + D_1^*D_2D_2^*D_1 = D_1^*D_1,$$

i.e.,

$$(D_1^*D_1)^2 - D_1^*D_1 = -D_1^*D_2D_2^*D_1.$$

Pre and post multiplying (3.22) by D_2^* and D_2 , respectively, we get

$$D_2^*D_1D_1^*D_2 + (D_2^*D_2)^2 = D_2^*D_2,$$

i.e.,

$$(D_2^*D_2)^2 - D_2^*D_2 = -D_2^*D_1D_1^*D_2.$$

Pre multiplying

$$D_1^* D_1 + D_2^* D_2 = I \tag{3.23}$$

by $D_1^*D_1$, we get

$$(D_1^*D_1)^2 - D_1^*D_1 = -D_1^*D_1D_2^*D_2.$$

Post multiplying (3.23) by $D_2^*D_2$, we get

$$(D_2^*D_2)^2 - D_2^*D_2 = -D_1^*D_1D_2^*D_2.$$

Thus $D_1^*D_2D_2^*D_1 = D_2^*D_1D_1^*D_2$, i.e., $D_1^*D_2$ is normal.

The next result is a complementary to Theorem 3.74.

Theorem 3.78. If $A \in H_n$ and $D_1, \ldots, D_m \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$, are such that $\sum_{k=1}^m D_k D_k^* = I$. Then

$$\lambda(A) \prec \sum_{k=1}^m \lambda(D_k^*AD_k)$$

Proof. We may assume *A* is positive semidefinite by a shift. Let $D = [D_1 \ D_2 \cdots D_m]$, then the diagonal blocks of D^*AD are $D_k^*AD_k$ for k = 1, ..., m, so by Proposition 3.12, we have $\lambda(D^*AD) \prec \sum_{k=1}^m \lambda(D_k^*AD_k)$. Moreover, $\lambda(D^*AD) = \lambda(ADD^*) = \lambda(A)$. This completes the proof.

We remark that Theorem 3.74 has some connection with the following property, see [34, Example 2.4].

Proposition 3.79. Let X and Y be two arbitrary $n \times n$ symmetric matrices. Then the inequality

$$\lambda(X) \succ \lambda(Y)$$

holds if and only if X is expressed as the following convex combination

$$Y = \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i U_i X U^*$$

for some integer m, some positive reals c_1, \ldots, c_m satisfying $\sum_{i=1}^m c_i = 1$, and some unitary matrices $U_1, \ldots, U_m \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$.

3.7 Majorization inequalities for normal matrices

Firstly, I would like to extend some of the classical results to *normal matrix* case. Recall that a square matrix $N \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ is normal if $NN^* = N^*N$. There are several key differences between normal matrices and Hermitian matrices. For example, the sum (or difference) of two normal matrices is not necessarily normal. The principal submatrices of a normal matrix are not necessarily normal, either. For the latter, the following proposition illustrates this point.

Proposition 3.80. Let $N = \begin{bmatrix} N_{11} & N_{12} \\ N_{21} & N_{22} \end{bmatrix} \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be partitioned such that the diagonal blocks are square, then N_{11} (resp. N_{22}) is normal if and only if $N_{12}N_{12}^* = N_{21}^*N_{21}$ (resp. $N_{21}N_{21}^* = N_{12}^*N_{12}$).

Proof. It follows immediately from comparing

and

$$NN^* = \begin{bmatrix} N_{11}N_{11}^* + N_{12}N_{12}^* & N_{11}N_{21}^* + N_{12}N_{22}^* \\ N_{21}N_{11}^* + N_{22}N_{12}^* & N_{21}N_{21}^* + N_{22}N_{22}^* \end{bmatrix}$$
$$N^*N = \begin{bmatrix} N_{11}^*N_{11} + N_{21}^*N_{21} & N_{11}^*N_{12} + N_{21}^*N_{22} \\ N_{12}^*N_{11} + N_{22}^*N_{21} & N_{12}^*N_{12} + N_{22}^*N_{22} \end{bmatrix}.$$

However, $N_{12}N_{12}^* = N_{21}^*N_{21}$ does not hold for normal matrices generally. Here is a concrete example:

Example 3.81. Let $N_{11} = N_{22} = N_{12}^* = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. Then $N_{12}N_{12}^* \neq N_{21}^*N_{21}$. Indeed, one can check that $\begin{bmatrix} Z & Z^* \\ Z^* & Z \end{bmatrix}$ is normal for any square matrix Z.

The following lemma plays an important role in our investigation.

Lemma 3.82. Let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$, then

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A)\prec\lambda(\operatorname{Re}A).$$

Proof. It can be found in e.g., [52]. We include a simple proof here. The *Schur decomposition lemma* [51] tells us that there is a unitary matrix U such that $U^*AU = T$, where T is an upper triangle matrix. Note that real part of the eigenvalues of T coincide with the diagonal entries of $\frac{T+T^*}{2}$. Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Re}\lambda(A) &= \operatorname{Re}\lambda(T) \\ &\prec \lambda\left(\frac{T+T^*}{2}\right) \\ &= \lambda\left(\frac{A+A^*}{2}\right) = \lambda(\operatorname{Re}A), \end{aligned}$$

where the majorization is by Proposition 3.6.

Concerning the eigenvalues of a normal matrix, one important property is that the real part of the eigenvalues coincide with the eigenvalues of its Hermitian part. That is $\operatorname{Re}\lambda(N) = \lambda(\operatorname{Re}N)$, whenever N is normal.

The next proposition shows that (3.2) can be extended to the case of normal matrices, i.e., we have

Proposition 3.83. *Let* $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ *be normal matrices, then*

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A+B) \prec \operatorname{Re}\lambda(A) + \operatorname{Re}\lambda(B).$$
 (3.24)

Proof.

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Re} \lambda(A+B) &\prec \lambda \operatorname{Re}(A+B) \\ &= \lambda (\operatorname{Re} A + \operatorname{Re} B) \\ &\prec \lambda (\operatorname{Re}(A)) + \lambda \operatorname{Re} B) \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) + \operatorname{Re} \lambda(B), \end{aligned}$$

where the first majorization is by Lemma 3.82 and the second majorization is by (3.2). \Box

It is natural to ask whether (3.4) also has such an analogue, i.e., if $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ are normal matrices, do we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A) \succ \operatorname{Re}\lambda(A+B) - \operatorname{Re}\lambda(B)?$$
 (3.25)

Unfortunately, the answer is no as the following example shows.

Example 3.84. Taking

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \\ -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix},$$

obviously, A, B are normal. Simple calculation gives

$$\lambda(A) = \{\sqrt{3i}/2, -\sqrt{3i}/2\}, \qquad \lambda(B) = \{1, -1\}, \qquad \lambda(A+B) = \{1/2, -1/2\},$$

Thus

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A) = (0,0),$$
 $\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A+B) - \operatorname{Re}\lambda(B) = (1/2, -1/2).$

I would like to thank F. Zhang for the simple counterexample.

Proposition 3.7 also possesses such an extension:

Proposition 3.85. Let $A = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be normal and partitioned such that the diagonal blocks are square. Then

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A_{11}\oplus A_{22})\prec\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A).$$

Proof.

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A_{11} \oplus A_{22}) \prec \lambda(\operatorname{Re}(A_{11} \oplus A_{22}))$$

$$= \lambda(\operatorname{Re}A_{11} \oplus \operatorname{Re}A_{22})$$

$$\prec \lambda \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{Re}A_{11} & (A_{12} + A_{21}^*)/2 \\ (A_{21} + A_{12}^*)/2 & \operatorname{Re}A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \lambda(\operatorname{Re}A) = \operatorname{Re}\lambda(A),$$

where first majorization is by Lemma 3.82 and the second majorization is by Proposition 3.7.

A normal version of Theorem 3.74 can be stated as follows:

Proposition 3.86. If $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ is normal and $D_1, \ldots, D_m \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ such that $\sum_{k=1}^m D_k D_k^* = \sum_{k=1}^m D_k^* D_k = I$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m}D_{k}AD_{k}^{*}\right)\prec\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A).$$

Proof.

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} D_{k} A D_{k}^{*} \right) \prec \lambda \left(\operatorname{Re} \sum_{k=1}^{m} D_{k} A D_{k}^{*} \right)$$
$$= \lambda \left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} D_{k} (\operatorname{Re} A) D_{k}^{*} \right)$$
$$\prec \lambda (\operatorname{Re} A) = \operatorname{Re} \lambda (A),$$

where the first majorization is by Lemma 3.82 and the second majorization is by (3.21).

Remark 3.87. In [10], the authors remarked that Theorem 3.74 has the normal version with the understanding that for $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$, $x \prec y$ is to be interpreted as x = My for some doubly stochastic matrix M. The readers should be able to observe that this is indeed the same as the above proposition, but our proof seems much easier.

In the remaining part of this section, we revisit the Theorem 2.21 and present some related results.

In [59], Knyazev and Argentati proved the following result:

Proposition 3.88. Let $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ be two unit vectors and let $A \in H_n$. Then

 $|x^*Ax - y^*Ay| \le \operatorname{spr}(A) \sin \psi_{xy}.$

Proposition 3.88 has some applications, for example, it can be used to analyze the convergence rate of preconditioned iterative methods for large scale symmetric eigenvalue problems [57]. Proposition 3.88 was soon generalized by them [60] to the majorization bound.

Theorem 3.89. Let \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} be subspaces of \mathbb{C}^n having the same dimension k, with orthonormal bases given by the columns of the matrices X and Y, respectively. Also, let $A \in H_n$. Then

$$|\lambda(X^*AX) - \lambda(Y^*AY)| \prec_{w} \operatorname{spr}(A) \sin \Psi(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y}).$$
(3.26)

An early result due to Ruhe [96] asserts that if Ax = ax, i.e., x is an eigenvector of A corresponding to the eigenvalue a, then

$$|a - y^*Ay| = |x^*Ax - y^*Ay| \le \operatorname{spr}(A) \sin^2 \psi_{xy}.$$
(3.27)

Hence, Theorem 2.21 is an extension of Ruhe's result to multidimensional setting.

Knyazev and Argentati's proof of Theorem 2.21 (see [61]) makes an ingenious manipulation of the basic majorization relation between vectors, Ky Fan's result (3.1) and Lidskii's result (3.4). Also, the following proposition plays an vital role.

Proposition 3.90. (A special case of [61, Theorem 4.5]) Let $B, M \in H_n$ and suppose that all the eigenvalues of M lie in the interval [0,1]. Then

$$\lambda\left(M^{1/2}BM^{1/2}\oplus (I-M)^{1/2}B(I-M)^{1/2}\right)\prec\lambda(B).$$

Now we extend this proposition.

Proposition 3.91. Let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be normal and suppose $D_1, \ldots, D_m \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ are such that $\sum_{k=1}^m D_k D_k^* = I$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda (\bigoplus_{k=1}^{m} D_k^* A D_k) \prec \operatorname{Re} \lambda(A).$$

Proof. Let $D = [D_1 \ D_2 \cdots D_m]$. Then

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \left(\bigoplus_{k=1}^{m} D_{k}^{*} A D_{k} \right)$$

$$\prec \lambda \left(\operatorname{Re} \left(\bigoplus_{k=1}^{m} D_{k}^{*} A D_{k} \right) \right)$$

$$\prec \lambda \left(\operatorname{Re} D^{*} A D \right)$$

$$= \lambda \left(D^{*} \left(\operatorname{Re} A \right) D \right) = \lambda \left(\left(\operatorname{Re} A \right) D D^{*} \right)$$

$$= \lambda \left(\operatorname{Re} A \right) = \operatorname{Re} \lambda (A).$$

Question 3.92. *Comparing Proposition 3.91 with Proposition 3.86, it is natural to ask (under the possible condition A is normal and accretive) whether*

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda\left(\oplus_{k=1}^{m}D_{k}^{*}AD_{k}\right) \prec \operatorname{Re}\lambda\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m}D_{k}AD_{k}^{*}\right)?$$

Our next result is to show that Proposition 3.88 can be extended to normal matrices, I am indebted to Gord Sinnamon for suggesting the concise argument.

Theorem 3.93. Let $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ be two unit vectors and let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be normal. Then

$$|x^*Ax - y^*Ay| \le \operatorname{spr}(A) \sin \psi_{xy}. \tag{3.28}$$

Proof. Without loss of generality, we assume *A* to be a diagonal matrix (since normal matrix is unitary equivalent to a diagonal matrix) with diagonal entries $z_1, \dots, z_n \in \mathbb{C}$. Write $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^T$, $y = (y_1, \dots, y_n)^T$, then (3.28) becomes

$$\left|\Sigma_{j=1}^{n} z_{j} \left(|x_{j}|^{2} - |y_{j}|^{2}\right)\right|^{2} \leq \max_{j,k} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2} \left(1 - \left|\Sigma_{j=1}^{n} \overline{x}_{j} y_{j}\right|^{2}\right)$$
(3.29)

with $\sum_{j=1}^{n} |x_j|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |y_j|^2 = 1.$

Fix x and y and let $J = \{j : |x_j| > |y_j|\}$. Suppose that

$$\left(\Sigma_{j\in J}(|x_j|^2 - |y_j|^2)\right)^2 \le 1 - \left|\Sigma_{j=1}^n \bar{x}_j y_j\right|^2$$
(3.30)

Set $\sigma = \sum_{j \in J} (|x_j|^2 - |y_j|^2)$ and note that $\sigma = \sum_{j \notin J} (|x_j|^2 - |y_j|^2)$ as well. Now fix complex numbers z_1, \dots, z_n and observe that the diameter of their convex hull is $\max_{j,k} |z_j - z_k|$. It follows that

$$\left| \Sigma_{j \in J} z_j \frac{|x_j|^2 - |y_j|^2}{\sigma} - \Sigma_{j \notin J} z_j \frac{|x_j|^2 - |y_j|^2}{\sigma} \right| \leq \max_{j,k} |z_j - z_k|.$$

Multiplying through by σ^2 and using the inequality (3.30), we have

$$\left|\Sigma_{j=1}^{n} z_{j}(|x_{j}|^{2} - |y_{j}|^{2})\right|^{2} \leq \left(\max_{j,k} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2}\right) \left(1 - \left|\Sigma_{j=1}^{n} \overline{x}_{j} y_{j}\right|^{2}\right).$$
(3.31)

On the other hand, setting $z_j = 1$ for $j \in J$ and $z_j = 0$ otherwise reduces (3.31) to (3.30). In particular, we know (3.31) holds for real z_1, \dots, z_n (by Proposition 3.88), i.e., (3.30) is true, then it holds in general. This completes the proof.

Remark 3.94. *Ruhe's result (3.27) can be extended to normal matrices as well.*

With the evidence of one dimensional case, we would like to propose two conjectures as possible generalization of Theorem 3.89 and Theorem 2.21 in Chapter one.

Conjecture 3.95. Let \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} be subspaces of \mathbb{C}^n having the same dimension k, with orthonormal bases given by the columns of the matrices X and Y, respectively. Also, let $N \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be normal. Then

$$|\lambda(X^*AX) - \lambda(Y^*AY)| \prec_w \operatorname{spr}(A) \sin^2 \Psi(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y}).$$
(3.32)

Conjecture 3.96. Let \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y} be subspaces of \mathbb{C}^n having the same dimension k, with orthonormal bases given by the columns of the matrices X and Y, respectively. Also, let $N \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be normal, and \mathscr{X} be N-invariant. Then

$$|\operatorname{Re}\lambda(X^*NX) - \operatorname{Re}\lambda(Y^*NY)| \prec_{w} \operatorname{spr}(\operatorname{Re}N) \sin^2 \Psi(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y}).$$
(3.33)

Remark 3.97. Under the same condition of Conjecture 3.96, by Theorem 3.89, we have

$$|\lambda(X^*(\operatorname{Re} N)X) - \lambda(Y^*(\operatorname{Re} N)Y)| \prec_w \operatorname{spr}(\operatorname{Re} N) \sin^2 \Psi(\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{Y}).$$

Conjecture 3.96 would be a direct consequence of Theorem 3.89 if one has

$$|\operatorname{Re}\lambda(X^*NX) - \operatorname{Re}\lambda(Y^*NY)| \prec_{w} |\lambda(X^*(\operatorname{Re}N)X) - \lambda(Y^*(\operatorname{Re}N)Y)|. \quad (3.34)$$

However, (3.34) is not true in general, here is an example

Example 3.98. Let
$$P = \begin{bmatrix} Z & Z^* \\ Z^* & Z \end{bmatrix}$$
 with $Z = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ and $Q = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$. Taking $N = P \oplus Q$

(obviously, N is normal), $X = \begin{bmatrix} I_2 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$, $Y = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ I_2 \end{bmatrix}$, where 0 means zero matrix of size 6×2 . Since det $N = 16 \neq 0$, so X is N-invariant. Little calculation shows

$$\begin{aligned} |\operatorname{Re}\lambda(X^*NX) - \operatorname{Re}\lambda(Y^*NY)| &= |\operatorname{Re}\lambda(Z) - \operatorname{Re}\lambda(Q)| \\ &= |(0,0) - (1,-1)| = (1,1); \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda(X^*(\text{Re}N)X) - \lambda(Y^*(\text{Re}N)Y)| &= |\lambda(\text{Re}Z) - \lambda(\text{Re}Q)| \\ &= |(1, -1) - (1, -1)| = (0, 0) \end{aligned}$$

Thus, (3.34) does not hold.

Remark 3.99. We have seen Ky Fan's result (3.1) can be extended to normal matrices while Lidskii's result (3.4) cannot. Proposition 3.90 has such extension. However, principal submatrices of normal matrices are not normal generally. Thus, the line of proof in [61] does not work here.

3.8 Majorization inequalities for coneigenvalues

The result of this section has appeared in [29]. It is a joint work with De Sterck.

We need the notion of (weak) log-majorization in this section.

Definition 3.100. Let $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$ and $y = (y_1, y_2, ..., y_n)$ be two vectors with nonnegative entries. Then we say that x is weakly log-majorized by y, denoted by $x \prec_{w \log y}$ (the same as $y \succ_{w \log x}$), if $\prod_{j=1}^{k} x_j^{\downarrow} \leq \prod_{j=1}^{k} y_j^{\downarrow}$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., n. We say that x is majorized by y, denoted by $x \prec_{\log y}$ (or $y \succ_{\log x}$), if further $\prod_{j=1}^{n} x_j = \prod_{j=1}^{n} y_j$.

A classical result connecting (weak) log-majorization and (weak) majorization is the following

Proposition 3.101. Let $x, y \in \mathbb{R}_n^+$. Then

$$x \prec_{w \log} y \Rightarrow x \prec_{w} y.$$

For a proof this proposition, we refer to [114, p. 345].

For a complex vector $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$, its entrywise absolute value is defined by

$$|x| = (|x_1|, |x_2|, \dots, |x_n|).$$

Definition 3.102. A matrix $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ is said to be conjugate-normal if

$$AA^* = \overline{A^*A}.$$

In particular, complex symmetric, skew-symmetric, and unitary matrices are special subclasses of *conjugate-normal matrices*. It seems that the term 'conjugate-normal matrices' was first introduced in [103]. For more properties and characterizations of this kind of matrices, we refer to [36].

For $A \in M_n(\mathbb{C})$, define $B = \overline{A}A$. An early result of Djoković [31] says *B* is similar to R^2 , where *R* is a real matrix. Thus $\lambda(B) = \{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n\}$ is symmetric with respect to the real axis and the negative eigenvalues of *B* (if any) are of even algebraic multiplicity, see also [52].

Definition 3.103. [56] The coneigenvalues of $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ are *n* scalars $\mu_1, \mu_2, ..., \mu_n$ obtained as follows:

- 1. If $\lambda_k \in \lambda(B)$ does not lie on the negative real semiaxis, then the corresponding coneigenvalue μ_k is defined as the square root of λ_k with a nonnegative real part. The multiplicity of μ_k is set equal to that of λ_k .
- 2. With a real negative $\lambda_k \in \lambda(B)$, we associate two conjugate purely imaginary coneigenvalues (i.e., the two square roots of λ_k). The multiplicity of each coneigenvalue is set equal to half the multiplicity of λ_k .

For $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$, the vector of its coneigenvalues will be denoted by

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}(A) = (\boldsymbol{\mu}_1(A), \boldsymbol{\mu}_2(A), \dots, \boldsymbol{\mu}_n(A)).$$

In the sequel, we will briefly review some known properties related to coneigenvalues. Define the matrix

$$\widehat{A} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ \overline{A} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Proposition 3.104. [56] If $\mu_1, \mu_2, \ldots, \mu_n$ are the coneigenvalues of an $n \times n$ matrix A, then

$$\lambda(\widehat{A}) = (\mu(A), -\mu(A)).$$

Proposition 3.105. [56] Let A be a conjugate-normal matrix. Then the coneigenvalues of the matrices $\frac{A+A^T}{2}$ and $\frac{A-A^T}{2}$ are the real and imaginary parts, respectively, of the coneigenvalues of A.

The purpose of this section is to extend some classical eigenvalue majorization results to the coneigenvalue case. We restated here for convenience.

Theorem 3.106. (*see, e.g.,* [52]) *Let* $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ *, then*

$$\lambda (\operatorname{Re}(A)) \succ \operatorname{Re}(\lambda(A)),$$
 (3.35)

$$\sigma(A) \succ_{\log} |\lambda(A)|. \tag{3.36}$$

Theorem 3.107. (*see*, *e.g.*, [52]) Let $A, B \in H_n$, then

$$\lambda(A) + \lambda(B) \succ \lambda(A+B), \qquad (3.37)$$

$$\lambda(A) \succ \lambda(A+B) - \lambda(B). \tag{3.38}$$

We start with some observations.

Observation 1. The coneigenvalues of a complex symmetric matrix are nonnegative, the coneigenvalues of a complex skew symmetric matrix are purely imaginary.

Proof. If A is complex symmetric, then $\overline{A}A = \overline{A^T}A = A^*A$, thus the coneigenvalues of A coincide with the singular values of A and are thus all nonnegative. The case A being complex skew symmetric can be proved similarly.

Observation 2. Let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{C})$, then $|\det(A)| = \prod_{k=1}^n \mu_k(A)$. However, we generally do not have $\operatorname{Tr} A = \sum_{k=1}^n \mu_k(A)$ or $|\operatorname{Tr} A| = \sum_{k=1}^n \mu_k(A)$.

Proof. By definition of coneigenvalues, $\prod_{k=1}^{n} \mu_{k}^{2}(A) = \det(A\overline{A}) = |\det(A)|^{2}$. Moreover, Re $(\mu_{k}(A)) \ge 0$ for all k and the multiplicity of $\overline{\mu_{k}}(A)$ coincides with that of $\mu_{k}(A)$. Thus $\prod_{k=1}^{n} \mu_{k}(A) \ge 0$. Taking the square root leads to the first claim. For the second claim, we take $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & i \end{bmatrix}$. Then $\operatorname{Tr} A = 1 + i$, $|\operatorname{Tr} A| = \sqrt{2}$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{2} \mu_{k}(A) = 2$.

Lemma 3.108. Let x, y be two nonnegative vectors of the same size. Denote $\hat{x} = (x, -x)$, $\hat{y} = (y, -y)$. If $\hat{x} \prec \hat{y}$, then

$$x \prec_w y$$
.

Proof. This is trivial by definition of majorization.

Lemma 3.109. Let x, y be two nonnegative vectors of the same size. Denote $\hat{x} = (x, x)$, $\hat{y} = (y, y)$. If $\hat{x} \prec_{\log} \hat{y}$, then

$$x \prec_{\log} y$$
.

Proof. Trivial.

Theorem 3.110. *Let* $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ *, then*

$$\mu\left(\frac{A+A^{T}}{2}\right) \succ_{w} \operatorname{Re}(\mu(A)).$$
(3.39)

Proof. It is clear that the left hand side of (3.39) is a nonnegative vector, since $\frac{A+A^T}{2}$ is complex symmetric.

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ \overline{A} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right) \prec \lambda \operatorname{Re} \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ \overline{A} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right)$$
$$= \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{A + (\overline{A})^*}{2} \\ \frac{\overline{A} + A^*}{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right)$$
$$= \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{A + A^T}{2} \\ \frac{\overline{A} + A^T}{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

That is,

$$\lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{A+A^{T}}{2} \\ \frac{\overline{A+A^{T}}}{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right) \succ \operatorname{Re} \lambda \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ \overline{A} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

By Lemma 3.108, the desired result holds.

We cannot replace " \succ_w " by " \succ " in (3.39) as the following example shows

Example 3.111. Let $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2i \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$, then $\mu(A) = (1, 1)$, $\mu\left(\frac{A+A^T}{2}\right) = \sigma\left(\frac{A+A^T}{2}\right) = (\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{2})$. Thus $\sum_{k=1}^{2} \mu_k\left(\frac{A+A^T}{2}\right) > \sum_{k=1}^{2} \operatorname{Re}(\mu(A))$ in this case. **Theorem 3.112.** Let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$, then

$$\sigma(A) \succ_{\log} |\mu(A)|. \tag{3.40}$$

Proof. By Proposition 3.104, we have

$$\begin{aligned} (|\mu(A)|,|\mu(A)|) &= |\lambda(\widehat{A})| \quad \prec_{\log} \quad \sigma(\widehat{A}) \\ &= \quad \lambda^{1/2} \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ \overline{A} & 0 \end{bmatrix}^* \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ \overline{A} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ &= \quad \lambda^{1/2} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \overline{A^*A} & 0 \\ 0 & A^*A \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ &= \quad (\sigma(A), \sigma(A)), \end{aligned}$$

where the majorization is by (3.36). Here x^r ($r \ge 0$) means the entrywise *r*th power of a nonnegative vector *x*. Then Lemma 3.109 gives the desired result.

By Proposition 3.101, we have the following corollary, which was the first majorization result discovered on coneigenvalues.

Corollary 3.113. [56] Let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$, then for any $p \ge 0$,

$$\sigma^p(A) \succ_w |\mu^p(A)|. \tag{3.41}$$

The next corollary is an analogue of the generalized *Schur inequality* [89] with coneigenvalues involved.

Corollary 3.114. Let $A = [a_{jk}] \in M_n(\mathbb{C})$, then for any $0 \le p \le 2$,

$$\sum_{j,k=1}^{n} |a_{jk}|^p \ge \sum_{k=1}^{n} \mu_k^p(A).$$
(3.42)

Proof. Note that the right hand side of (3.42) is real. Mond and Pečarić [84] have showed that

$$\sum_{i,k=1}^{n} |a_{jk}|^{p} \ge \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sigma_{k}^{p}(A)$$
(3.43)

for $0 \le p \le 2$. Thus (3.42) follows immediately by (3.41).

Remark 3.115. Though Petri and Ikramov [89] only presented (3.43) for $p \ge 1$ and later a much simpler proof was given in [55], the proofs given there held also for $0 \le p < 1$.

Theorem 3.116. Let $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be conjugate normal matrices, then

$$\operatorname{Re}\mu(A) + \operatorname{Re}\mu(B) \succ_{w} \operatorname{Re}\mu(A+B).$$
(3.44)

Proof. By Theorem 3.110, we have

$$\operatorname{Re}(\mu(A+B)) \prec_{w} \mu\left(\frac{A+B+(A+B)^{T}}{2}\right)$$

$$= \sigma\left(\frac{A+B+(A+B)^{T}}{2}\right)$$

$$\prec_{w} \sigma\left(\frac{A+A^{T}}{2}\right) + \sigma\left(\frac{B+B^{T}}{2}\right)$$

$$= \mu\left(\frac{A+A^{T}}{2}\right) + \mu\left(\frac{B+B^{T}}{2}\right)$$

$$= \operatorname{Re}\mu(A) + \operatorname{Re}\mu(B)$$

where the last equality is by Proposition 3.105.

Corollary 3.117. Let $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be symmetric matrices, then

$$\mu(A) + \mu(B) \succ_{w} \mu(A+B). \tag{3.45}$$

Remark 3.118. Readers should be able to observe that (3.45) is the same as $\sigma(A) + \sigma(B) \succ_w \sigma(A+B)$ (for symmetric matrices).

Theorem 3.119. Let $A, B \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$ be symmetric matrices, then

$$\mu(A) \succ_{w} |(\mu(A+B) - \mu(B))|.$$
(3.46)

Proof. Since A, B are symmetric, (3.46) is the same as

$$\sigma(A) \succ_{w} |\sigma(A+B) - \sigma(B)|. \tag{3.47}$$

(3.47) is the singular value counterpart of (3.38) and can be found in, e.g., [2].

To end this section, we give a definition of *consingular value*. For $A \in M_n(\mathbb{F})$, we know that one alternative definition for singular values of A is the nonnegative eigenvalues of the augmented matrix $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ A^* & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. Given the present notion of *coneigenvalue*, the notion of its counterpart, say consingular value, seems lacking. What would be a possible definition for *consingular value*? We provide one here, analogous to the definition of singular values in terms of eigenvalues of an augmented matrix.

Definition 3.120. Let $A \in M_n(\mathbb{C})$. The consingular values of A are the n scalars $\gamma_1(A), \gamma_2(A)$, $\dots, \gamma_n(A)$ defined by the coneigenvalues of $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ A^T & 0 \end{bmatrix}$, with each consingular value taking half the multiplicity of the corresponding coneigenvalue.

We can see that, since
$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ A^T & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
 is symmetric,

$$\mu \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ A^T & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right) = \sigma \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ A^T & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

$$= \lambda^{1/2} \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ A^T & 0 \end{bmatrix}^* \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ A^T & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

$$= \lambda^{1/2} \left(\begin{bmatrix} (AA^*)^T & 0 \\ 0 & A^*A \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

$$= \sigma \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & A \end{bmatrix} \right).$$

Thus, with our definition, we have

The consingular values of a matrix are exactly its singular values.

Theorem 3.112 can thus be rephrased as

The consingular values of a matrix log majorize its coneigenvalues in absolute value.

Majorization relations for eigenvalues or singular values are currently still an active area of study. It is expected that more results on coneigenvalue majorization will be discovered in the near future.

Chapter 4

When is a product of positive definite quadratic forms convex

In this chapter, we consider finite products of positive definite quadratic forms. The field we work on here is restricted to real numbers, considering the practical background. The main result is a sufficient condition for the convexity of a finite product of positive definite quadratic forms is given in terms of the condition numbers of the underlying matrices. When only two factors are involved, the condition is also necessary.

The result of this chapter has been published in [72]. It is joint work with Sinnamon.

4.1 Motivation and the convexity condition

Given a function $h : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$, its *Legendre-Fenchel conjugate* (LF-conjugate for short), which is also widely referred to as the Legendre-Fenchel transform of *h* [4, 5, 13, 26, 48], is defined as

$$h^*(x) = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} x^T y - h(y).$$

The LF-conjugate has a significant impact in many areas. It plays an essential role in developing the convex optimization theory and algorithms (e.g., [6, 24, 95]); it is also widely used in matrix analysis and eigenvalue optimization [66, 67, 68].

If A is a real symmetric positive definite matrix we let q_A denote the quadratic form

$$q_A(y) = \frac{1}{2} y^T A y.$$

It is easy to verify that q_A is a convex function on \mathbb{R}^n , and the following fact is not hard to verify (see, e.g., [95]):

Proposition 4.1. The LF-conjugate of q_A is also a positive definite quadratic form; specifically,

$$q_A^*(x) = \frac{1}{2}x^T A^{-1}x.$$

Proof. Clearly, $f(y) = x^T y - \frac{1}{2}y^T Ay$ is concave and differentiable. The maximum is achieved at its stationary points. From $\nabla f(y) = x - Ay = 0$, we get $y = A^{-1}x$. Thus

$$q_A^*(x) = x^T y - \frac{1}{2} y^T A y = \frac{1}{2} x^T A^{-1} x.$$

From a fast computation and practical application point of view, it is interesting and important to know the LF-conjugate of the product of two positive definite quadratic forms. This problem was posed by Hiriart-Urruty as an open question in the field of nonlinear analysis and optimization [47] and recently studied by Y. B. Zhao in [116]. Zhao also considered the LF-conjugate for the products of finitely many positive definite quadratic forms in [117]. Before introducing his result, we need to introduce some notation.

Let $\kappa(A)$ denote the *condition number* of A. If $A \succ 0$, then $\kappa(A) = \frac{\lambda_{\max}(A)}{\lambda_{\min}(A)}$, the ratio of its largest and smallest eigenvalues. Fix $m \ge 2$, $n \times n$ real matrices $A_1, \ldots, A_m \succ 0$, and let $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be the product $q_{A_1} \ldots q_{A_m}$, i.e.,

$$f(\mathbf{y}) = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{y}^T A_i \mathbf{y}.$$

For f to be a convex function on \mathbb{R}^n it is necessary and sufficient that the *Hessian matrix* $\nabla^2 f(y)$ of f be positive semi-definite at each point y. This fact can be found in, e.g., [12, 244]. For $y \neq 0$, the gradient and the Hessian matrix of f are given by,

$$\nabla f(y) = 2f(y) \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{A_i y}{y^T A_i y},$$

$$\nabla^2 f(y) = 2f(y) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{A_i}{y^T A_i y} + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j \neq i} \frac{A_i y y^T A_j}{y^T A_i y y^T A_j y} \right).$$

Since f(y) > 0 whenever $y \neq 0$, the convexity of f reduces to showing that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{x^{T} A_{i} x}{y^{T} A_{i} y} + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j \neq i} \frac{x^{T} A_{i} y}{y^{T} A_{i} y} \frac{x^{T} A_{j} y}{y^{T} A_{j} y} \ge 0$$
(4.1)

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $y \neq 0$. (When y = 0, $\nabla^2 f(0) = 0$ is positive semi-definite for any choice of A_1, \ldots, A_m .)

If all A_i are equal, obviously (4.1) is true. However, (4.1) does not hold for general A_i . In Theorem 3.6 of [116], Zhao gave an explicit formula for the LF-conjugate of f, provided f is known to be convex. So it is important to have simple, easily verified conditions that ensure the convexity of f. Zhao obtained the following sufficient condition for the convexity of f.

Proposition 4.2. [117] Let $A_i \succ 0$, $i = 1, \dots, m$ be real $n \times n$ matrices. If

$$\kappa(A_j^{-\frac{1}{2}}A_iA_j^{-\frac{1}{2}}) \le \frac{\sqrt{4m-2}+2}{\sqrt{4m-2}-2}$$

for all $i, j = 1, \dots, m, i \neq j$, then the product of m quadratic forms $f = \prod_{i=1}^{m} q_{A_i}$ is convex.

As a consequence of our main result, Theorem 4.9 below, we give the following improvement of Proposition 4.2. The proof will be given in the next section.

Theorem 4.3. Let $A_i \succ 0$, $i = 1, \dots, m$ be real $n \times n$ matrices. If

$$\kappa(A_j^{-\frac{1}{2}}A_iA_j^{-\frac{1}{2}}) \le \left(\frac{\sqrt{2m-2}+1}{\sqrt{2m-2}-1}\right)^2 \tag{4.2}$$

for all $i, j = 1, \dots, m$, $i \neq j$, then the product of the *m* quadratic forms $f = \prod_{i=1}^{m} q_{A_i}$ is convex. If m = 2 the condition (4.2) is also necessary for the convexity of *f*.

Remark 4.4. For $m \ge 2$, $2\sqrt{2m-2} > \sqrt{4m-2}$ so

$$\left(\frac{\sqrt{2m-2}+1}{\sqrt{2m-2}-1}\right)^2 > \frac{\sqrt{2m-2}+1}{\sqrt{2m-2}-1} > \frac{\sqrt{4m-2}+2}{\sqrt{4m-2}-2}$$

This shows that (4.2) is strictly weaker than the hypothesis of Proposition 4.2. When m = 2, the upper bound in Theorem 4.3, i.e., $17 + 12\sqrt{2}$, was already known to be the greatest possible right-hand-side value such that (4.2) could ensure the convexity of the product of two positive definite quadratic forms. See Remark 2.7 in [117].

Corollary 4.5. If $A \succ 0$ is a real $n \times n$ matrix, then the Kantorovich function $(x^T A x)(x^T A^{-1}x)$, where $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, is convex if and only if $\kappa(A) \leq 3 + 2\sqrt{2}$.

Proof. Let $m = 2, A_1 = A$ and $A_2 = A^{-1}$ in Theorem 4.3. Then $\kappa (A_2^{-\frac{1}{2}}A_1A_2^{-\frac{1}{2}}) \le (3+2\sqrt{2})^2$ is equivalent to $\kappa (A^2) \le (3+2\sqrt{2})^2$, i.e., $\kappa (A) \le 3+2\sqrt{2}$.

The result of the corollary in the case n = 2 as well as the necessity of the condition on κ for general *n* was given in [118].

4.2 Auxiliary results and the proof

We start with a simple but useful lemma. It may be viewed as a sharp version of Theorem 4.3 in the case of two 2×2 matrices.

Lemma 4.6. If $\kappa \ge 1$ and $\eta = ((\sqrt{\kappa} - 1)/(\sqrt{\kappa} + 1))^2$ then

$$\eta(\kappa + s^2)(1 + t^2) + \eta(\kappa + t^2)(1 + s^2) + 2(\kappa + st)(1 + st) \ge 0$$

for all $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$. Equality holds if and only if $s = -t = \pm \kappa^{1/4}$ or $\kappa = 1$ and st = -1.

Proof. For any s, t, and z we may factor out $z^2 + 1$ and complete the square on z to get,

$$(z-1)^{2}(z^{2}+s^{2})(1+t^{2}) + (z-1)^{2}(z^{2}+t^{2})(1+s^{2}) + 2(z+1)^{2}(z^{2}+st)(1+st)$$

= $(z^{2}+1)(4+(s+t)^{2})\left(\left(z-\frac{(s-t)^{2}}{4+(s+t)^{2}}\right)^{2} + \frac{4(s+t)^{2}(1+st)^{2}}{(4+(s+t)^{2})^{2}}\right).$

The second expression is non-negative and vanishes if and only if either s + t = 0 and $z = s^2$, or st = -1 and z = 1. In the first expression, divide through by $(z+1)^2$ and take $z = \sqrt{\kappa}$ to obtain the conclusion of the lemma.

The next lemma essentially gives a reduction of the case of two $n \times n$ matrices to the case of two 2×2 matrices, and then applies the previous result.

Lemma 4.7. Suppose $A, B \succ 0$ are real $n \times n$ matrices and let $\kappa = \kappa (A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2})$. Then for $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, with $y \neq 0$, we have

$$2\frac{x^{T}Ay}{y^{T}Ay}\frac{x^{T}By}{y^{T}By} \ge -\left(\frac{\sqrt{\kappa}-1}{\sqrt{\kappa}+1}\right)^{2}\left(\frac{x^{T}Ax}{y^{T}Ay}+\frac{x^{T}Bx}{y^{T}By}\right).$$

The inequality is sharp.

Proof. Since $A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2} \succ 0$, there exists an orthogonal matrix U such that $U^T A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2}U$ is a diagonal matrix with diagonal entries $\lambda_1 \ge \cdots \ge \lambda_n > 0$. Note that $\kappa = \lambda_1/\lambda_n$. Let $\eta = ((\sqrt{\kappa} - 1)/(\sqrt{\kappa} + 1))^2$. If we replace x by $A^{-1/2}Ux$ and y by $A^{-1/2}Uy$, an invertible change of variable, the statement of the lemma reduces to showing,

$$2\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i y_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i^2} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j x_j y_j}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j y_j^2} \ge -\eta \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i^2} + \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j x_j^2}{\sum_{i=j}^{n} \lambda_j y_j^2}\right),\tag{4.3}$$

for all x and y in \mathbb{R}^n with $y \neq 0$. Multiplying through to eliminate the denominators, we see that this is equivalent to showing $\sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j r_j \ge 0$, where

$$r_j = \eta x_j^2 \sum_{i=1}^n y_i^2 + \eta y_j^2 \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2 + 2x_j y_j \sum_{i=1}^n x_i y_i.$$

Because $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j r_j$ is continuous in both *x* and *y*, it is enough to show that it is non-negative for all *x* and *y* such that x_1, x_n, y_1, y_n are all non-zero. Fix *x* and *y* satisfying that condition and partition $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ into subsets J_1 and J_2 as follows: $1 \in J_1, n \in J_2$ and for $2 \le j \le n-1$, $j \in J_1$ if $r_i \le 0$ and $j \in J_2$ otherwise. This ensures that $\lambda_j r_j \ge \lambda_1 r_j$ for $j \in J_1$ and $\lambda_j r_j \ge \lambda_n r_j$ for $j \in J_2$. Thus,

$$\sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j r_j \geq \lambda_1 \sum_{j \in J_1} r_j + \lambda_n \sum_{j \in I_2} r_j.$$

Now for p = 1, 2, define u_p and v_p by,

$$u_p^2 = \left(\frac{\sum_{i \in J_p} x_i^2}{\sum_{i \in J_p} y_i^2}\right)^{1/2} \sum_{i \in J_p} x_i y_i$$

and

$$v_p^2 = \left(\frac{\sum_{i \in J_p} y_i^2}{\sum_{i \in J_p} x_i^2}\right)^{1/2} \sum_{i \in J_p} x_i y_i,$$

ensuring that $u_p \ge 0$ and choosing the sign of v_p so that $u_p v_p = \sum_{i \in J_p} x_i y_i$. The Cauchy-Schwarz inequality shows $u_p^2 \le \sum_{i \in J_p} x_i^2$ and $v_p^2 \le \sum_{i \in J_p} y_i^2$, and it follows from the definition of r_j that,

$$\sum_{j \in I_p} r_j \ge \eta u_p^2 (v_1^2 + v_2^2) + \eta v_p^2 (u_1^2 + u_2^2) + 2u_p v_p (u_1 v_1 + u_2 v_2)$$

These estimates complete the proof, as

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{j} r_{j} &\geq \lambda_{1} \sum_{j \in J_{1}} r_{j} + \lambda_{n} \sum_{j \in J_{2}} r_{j} \\ &= \lambda_{n} \left(\kappa \sum_{j \in J_{1}} r_{j} + \sum_{j \in J_{2}} r_{j} \right) \\ &\geq \lambda_{n} (\eta (\kappa u_{1}^{2} + u_{2}^{2}) (v_{1}^{2} + v_{2}^{2}) + \eta (\kappa v_{1}^{2} + v_{2}^{2}) (u_{1}^{2} + u_{2}^{2}) \\ &\quad + 2 (\kappa u_{1} v_{1} + u_{2} v_{2}) (u_{1} v_{1} + u_{2} v_{2})) \\ &= \lambda_{n} u_{1}^{2} v_{1}^{2} [\eta (\kappa + s^{2}) (1 + t^{2}) + \eta (\kappa + t^{2}) (1 + s^{2}) + 2 (\kappa + st) (1 + st)], \end{split}$$

where $s = u_2/u_1$ and $t = v_2/v_1$. The last expression is non-negative by Lemma 4.6.

To see that the inequality of the lemma is sharp it is enough to find (x_1, \ldots, x_n) and (y_1, \ldots, y_n) such that equality is achieved in (4.3). Since $\kappa = \lambda_1/\lambda_n$ it is routine to verify that the choice, $x_1 = 1$, $x_n = \kappa^{1/4}$, $y_1 = 1$, $y_n = -\kappa^{1/4}$ and $x_2 = \cdots = x_{n-1} = y_2 = \cdots = y_{n-1} = 0$ will suffice.

Remark 4.8. It turns out Lemma 4.7 can be proved using a simple consequence of the generalized Wielandt inequality that we present in the next Chapter.

The next theorem gives the main result of the chapter, a readily computed condition for a product of positive definite quadratic forms to be a convex function. The condition is expressed in terms of the condition numbers of the matrices involved.

Theorem 4.9. Let $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_m \succ 0$ be real $n \times n$ matrices and let $\kappa_{i,j} = \kappa(A_i^{-1/2}A_jA_i^{-1/2})$ for $i, j = 1, \ldots, m$. If

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\kappa_{i,j}}-1}{\sqrt{\kappa_{i,j}}+1}\right)^2 \le \frac{1}{2}$$
(4.4)

for i = 1, 2, ..., m, then $f = \prod_{i=1}^{m} q_{A_i}$ is convex. If m = 2 the condition is also necessary for the convexity of f.

Proof. Note that $\kappa_{i,j} = \kappa_{j,i}$ and $\kappa_{i,i} = 1$. Let $\eta_{i,j} = \left(\frac{\sqrt{\kappa_{i,j}}-1}{\sqrt{\kappa_{i,j}}+1}\right)^2$ and apply Lemma 4.7 to get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{x^{T}A_{i}x}{y^{T}A_{i}y} + 2\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j \neq i} \frac{x^{T}A_{i}y}{y^{T}A_{i}y} \frac{x^{T}A_{j}y}{y^{T}A_{j}y} &\geq \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{x^{T}A_{i}x}{y^{T}A_{i}y} - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j \neq i} \eta_{i,j} \left(\frac{x^{T}A_{i}x}{y^{T}A_{i}y} + \frac{x^{T}A_{j}x}{y^{T}A_{j}y} \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{x^{T}A_{i}x}{y^{T}A_{i}y} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{j \neq i} \eta_{i,j} \right) \frac{x^{T}A_{i}x}{y^{T}A_{i}y} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{x^{T}A_{i}x}{y^{T}A_{i}y} \left(1 - 2\sum_{j=1}^{m} \eta_{i,j} \right) \geq 0. \end{split}$$

As pointed out in (4.1) this shows that f is convex.

If m = 2, the convexity of f implies, via (4.1), that

$$2\frac{x^{T}A_{1}y}{y^{T}A_{1}y}\frac{x^{T}A_{2}y}{y^{T}A_{2}y} \ge -\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{x^{T}A_{1}x}{y^{T}A_{1}y} + \frac{x^{T}A_{2}x}{y^{T}A_{2}y}\right)$$

for all *x* and non-zero *y*. Combining this with the sharpness of the inequality of Lemma 4.7 gives,

$$\left(\frac{\sqrt{\kappa_{1,2}}-1}{\sqrt{\kappa_{1,2}}+1}\right)^2 \leq \frac{1}{2},$$

showing that (4.4) is necessary for convexity.

Proof of Theorem 4.3. We verify the condition of the Theorem 4.9. Recall that $\eta_{i,i} = 0$ and calculate as follows,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\kappa_{i,j}}-1}{\sqrt{\kappa_{i,j}}+1}\right)^2 \le (m-1) \left(\frac{\frac{\sqrt{2m-2}+1}{\sqrt{2m-2}-1}-1}{\frac{\sqrt{2m-2}+1}{\sqrt{2m-2}-1}+1}\right)^2 = \frac{1}{2}.$$

So (4.4) is satisfied and therefore f is convex. If m = 2, an easy calculation shows that the conditions (4.2) and (4.4) coincide so (4.2) is also necessary for convexity.

Remark 4.10. The proof of Theorem 4.9 suggests the following weakening of condition (4.4). Since

$$\frac{1}{\kappa(A_i)} \frac{x^T x}{y^T y} \le \frac{x^T A_i x}{y^T A_i y} \le \kappa(A_i) \frac{x^T x}{y^T y},$$

if we define,

$$L = \left\{ i : \sum_{j=1}^m \eta_{i,j} \le \frac{1}{2} \right\}$$

and

$$G = \left\{ i : \sum_{j=1}^m \eta_{i,j} > \frac{1}{2} \right\}$$

then the proof goes through with condition (4.4) replaced by,

$$\sum_{i \in L} \frac{1}{\kappa(A_i)} \left(1 - 2\sum_{j=1}^m \eta_{i,j} \right) + \sum_{i \in G} \kappa(A_i) \left(1 - 2\sum_{j=1}^m \eta_{i,j} \right) \ge 0.$$
(4.5)

This condition is weaker than (4.4) and still implies that f is convex, but is complicated and rather unwieldy. It can be applied, however, as we see in the next example where it is used to show that the condition (4.4) is not necessary when m > 2.

Example 4.11. With m = 3, take A_1 and A_2 to be 2×2 identity matrices, and A_3 to be a 2×2 diagonal matrix with diagonal entries $(3 + \delta)^2$ and 1. Calculations show that for sufficiently small positive δ , (4.4) fails but (4.5) holds. (Any positive $\delta < 0.18$ will do.) Thus, the sufficient condition of Theorem 4.9 is not necessary for general m.

Chapter 5

Generalized Wielandt inequalities

5.1 Kantorovich inequality and Wielandt inequality

The Kantorovich inequality, first published in 1948, aroused a considerable amount of interest, and one of the current popular investigations seem to be that of applications. It was originally advanced to provide an estimate of the rate of convergence of steepest descent method for minimizing a quadratic problem with a positive definite Hessian. For more, see [54, 1]. There are many generalizations and new proofs. We state here the original form of the *Kantorovich* and *Wielandt inequalities*, including simple proofs.

Let $A \in H_n^{++}$ with largest and smallest eigenvalues λ_1 and λ_n , respectively. Then

Kantorovich inequality

$$(x^*Ax)(x^*A^{-1}x) \le \frac{(\lambda_1 + \lambda_n)^2}{4\lambda_1\lambda_n}(x^*x)^2$$
 (5.1)

for any $x \in \mathbb{C}^n$;

Proof. We may assume $A = \text{Diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n)$ and x is a unit vector. Then (5.1) reduces to

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j x_j^2 \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\lambda_j} x_j^2 \le \frac{(\lambda_1 + \lambda_n)^2}{4\lambda_1 \lambda_n}.$$
(5.2)

Obviously,

$$\sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2(\lambda_1 - \lambda_i) \ge \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\lambda_n}{\lambda_i} x_i^2(\lambda_1 - \lambda_i)$$

Expanding it, we have

$$\lambda_1 - \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i x_i^2 \ge \lambda_1 \lambda_n \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{\lambda_i} x_i^2 \right) - \lambda_n.$$

That is, we have

$$egin{aligned} \lambda_1 + \lambda_n &\geq & \lambda_1 \lambda_n \left(\sum_{i=1}^n rac{1}{\lambda_i} x_i^2
ight) + \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i x_i^2 \ &\geq & 2 \sqrt{\lambda_1 \lambda_n} \sqrt{\left(\sum_{i=1}^n rac{1}{\lambda_i} x_i^2
ight) \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i x_i^2
ight)}, \end{aligned}$$

where the second inequality is by the AM-GM inequality. Thus

$$\frac{\lambda_1 + \lambda_n}{2\sqrt{\lambda_1\lambda_n}} \ge \sqrt{\left(\sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{\lambda_i} x_i^2\right)\left(\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i x_i^2\right)}.$$

Taking square on both sides gives (5.2). This completes the proof.

Remark 5.1. We actually proved a stronger inequality than (5.1), i.e.,

$$x^*Ax + \lambda_1\lambda_n x^*A^{-1}x \le (\lambda_1 + \lambda_n)x^*x \tag{5.3}$$

for any $A \in H_n^{++}$ and $x \in \mathbb{C}^n$. (5.3) was first observed in Mond's note [83], which was a special case of Marshall and Olkin's result, see [80].

Wielandt inequality

$$|x^*Ay|^2 \le \left(\frac{\lambda_1 - \lambda_n}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_n}\right)^2 (x^*Ax)(y^*Ay),\tag{5.4}$$

where $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ such that $x^*y = 0$.

Proof. When n = 2, write $A = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ \bar{b} & c \end{bmatrix}$ and let α and β be the eigenvalues of A with $\alpha \ge \beta$. Observe that

$$\alpha, \beta = \frac{(a+c) \pm \sqrt{(a-c)^2 + 4|b|^2}}{2}.$$

It is easy to verify that

$$|b|^2 \le \left(\frac{\alpha - \beta}{\alpha + \beta}\right)^2 ac.$$
 (5.5)

Consider the 2-by-2 matrix

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} x^*Ax & x^*Ay \\ y^*Ax & y^*Ay \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then $M = (x, y)^* A(x, y)$ is bounded from below by $\lambda_n(x, y)^*(x, y)$ and from above by $\lambda_1(x, y)^*(x, y)$. We may assume that x and y are orthonormal by scaling both sides of (5.4). Then $\lambda_n I \leq M \leq \lambda_1 I$ and thus the eigenvalues γ and δ of M with $\gamma \geq \delta$ are contained in $[\lambda_n, \lambda_1]$. Therefore $\frac{\gamma - \delta}{\gamma + \delta} \leq \frac{\lambda_1 - \lambda_n}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_n}$ since $\frac{t-1}{t+1}$ is monotone in t. An application of (5.5) to M results in

$$|x^*Ay|^2 \le \left(\frac{\gamma-\delta}{\gamma+\delta}\right)^2 (x^*Axy^*Ay) \le \left(\frac{\lambda_1-\lambda_n}{\lambda_1+\lambda_n}\right)^2 (x^*Axy^*Ay).$$

As it is noticed in [11], see also [53], that taking $y = (I - xx^*)A^{-1}x$, then (5.4) reduces to (5.1). But only 40 years later, the equivalence between these two inequalities was established, see [16] and [115].

In this section, we intend to give an alternative proof that the Kantorovich inequality implies the Wielandt inequality.

The proof. The homogeneous appearance of (5.1) and (5.4) enable us to assume $x^*x = y^*y = 1$, so in the following, we shall require that x, y to be orthonormal vectors. (5.1) can be written as

$$\frac{4\lambda_1\lambda_n}{(\lambda_1+\lambda_n)^2} \le \frac{1}{(x^*Ax)(x^*A^{-1}x)}.$$
(5.6)

Note that $\frac{4\lambda_1\lambda_n}{(\lambda_1+\lambda_n)^2} + \left(\frac{\lambda_1-\lambda_n}{\lambda_1+\lambda_n}\right)^2 = 1$, so to show that (5.1) implies (5.4), it suffices to show

$$1 - \frac{1}{(x^*Ax)(x^*A^{-1}x)} \ge \frac{|x^*Ay|^2}{(x^*Ax)(y^*Ay)},$$

i.e.,

$$\left((x^*A^{-1}x)^2 x^*Ax - x^*A^{-1}x \right) (y^*Ay) \ge (x^*A^{-1}x)^2 |x^*Ay|^2.$$
(5.7)

Let *B* be a positive definite square root of *A*, note that $(B^{-1}x)^*(By) = 0$, so

$$\begin{aligned} (x^*A^{-1}x)^2 |x^*Ay|^2 &= |(x^*A^{-1}x(Bx) - (B^{-1}x))^*By|^2 \\ &\leq ||x^*A^{-1}x(Bx) - (B^{-1}x)||^2 ||By||^2 \\ &= ((x^*A^{-1}x)^2x^*Ax - x^*A^{-1}x) (y^*Ay), \end{aligned}$$

where $\|\cdot\|$ means the Euclidean norm. This completes the proof.

Remark 5.2. If we consider the real case only, there is an alternative argument for (5.7). Again, we let B be the positive definite square root of A, also let $S = B(yx^T - xy^T)B$. Obviously, S is skew symmetric, so the eigenvalues of S are of the form $\pm it$, $t \in \mathbb{R}$, which implies

$$2\|S\|^2 \le \|S\|_F^2,$$

where $||S||, ||S||_F$ means the spectral norm (the largest singular value), Frobenius norm of *S*, respectively. The Frobenius norm of *S* is

$$||S||_F = \sqrt{\operatorname{Tr}(S^T S)} = \sqrt{2[(x^T A x)(y^T A y) - (x^T A y)^2]}.$$

Observe that $By = SB^{-1}x$, we get

$$||By||_2 = ||SB^{-1}x||_2 \le ||S||_2 ||B^{-1}x||_2 \le \frac{||S||_F}{\sqrt{2}} ||B^{-1}x||_2,$$

i.e., $||By||_2 \le \frac{||S||_F}{\sqrt{2}} ||B^{-1}x||_2$. This proves (5.7).

We are not sure whether (5.4) and (5.3) are equivalent. Thus we leave the following question for interested readers.

Question 5.3. *Is it possible to show that the Wielandt inequality (5.4) implies (5.3)?*

5.2 Some more background

The Wielandt and generalized Wielandt inequalities control how much angles can change under a given invertible matrix transformation of \mathbb{C}^n . The control is given in terms of the condition number of the matrix. Wielandt, in [108], gave a bound on the resulting angles when orthogonal complex lines are transformed. Subsequently, Bauer and Householder,

in [11], extended the inequality to include arbitrary starting angles. These basic inequalities of matrix analysis were introduced to give bounds on convergence rates of iterative projection methods but have found a variety of applications in numerical methods, especially eigenvalue estimation. They are also applied in multivariate analysis, where angles between vectors correspond to statistical correlation. See, for example, [11], [33], [35], [51] and [53]. There are also matrix-valued versions of the inequality that are receiving attention, especially in the context of statistical analysis. See [16], [75], [104], and [113].

The condition number of an invertible matrix *A* is $\kappa(A) = ||A|| ||A^{-1}||$, where $|| \cdot ||$ denotes the operator norm. If *A* is positive definite and Hermitian, $\kappa(A)$ is easily seen to be the ratio of the largest and smallest eigenvalues of *A*. The following statement of the generalized Wielandt inequality is taken from [53].

Theorem 5.4. Let A be an invertible $n \times n$ matrix. If $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ and $\Phi, \Psi \in [0, \pi/2]$ satisfy

$$|y^*x| \le ||x|| ||y|| \cos \Phi$$
 and $\cot(\Psi/2) = \kappa(A)\cot(\Phi/2)$,

then

$$|(Ay)^*(Ax)| \le ||Ax|| ||Ay|| \cos \Psi.$$

The generalized Wielandt inequality can be difficult to apply for several reasons. First, despite having various equivalent formulations, the inequality seems always to be expressed in ways that hide the natural symmetry coming from the invertible transformation involved. Next, the conditions for equality are known, see [62], but are unwieldy and hard to apply. Finally, the angles involved are angles between complex lines¹ rather than between individual vectors.

Although the last point seems minor, we found it to be the key to a symmetric formulation and a simple description of the cases of equality. In Theorem 5.8 and its matrix analytic counterpart, Theorem 5.14, we present a new inequality that gives sharp upper and lower bounds for the angle between a pair of transformed vectors. The conditions for equality are simple and easy to apply. This new inequality relates angles between vectors rather than between complex lines but it immediately implies a result for angles between

¹A complex line is a one-dimensional affine subspace of a vector space over the complex numbers. A common point of confusion is that while a complex line has dimension one over \mathbb{C} (hence the term "line"), it has dimension two over the real numbers \mathbb{R} , and is topologically equivalent to a real plane, not a real line, see [107].

complex lines that is equivalent to the generalized Wielandt inequality. Moreover, this version of the generalized Wielandt inequality retains the simple form of the new inequality and (most of) the simplicity of its conditions for equality.

In Section 5.3 we work in the context of an arbitrary real or complex vector space having two inner products. This approach preserves symmetry by avoiding the distinction between angles before and after a fixed transformation. Also, the main result is not restricted to \mathbb{C}^n but holds for vectors in infinite-dimensional spaces. As an application of the unrestricted result, we improve a metric space inequality from [32]. The main results are then formulated in the language of matrix analysis in Section 5.4, and we apply them to improve inequalities from [111] and [72], and to settle a conjecture from [110].

To begin, a short discussion of angles in inner product spaces is in order. Recall that in a real inner product space $(V, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ the angle $\theta = \theta(u, v)$ between two non-zero vectors is defined by, $0 \le \theta \le \pi$ and

$$\cos\theta = \frac{\langle u, v \rangle}{\|u\| \|v\|}$$

Here $||u|| = \sqrt{\langle u, u \rangle}$ is the norm induced by the inner product. The angle between subsets *S* and *T* of *V* is the infimum of the angles between non-zero elements of *S* and *T*, so

$$\Theta(S,T) = \inf\{\theta(u,v) : 0 \neq u \in S, 0 \neq v \in T\}.$$

With this definition it is easy to check that the angle $\Theta = \Theta(\mathbb{R}u, \mathbb{R}v)$ between the lines $\mathbb{R}u$ and $\mathbb{R}v$ satisfies $0 \le \Theta \le \pi/2$ and

$$\cos \Theta = \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle|}{\|u\| \|v\|}.$$

A complex inner product space $(V, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ may be viewed as the real inner product space $(V_{\mathbb{R}}, \operatorname{Re}\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ where $V_{\mathbb{R}} = V$ with the scalars restricted to \mathbb{R} . Since $\operatorname{Re}\langle v, v \rangle = \langle v, v \rangle$ for all $v \in V$, lengths in V are preserved and therefore so are angles. Thus, this real inner product is used to define the angle θ between the vectors u and v, and a computation gives the formula for the angle Θ between the complex lines $\mathbb{C}u$ and $\mathbb{C}v$. We have,

$$\cos \theta = \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle}{\|u\| \|v\|}$$
 and $\cos \Theta = \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle|}{\|u\| \|v\|}$.

The second formula is often used as a definition of the angle between vectors u and v in a complex inner product space. (Angles defined this way do not determine angles in triangles

correctly but they have the advantage that complex orthogonality, namely $\langle u, v \rangle = 0$, is equivalent to the angle between *u* and *v* being $\pi/2$.)

We will make use of the simple observation that if $|\alpha| = 1$, then

$$\Theta(\mathbb{C}u,\mathbb{C}v) = \theta(\alpha u, v) \quad \text{if and only if} \quad |\langle u, v \rangle| = \alpha \langle u, v \rangle. \tag{5.8}$$

(Note that our inner products are taken to be linear in the first variable.) The above observation remains valid for $\Theta(\mathbb{R}u,\mathbb{R}v)$ in a real inner product space, where $\alpha = \pm 1$.

5.3 Generalized Wielandt inequality in inner product spaces

The result of this section has been published in [73]. It is a joint work with Sinnamon.

Suppose V is a non-trivial real or complex vector space. Let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$ be inner products on V and define m, V_m, M, V_M, E_1 and E_2 by,

$$\begin{cases} m = \inf_{0 \neq v \in V} \|v\|_2 / \|v\|_1, \quad V_m = \{v \in V : \|v\|_2 = m\|v\|_1\}, \\ M = \sup_{0 \neq v \in V} \|v\|_2 / \|v\|_1, \quad V_M = \{v \in V : \|v\|_2 = M\|v\|_1\}, \\ E = E_j = \left\{ (u, v) : \frac{u}{\|u\|_j} + \frac{v}{\|v\|_j} \in V_m, \frac{u}{\|u\|_j} - \frac{v}{\|v\|_j} \in V_M \right\}, \end{cases}$$
(5.9)

for j = 1, 2. Here, as usual, $||v||_1 = \sqrt{\langle v, v \rangle_1}$ and $||v||_2 = \sqrt{\langle v, v \rangle_2}$. We anticipate the result of Corollary 5.7 in the definition of *E* above.

Evidently $0 \le m \le M \le \infty$, $0 \in V_m$ and $0 \in V_M$. (The convention $0 \cdot \infty = 0$ ensures that $0 \in V_M$ when $M = \infty$.) A standard compactness argument shows that if *V* is finite dimensional then $0 < m \le M < \infty$ and $V_m \ne \{0\} \ne V_M$. If m = M then $V_m = V_M = V$ and, by polarization, $\langle u, v \rangle_2 = m^2 \langle u, v \rangle_1$ for all $u, v \in V$.

Lemma 5.5. Let V be a real vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. If m < M, then V_m and V_M are subspaces and the two are mutually orthogonal with respect to both inner products.

Proof. Suppose *u* is a non-zero vector in V_m and $v \in V$ is not a multiple of *u*. Then

$$f(t) = \frac{\|u + tv\|_2^2}{\|u + tv\|_1^2} = \frac{\langle u, u \rangle_2 + 2t \langle u, v \rangle_2 + t^2 \langle v, v \rangle_2}{\langle u, u \rangle_1 + 2t \langle u, v \rangle_1 + t^2 \langle v, v \rangle_1}$$

is defined and differentiable for $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Since *f* achieves its minimum value at t = 0, f'(0) = 0. That is, $\langle u, v \rangle_2 \langle u, u \rangle_1 = \langle u, u \rangle_2 \langle u, v \rangle_1$. Thus, for all $u \in V_m$ and all $v \in V$,

$$\langle u, v \rangle_2 = m^2 \langle u, v \rangle_1$$

(The excluded case, u = 0 or v a multiple of u, is easily verified.) It follows that if $v \in V_m$ then f is the constant function with value m^2 . In particular, $f(1) = m^2$, so $u + v \in V_m$. Since it is clearly closed under scalar multiplication, V_m is a subspace.

Repeating the argument for V_M shows that it, too, is a subspace and that for all $v \in V_M$ and $u \in V$,

$$\langle u,v\rangle_2 = M^2 \langle u,v\rangle_1.$$

If $u \in V_m$ and $v \in V_M$ then $m^2 \langle u, v \rangle_1 = \langle u, v \rangle_2 = M^2 \langle u, v \rangle_1$ and hence $\langle u, v \rangle_1 = \langle u, v \rangle_2 = 0$. Thus *u* and *v* are orthogonal with respect to both inner products. This completes the proof.

Corollary 5.6. Let V be a real vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. If V is two-dimensional, then there is a basis of V that is orthogonal with respect to both inner products.

Proof. If m = M then the two inner products are multiples of each other and any orthogonal basis will do. Otherwise, let $0 \neq b \in V_m$ and $0 \neq B \in V_M$. Then $\{b, B\}$ is the desired basis.

The next result justifies the use of E to denote either E_1 or E_2 .

Corollary 5.7. Let V be a real vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. Then $E_1 = E_2$.

Proof. By symmetry it is enough to show that $E_1 \subseteq E_2$. For $(u, v) \in E_1$, let

$$w = \frac{u}{\|u\|_1} + \frac{v}{\|v\|_1} \in V_m$$

and

$$W = \frac{u}{\|u\|_1} - \frac{v}{\|v\|_1} \in V_M.$$

By Lemma 5.5, *w* and *W* are orthogonal with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$, so

$$|u||_{2}^{2} / ||u||_{1}^{2} = \frac{1}{4} ||w + W||_{2}^{2}$$

= $\frac{1}{4} (||w||_{2}^{2} + ||W||_{2}^{2})$
= $\frac{1}{4} ||w - W||_{2}^{2} = ||v||_{2}^{2} / ||v||_{1}^{2}.$

Thus

$$\frac{u}{\|u\|_2} + \frac{v}{\|v\|_2} = \frac{\|u\|_1}{\|u\|_2} w \in V_m$$

and

$$\frac{u}{\|u\|_2} - \frac{v}{\|v\|_2} = \frac{\|u\|_1}{\|u\|_2} W \in V_m$$

and so $(u, v) \in E_2$.

Having two inner products, the space V has two differing notions of the angle between vectors. Our main result provides a comparison between these angles in terms of the quantities m and M defined in (5.9).

Theorem 5.8. Let *V* be a real or complex vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. For independent vectors *u* and *v* in *V* let φ and ψ be defined by, $0 \le \varphi \le \pi, 0 \le \psi \le \pi$,

$$\cos \varphi = \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} \quad and \quad \cos \psi = \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_2}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2}.$$

Then

$$(m/M)\tan(\varphi/2) \le \tan(\psi/2) \le (M/m)\tan(\varphi/2).$$
(5.10)

Equality holds in the right-hand inequality if and only if $(u, v) \in E$. Equality holds in the left-hand inequality if and only if $(u, -v) \in E$.

Proof. First consider the case that V is a real vector space. Note that the assumption of independence ensures $0 < \varphi < \pi$ and $0 < \psi < \pi$.

By Corollary 5.6, the span of *u* and *v* has a basis $\{b, B\}$ that is orthogonal with respect to both inner products. Without loss of generality we may assume that $||b||_1 = ||B||_1 = 1$. For notational convenience, set $n = ||b||_2$ and $N = ||B||_2$ and suppose, by interchanging *b* and *B* if necessary, that $n \le N$. Note that the definitions of *m* and *M* ensure that $m \le n$ and

 $N \le M$. Write $u = u_b b + u_B B$ and $v = v_b b + v_B B$ for some real numbers u_b , u_B , v_b , and v_B . In terms of these coordinates we have,

$$\|u\|_{1}^{2} \|v\|_{1}^{2} \sin^{2} \varphi = \|u\|_{1}^{2} \|v\|_{1}^{2} - \langle u, v \rangle_{1}^{2}$$

= $(u_{b}^{2} + u_{B}^{2})(v_{b}^{2} + v_{B}^{2}) - (u_{b}v_{b} + u_{B}v_{B})^{2}$
= $(u_{b}v_{B} - u_{B}v_{b})^{2}$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{2}^{2} \|v\|_{2}^{2} \sin^{2} \psi &= \|u\|_{2}^{2} \|v\|_{2}^{2} - \langle u, v \rangle_{2}^{2} \\ &= (n^{2}u_{b}^{2} + N^{2}u_{B}^{2})(n^{2}v_{b}^{2} + N^{2}v_{B}^{2}) - (n^{2}u_{b}v_{b} + N^{2}u_{B}v_{B})^{2} \\ &= n^{2}N^{2}(u_{b}v_{B} - u_{B}v_{b})^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$||u||_2 ||v||_2 \sin \psi = nN ||u||_1 ||v||_1 \sin \varphi.$$
(5.11)

The derivative of

$$g(x) = (u_b^2 + xu_B^2)^{1/2} (v_b^2 + xv_B^2)^{1/2} + (u_b v_b + xu_B v_B)$$

is

$$g'(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left(u_B \left(\frac{v_b^2 + xv_B^2}{u_b^2 + xu_B^2} \right)^{1/4} + v_B \left(\frac{u_b^2 + xu_B^2}{v_b^2 + xv_B^2} \right)^{1/4} \right)^2 \ge 0,$$

so $g(1) \le g(N^2/n^2)$. Multiplying both sides of this by n^2 gives,

$$n^{2} \|u\|_{1} \|v\|_{1} (1 + \cos \varphi) \le \|u\|_{2} \|v\|_{2} (1 + \cos \psi).$$
(5.12)

Combining (5.11) and (5.12) gives,

$$\tan(\psi/2) = \frac{\sin\psi}{(1+\cos\psi)} \le \frac{nN\sin\varphi}{n^2(1+\cos\varphi)} = (N/n)\tan(\varphi/2), \tag{5.13}$$

with equality if and only if g'(x) = 0 for $x \in (1, N^2/n^2)$. Since $m \le n \le N \le M$, (5.13) proves the right-hand inequality of (5.10).

If equality holds in the right-hand inequality of (5.10), then equality holds in (5.13) and $n = m, N = M, b \in V_m$, and $B \in V_M$. If m = M then $V_m = V_M = V$ and $\varphi = \psi$ so the last two

statements of the theorem are trivial. Otherwise, equality in (5.13) implies that g' is zero on the non-trivial interval $(1, M^2/m^2)$. That is,

$$u_B \left(\frac{v_b^2 + xv_B^2}{u_b^2 + xu_B^2}\right)^{1/4} + v_B \left(\frac{u_b^2 + xu_B^2}{v_b^2 + xv_B^2}\right)^{1/4} = 0$$

and hence $u_B^2 v_b^2 = v_B^2 u_b^2$. Since *u* and *v* are independent, both u_B and v_B are non-zero, they have opposite signs, and $u_B v_b = -v_B u_b$. Therefore,

$$\frac{u}{\|u\|_{1}} + \frac{v}{\|v\|_{1}} = \frac{u_{b}b + u_{B}B}{\sqrt{u_{b}^{2} + u_{B}^{2}}} + \frac{v_{b}b + v_{B}B}{\sqrt{v_{b}^{2} + v_{B}^{2}}}$$
$$= \pm \left(\frac{(u_{b}/u_{B})b + B}{\sqrt{(u_{b}/u_{B})^{2} + 1}} - \frac{(v_{b}/v_{B})b + B}{\sqrt{(v_{b}/v_{B})^{2} + 1}}\right)$$
$$= \pm \frac{2(u_{b}/u_{B})b}{\sqrt{(u_{b}/u_{B})^{2} + 1}} \in V_{m}$$

and

$$\frac{u}{\|u\|_{1}} - \frac{v}{\|v\|_{1}} = \frac{u_{b}b + u_{B}B}{\sqrt{u_{b}^{2} + u_{B}^{2}}} - \frac{v_{b}b + v_{B}B}{\sqrt{v_{b}^{2} + v_{B}^{2}}}$$
$$= \pm \left(\frac{(u_{b}/u_{B})b + B}{\sqrt{(u_{b}/u_{B})^{2} + 1}} + \frac{(v_{b}/v_{B})b + B}{\sqrt{(v_{b}/v_{B})^{2} + 1}}\right)$$
$$= \pm \frac{2B}{\sqrt{(u_{b}/u_{B})^{2} + 1}} \in V_{M}.$$

That is, $(u, v) \in E_1 = E$.

Conversely, suppose that $(u, v) \in E$, set

$$w = \frac{u}{\|u\|_1} + \frac{v}{\|v\|_1} \in V_m$$

and

$$W = \frac{u}{\|u\|_1} - \frac{v}{\|v\|_1} \in V_M,$$

and observe that w + W is in the direction of u and w - W is in the direction of v. By Lemma 5.5, w and W are orthogonal with respect to both inner products. Thus,

$$\cos \varphi = \frac{\langle w + W, w - W \rangle_1}{\|w + W\|_1 \|w - W\|_1} \\ = \frac{\|w\|_1^2 - \|W\|_1^2}{\|w\|_1^2 + \|W\|_1^2}$$

and

$$\tan^2(\varphi/2) = \frac{1 - \cos\varphi}{1 + \cos\varphi} = \frac{\|W\|_1^2}{\|w\|_1^2}.$$

A similar calculation yields the corresponding formula for ψ and leads to the conclusion,

$$\tan^{2}(\psi/2) = \frac{\|W\|_{2}^{2}}{\|w\|_{2}^{2}} = \frac{M^{2}\|W\|_{1}^{2}}{m^{2}\|w\|_{1}^{2}} = (M/m)^{2}\tan^{2}(\varphi/2).$$

Taking square roots establishes equality in the right-hand inequality of (5.10).

Applying the right-hand inequality of (5.10) to the vectors u and -v replaces φ by $\pi - \varphi$ and ψ by $\pi - \psi$ to give the conclusion,

$$\cot(\psi/2) = \tan(\pi/2 - \psi/2)$$

$$\leq (M/m)\tan(\pi/2 - \varphi/2) = (M/m)\cot(\varphi/2).$$

This proves the left-hand inequality of (5.10), with equality if and only if $(u, -v) \in E$. This completes the proof in the case that *V* is a real vector space.

If *V* is a complex space and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$ are complex inner products, the conclusion of the theorem follows by applying the result just proved to the real vector space $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ equipped with the real inner products $\operatorname{Re}\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\operatorname{Re}\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. This completes the proof. \Box

The angle between two subsets of V is defined as an infimum of angles between pairs of vectors. The inequality (5.10) remains valid when we take an infimum of all three terms so we have the following result. Note that since the cosine function is decreasing, the cosine of an infimum of angles is achieved by taking the supremum of their cosines.

Corollary 5.9. Let V be a real or complex vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. For $S, T \subseteq V$, each containing at least one non-zero vector, let Φ and Ψ be the angles between the subsets S and T with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$, respectively. That is, $0 \le \Phi \le \pi$, $0 \le \Psi \le \pi$,

$$\cos \Phi = \sup_{\substack{0 \neq u \in S \\ 0 \neq v \in T}} \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1}, \quad and \quad \cos \Psi = \sup_{\substack{0 \neq u \in S \\ 0 \neq v \in T}} \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_2}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2}.$$
(5.14)

Then

$$(m/M)\tan(\Phi/2) \le \tan(\Psi/2) \le (M/m)\tan(\Phi/2).$$

The following theorem is our version of the generalized Wielandt inequality in inner product spaces. As pointed out earlier, the angles between the (real or complex) lines determined by u and v are often taken as alternative definitions of the angle between vectors themselves. We show that with this definition the results of Theorem 5.8 still hold, but the conditions for equality become slightly more complicated.

Theorem 5.10. Let *V* be a real or complex vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. For independent vectors *u* and *v* in *V* let Φ and Ψ be defined by, $0 \le \Phi \le \pi/2, 0 \le \Psi \le \pi/2$,

$$\cos \Phi = \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_1|}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} \quad and \quad \cos \Psi = \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_2|}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2}.$$

Then

 $(m/M)\tan(\Phi/2) \le \tan(\Psi/2) \le (M/m)\tan(\Phi/2).$ (5.15)

Let α_1 and α_2 be solutions to $|\langle u, v \rangle_1| = \alpha_1 \langle u, v \rangle_1$ and $|\langle u, v \rangle_2| = \alpha_2 \langle u, v \rangle_2$. Equality holds in the right-hand inequality of (5.15) if and only if $(\alpha_1 u, v) \in E$ and either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ or $\langle u, v \rangle_2 = 0$. Equality holds in the left-hand inequality of (5.15) if and only if $(\alpha_2 u, -v) \in E$ and either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ or $\langle u, v \rangle_1 = 0$.

Proof. Apply Corollary 5.9 to the lines $S = \mathbb{C}u$ and $T = \mathbb{C}v$ ($S = \mathbb{R}u$ and $T = \mathbb{R}v$ in the real case) to obtain (5.15). By (5.8), Φ is the angle between $\alpha_1 u$ and v with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and Ψ is the angle between $\alpha_2 u$ and v with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. To analyse the right-hand inequality of (5.15), let θ be the angle between $\alpha_1 u$ and v with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. The infimum definition of Ψ and Theorem 5.8 show that

$$\tan(\Psi/2) \le \tan(\theta/2) \le (M/m)\tan(\Phi/2).$$
(5.16)

By (5.8), the first of these is equality if and only if either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ or $\langle u, v \rangle_2 = 0$. By Theorem 5.8, the second is equality if and only if $(\alpha_1 u, v) \in E$. Thus equality holds in the right-hand inequality of (5.15) if and only if $(\alpha_1 u, v) \in E$ and either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ or $\langle u, v \rangle_2 = 0$.

To analyse the left-hand inequality of (5.15), let θ be the angle between $\alpha_2 u$ and v with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$. The infimum definition of Φ and Theorem 5.8 show that

$$(m/M)\tan(\Phi/2) \le (m/M)\tan(\theta/2) \le \tan(\Psi/2).$$
(5.17)

By (5.8), the first of these is equality if and only if either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ or $\langle u, v \rangle_1 = 0$. By Theorem 5.8, the second is equality if and only if $(\alpha_2 u, -v) \in E$. Thus equality holds

in the left-hand inequality of (5.15) if and only if $(\alpha_2 u, -v) \in E$ and either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ or $\langle u, v \rangle_1 = 0$.

The inequalities (5.10) and (5.15) can be expressed in various equivalent forms. In terms of cosines (5.10) becomes, with $\chi = (M^2 - m^2)/(M^2 + m^2)$,

$$\frac{-\chi + \cos\varphi}{1 - \chi\cos\varphi} \le \cos\psi \le \frac{\chi + \cos\varphi}{1 + \chi\cos\varphi}.$$
(5.18)

Replace φ and ψ by Φ and Ψ to get the expression for (5.15). In terms of inner products instead of angles, the inequalities (5.10) of Theorem 5.8 and (5.15) of Theorem 5.10 become, in the case $||u||_1 = ||v||_1 = 1$,

$$\frac{-\chi + \operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{1 - \chi \operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1} \le \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_2}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} \le \frac{\chi + \operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{1 + \chi \operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}.$$
(5.19)

and

$$\frac{-\chi + |\langle u, v \rangle_1|}{1 - \chi |\langle u, v \rangle_1|} \le \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_2|}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} \le \frac{\chi + |\langle u, v \rangle_1|}{1 + \chi |\langle u, v \rangle_1|},\tag{5.20}$$

respectively.

The special case $\Phi = \pi/2$ in Theorem 5.10 gives an inner product formulation of Wielandt's inequality that includes all cases of equality. Note that the right-hand inequality of (5.20) is equivalent to the left-hand inequality of (5.15).

Corollary 5.11. Let V be a real or complex vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. Suppose the non-zero vectors $u, v \in V$ are orthogonal with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and α satisfies $|\langle u, v \rangle_2| = \alpha \langle u, v \rangle_2$. Then,

$$\frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_2|}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} \le \frac{M^2 - m^2}{M^2 + m^2}$$
(5.21)

with equality if and only if $(\alpha u, -v) \in E$.

The following theorem gives upper and lower bounds on the difference between the cosines of φ and ψ . It improves the estimates given in Theorems 1 and 2 of [32].

Theorem 5.12. Let V be a real or complex vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. For independent vectors u and v in V,

$$-2\frac{M-m}{M+m} \le \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_2}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} - \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} \le 2\frac{M-m}{M+m}$$
(5.22)

and, if $\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1 \geq 0$, then

$$\frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_2}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} - \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} \le \frac{M^2 - m^2}{M^2 + m^2}.$$
(5.23)

Also,

$$-\frac{M^2 - m^2}{M^2 + m^2} \le \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_2|}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} - \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_1|}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} \le \frac{M^2 - m^2}{M^2 + m^2}.$$
(5.24)

Proof. Suppose φ and ψ are the angles between *u* and *v* with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Since,

$$\cos \psi - \cos \varphi = 2/(1 + \tan^2(\psi/2)) - 2/(1 + \tan^2(\varphi/2)),$$

Theorem 5.8 gives

$$\frac{2}{1+(M/m)^2x} - \frac{2}{1+x} \le \cos \psi - \cos \varphi \le \frac{2}{1+(m/M)^2x} - \frac{2}{1+x},$$

where $x = \tan^2(\varphi/2)$. A little calculus shows that the minimum value, over all $x \in [0, \infty]$, of the expression on the left occurs at x = m/M and the maximum value, over all $x \in [0, \infty]$, of the expression on the right occurs at x = M/m. This gives (5.22). If $\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1 \ge 0$ then $\varphi \le \pi/2$ and so $x = \tan^2(\varphi/2) \le 1$. The maximum value on the right now occurs at x = 1, giving (5.23).

The same analysis, applied to the angles Φ and Ψ between the lines $\mathbb{C}u$ and $\mathbb{C}v$ (or $\mathbb{R}u$ and $\mathbb{R}v$ in the real case) includes the restriction $\tan^2(\Phi/2) \leq 1$ and gives the right-hand inequality in (5.24). The left-hand inequality follows from the right-hand one by interchanging the inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Besides interchanging the angles φ and ψ , this has the effect of replacing *m* by 1/M and *M* by 1/m to give

$$\frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_1|}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} - \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_2|}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} \le \frac{(1/m)^2 - (1/M)^2}{(1/m)^2 + (1/M)^2} = \frac{M^2 - m^2}{M^2 + m^2}.$$

Multiplying through by -1 completes the proof.

In our notation, Dragomir's results from [32] are

$$1 - \frac{M^2}{m^2} \le \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_2|}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} - \frac{|\langle u, v \rangle_1|}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} \le 1 - \frac{m^2}{M^2},$$

and, if $\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1 \ge 0$, then

$$1 - \frac{M^2}{m^2} \le \frac{\text{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_2}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} - \frac{\text{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} \le 1 - \frac{m^2}{M^2}$$

Since

$$1 - rac{M^2}{m^2} \leq -2rac{M-m}{M+m} \leq -rac{M^2-m^2}{M^2+m^2} \quad ext{and} \quad rac{M^2-m^2}{M^2+m^2} \leq 1 - rac{m^2}{M^2},$$

Theorem 5.12 improves on both of these statements.

The estimate (5.22), on the difference between the cosines of φ and ψ readily gives a lower bound on the product of those cosines.

Corollary 5.13. Let V be a real or complex vector space equipped with inner products $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_1$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$. Let (5.9) hold. For independent vectors u and v in V,

$$\frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1} \frac{\operatorname{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_2}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2} \ge -\left(\frac{M-m}{M+m}\right)^2.$$
(5.25)

Proof. Let $\mu = (M-m)/(M+m)$,

$$x = \frac{\text{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_1}{\|u\|_1 \|v\|_1}$$
, and $y = \frac{\text{Re}\langle u, v \rangle_2}{\|u\|_2 \|v\|_2}$.

Note that $0 \le \mu < 1$. By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and (5.22), the point (x, y) lies in the region defined by $-1 \le x \le 1$, $-1 \le y \le 1$, and $-2\mu \le x - y \le 2\mu$. Minimizing *xy* over this hexagonal region easily yields $(x, y) = (-\mu, \mu)$ or $(x, y) = (\mu, -\mu)$. Thus, $xy \ge -\mu^2$ as required.

5.4 Formulation in terms of matrices

Recall that the angle θ between vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ is defined by $0 \le \theta \le \pi$ and

$$\cos \theta = \frac{\operatorname{Re} y^* x}{\|x\| \|y\|}$$

and the angle Θ between the complex lines $\mathbb{C}x$ and $\mathbb{C}y$ satisfies $0 \le \Theta \le \pi/2$ and

$$\cos\Theta = \frac{|y^*x|}{||x|| ||y||},$$

in contrast to the terminology "real-part angle" and "Hermitian angle" used in Chapter 1.

Let *A* be an invertible $n \times n$ matrix and consider the two inner products

$$\langle x, y \rangle_1 = y^* x$$
 and $\langle x, y \rangle_2 = (Ay)^* (Ax)$ (5.26)

on \mathbb{C}^n . Then the definitions in (5.9) show that M = ||A|| and $1/m = ||A^{-1}||$ so the condition number of *A* is $\kappa(A) = M/m$. Theorem 5.8 becomes the following.

Theorem 5.14. Let A be an invertible $n \times n$ matrix. For independent $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ let φ be the angle between x and y and let ψ be the angle between Ax and Ay. Then,

$$\kappa(A)^{-1} \tan(\varphi/2) \le \tan(\psi/2) \le \kappa(A) \tan(\varphi/2).$$

Let λ_n and λ_1 denote the smallest and largest eigenvalues of A^*A . Then equality holds in the right-hand inequality above if and only if x/||x|| + y/||y|| is in the λ_n -eigenspace of A^*A and x/||x|| - y/||y|| is in the λ_1 -eigenspace of A^*A . Also, equality holds in the lefthand inequality above if and only if x/||x|| - y/||y|| is in the λ_n -eigenspace of A^*A and x/||x|| + y/||y|| is in the λ_1 -eigenspace of A^*A .

Theorem 5.10 gives a concise reformulation of the generalized Wielandt inequality. Since $\kappa(A) = \kappa(A^{-1})$, the symmetry between the angles Φ and Ψ is clear.

Theorem 5.15. Let A be an invertible $n \times n$ matrix. For independent $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ let Φ be the angle between the complex lines $\mathbb{C}x$ and $\mathbb{C}y$ and let Ψ be the angle between the complex lines $\mathbb{C}(Ax)$ and $\mathbb{C}(Ay)$. Then

$$\kappa(A)^{-1}\tan(\Phi/2) \le \tan(\Psi/2) \le \kappa(A)\tan(\Phi/2).$$

It takes a bit of care to show the equivalence of this theorem with Theorem 5.4 because the angles Φ and Ψ represent subtly different concepts in the two statements. In Theorem 5.15, Φ and Ψ represent angles between given complex lines, while in Theorem 5.4 they represent bounds on those angles rather than the angles themselves. Also, one must apply Theorem 5.4 to A and to A^{-1} (or else to x, y and to x, -y) to obtain both sides of the inequality above.

The conclusion of Theorems 5.14 and 5.15 may be rewritten as

$$\frac{-\chi + \cos\varphi}{1 - \chi\cos\varphi} \le \cos\psi \le \frac{\chi + \cos\varphi}{1 + \chi\cos\varphi},\tag{5.27}$$

where $\chi = (\kappa(A)^2 - 1)/(\kappa(A)^2 + 1)$. (Of course, φ and ψ should be replaced by Φ and Ψ when rewriting Theorem 5.15.)

We have omitted the characterization of the cases of equality in Theorem 5.15 but they can be readily obtained from Theorem 5.10. Conditions for equality in Theorem 5.8 are simpler than those in Theorem 5.10 because the former deals with angles between a single pair of vectors and the latter with an infimum of angles between vectors in two onedimensional subspaces. To recognize when equality occurs in Theorem 5.8 one only has to consider the placement of the vectors u and v relative to the eigenspaces V_m and V_M . But equality in Theorem 5.10 requires that this infimum of angles be achieved for u and vin addition to requiring their correct placement with respect to these eigenspaces. In [62], Kolotilina gave the following characterization of the cases of equality in the generalized Wielandt inequality, without explicit recognition of this two-stage requirement. We give an alternative proof using Theorem 5.10. (Notice that the complex numbers ξ and η appearing in the Theorem of [62] are unnecessary as they may be absorbed into the eigenvectors x_1 and x_n .)

Proposition 5.16. Let *B* be an $n \times n$ invertible Hermitian matrix, suppose $\lambda_1 > \lambda_n > 0$ are its largest and smallest eigenvalues, respectively, and set $\chi = (\lambda_1 - \lambda_n)/(\lambda_1 + \lambda_n)$. Fix independent $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ and let $\cos \varphi = |y^*x|/(||x|| ||y||)$. Then

$$|y^*Bx| = \frac{\chi + \cos\varphi}{1 + \chi\cos\varphi} \sqrt{x^*Bx} \sqrt{y^*By}$$
(5.28)

if and only if

$$\frac{x}{\|x\|} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\sqrt{1 + \cos \varphi} x_1 + \sqrt{1 - \cos \varphi} x_n \right)$$

and
$$\frac{y}{\|y\|} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\sqrt{1 + \cos \varphi} x_1 - \sqrt{1 - \cos \varphi} x_n \right)$$
(5.29)

for some complex number ε of unit modulus and some unit eigenvectors x_1 and x_n satisfying $Bx_1 = \lambda_1 x_1$ and $Bx_n = \lambda_n x_n$.

Proof. With $A = B^{1/2}$ we have $B = A^*A$. Apply Theorem 5.10 to the inner products (5.26) and note that $M = \lambda_1$ and $m = \lambda_n$ so V_M and V_m are the λ_1 - and λ_n -eigenspaces of B, respectively. Using (5.18), we see that (5.28) is equivalent to equality in the left hand inequality of (5.15). Thus, Theorem 5.10 shows that (5.28) holds if and only if $(\alpha_2 x, -y) \in$

E and either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ or $y^*x = 0$. As in Theorem 5.10, $|y^*x| = \alpha_1 y^*x$ and $|(Ay)^*(Ax)| = \alpha_2 (Ay)^*(Ax)$.

First suppose that *x* and *y* satisfy (5.29). A calculation, using the fact that x_1 and x_n are orthogonal, shows that $\varepsilon y^* x \ge 0$ and $\varepsilon (Ay)^* (Ax) \ge 0$. It follows that either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \varepsilon$ or $y^* x = 0$. Also,

$$\frac{\varepsilon x}{\|\varepsilon x\|} + \frac{-y}{\|-y\|} = \sqrt{2}\varepsilon\sqrt{1-\cos\varphi}\,x_n \in V_m$$

and

$$\frac{\varepsilon x}{\|\varepsilon x\|} - \frac{-y}{\|-y\|} = \sqrt{2}\varepsilon\sqrt{1 + \cos\varphi} \, x_1 \in V_M$$

so $(\alpha_2 x, -y) \in E$.

Conversely, suppose that $(\alpha_2 x, -y) \in E$ and either $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ or $y^* x = 0$. Set $\varepsilon = \alpha_2$. Then there exist $w \in V_m$ and $W \in V_M$ such that

$$\frac{\varepsilon x}{\|x\|} - \frac{y}{\|y\|} = w \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\varepsilon x}{\|x\|} + \frac{y}{\|y\|} = W.$$

Since *w* and *W* are orthogonal,the parallelogram law gives $||W||^2 + ||w||^2 = 4$ and the definition of φ gives $||W||^2 - ||w||^2 = 4\cos\varphi$. Solving these two equations yields, $||W|| = \sqrt{2}\sqrt{1+\cos\varphi}$ and $||w|| = \sqrt{2}\sqrt{1-\cos\varphi}$. With $x_1 = \bar{\varepsilon}W/||W||$ and $x_n = \bar{\varepsilon}W/||w||$ we have (5.29). This completes the proof.

In Theorem 3 of [111], Yeh gave a different generalization of the Wielandt inequality for angles between complex lines. Here we show that Theorem 5.15 gives the stronger inequality.

Theorem 5.17. [111] Let A be an invertible $n \times n$ matrix. For independent $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^n$ let Φ be the angle between the complex lines $\mathbb{C}x$ and $\mathbb{C}y$ and let Ψ be the angle between the complex lines $\mathbb{C}(Ax)$ and $\mathbb{C}(Ay)$. Define θ by $0 \le \theta \le \pi/2$ and $\cot(\theta/2) = \kappa(A)$. If $\cos \Phi \le 1/\kappa(A)^2$, then

$$\cos\Psi \le \cos\theta + 2\cos^2(\theta/2)\cos\Phi. \tag{5.30}$$

Proof. By Theorem 5.15 and (5.27), it is enough to show that

$$\frac{\chi + \cos \Phi}{1 + \chi \cos \Phi} \leq \cos \theta + (1 + \cos \theta) \cos \Phi,$$

where

$$\chi = \frac{\kappa(A)^2 - 1}{\kappa(A)^2 + 1} = \frac{\cot^2(\theta/2) - 1}{\cot^2(\theta/2) + 1} = \cos \theta.$$

But both χ and $\cos \Phi$ are positive, so

$$\frac{\chi + \cos \Phi}{1 + \chi \cos \Phi} \le \chi + \cos \Phi \le \chi + (1 + \chi) \cos \Phi$$

as required.

In Theorem 3.1 of [110], Yan generalized the Wielandt inequality for real symmetric matrices as follows.

Theorem 5.18. [110] Let B be a real $n \times n$ symmetric positive definite matrix with eigenvalues $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \cdots \ge \lambda_n > 0$. For independent $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ define Φ by $0 \le \Phi \le \pi/2$ and $||x|| ||y|| \cos \Phi = |y^T x|$. Then,

$$|x^{T}By| \leq \left(\max_{i,j} \frac{\lambda_{i}\cos^{2}(\Phi/2) - \lambda_{j}\sin^{2}(\Phi/2)}{\lambda_{i}\cos^{2}(\Phi/2) + \lambda_{j}\sin^{2}(\Phi/2)}\right) \sqrt{x^{T}Bx} \sqrt{y^{T}By}.$$
(5.31)

It was left as a conjecture in [110] that the theorem remains true for complex vectors x and y and a positive definite Hermitian matrix B.

It is routine to verify that the expression

$$\frac{s\cos^{2}(\Phi/2) - t\sin^{2}(\Phi/2)}{s\cos^{2}(\Phi/2) + t\sin^{2}(\Phi/2)}$$

is increasing in *s* and decreasing in *t*. Thus, the maximum in (5.31) is achieved when i = 1 and j = n, where it takes the value,

$$\frac{\lambda_1 \cos^2(\Phi/2) - \lambda_n \sin^2(\Phi/2)}{\lambda_1 \cos^2(\Phi/2) + \lambda_n \sin^2(\Phi/2)} = \frac{\chi + \cos \Phi}{1 + \chi \cos \Phi}$$

Here $\chi = (\lambda_1/\lambda_n - 1)/(\lambda_1/\lambda_n + 1)$. If $A = B^{1/2}$, then $\kappa(A)^2 = \kappa(B) = \lambda_1/\lambda_n$ so Theorem 5.15 and (5.27) implies that Theorem 5.18 holds in both the real and complex cases, confirming Yan's conjecture.

We end with an improvement of Lemma 4.7, see also [72, Lemma 2.2]. It follows directly from Corollary 5.13 with $\langle x, y \rangle_1 = y^T A x$ and $\langle x, y \rangle_2 = y^T B x$.

Lemma 5.19. Suppose A and B are real symmetric positive definite $n \times n$ matrices and let $\kappa = \kappa (A^{-1/2}BA^{-1/2})$. Then for $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $y \neq 0$,

$$\frac{y^T A x}{\sqrt{x^T A x} \sqrt{y^T A y}} \frac{y^T B x}{\sqrt{x^T B x} \sqrt{y^T B y}} \ge -\left(\frac{\sqrt{\kappa} - 1}{\sqrt{\kappa} + 1}\right)^2.$$

The above inequality followed by the AM-GM inequality give the conclusion of Lemma 4.7:

$$2\frac{y^{T}Ax}{y^{T}Ay}\frac{y^{T}Bx}{y^{T}By} \ge -2\left(\frac{\sqrt{\kappa}-1}{\sqrt{\kappa}+1}\right)^{2}\left(\frac{x^{T}Ax}{y^{T}Ay}\frac{x^{T}Bx}{y^{T}By}\right)^{1/2}$$
$$\ge -\left(\frac{\sqrt{\kappa}-1}{\sqrt{\kappa}+1}\right)^{2}\left(\frac{x^{T}Ax}{y^{T}Ay}+\frac{x^{T}Bx}{y^{T}By}\right).$$

Chapter 6

Summary

In this chapter, we summarize the main contributions of the thesis. An open problem is included at the end.

In Chapter 2, we presented two new proofs to an analogue of Kreĭn's inequality. Also, we extended an inequality of Wang & Zhang. This is published in [71].

In Chapter 3, independent of Hiroshima's work in [49], Wolkowicz and I proved an eigenvalue majorization inequality for 2-by-2 block positive semidefinite block matrices. It is worth mentioning we bring in a new line of proof. This is published in [74]. As an application, we proved a trace inequality conjectured by Furuichi and then further extended this inequality. This is joint work with Furuichi, [40]. Various norm inequalities and eigenvalue inequalities are derived using a decomposition lemma due to Bourin and Lee. This is published in [20, 21] and is joint work with Bourin and Lee.

Further majorization inequalities for coneigenvalues are presented in Chapter 3, including a new notion: consingular value. This is published in [29]. It is joint work with De Sterck.

In Chapter 4, we gave a condition for the convexity of the product of positive definite quadratic forms. When the number of positive definite quadratic forms is two, the condition is also necessary. It is shown in [116, 117] that the convexity of a function is important in finding the explicit expression of the transform for certain functions. This is joint work with Sinnamon, [72].

In Chapter 5, a new version of the generalized Wielandt inequality was formulated and

proved, leading to improvements of several results on matrix theory, including a resolution of a conjecture of Yan. As an interesting application of the generalized Wielandt inequality, we showed that it could be used in a very elegant way, to derive a sufficient condition for the convexity of the product of positive definite quadratic forms. This is published in [73] and is joint work with Sinnamon.

In conclusion, we formulate the following open problem for future investigation.

Open Problem 1. We know from Example 4.11 that (4.2) in Theorem 4.3 is only a sufficient condition for the convexity of the product of m quadratic forms. What is a necessary and sufficient condition? Is there a necessary and sufficient condition in terms of the omega condition number introduced in [30]?

Bibliography

- [1] G. Alpargu, The Kantorovich inequality, with some extensions and with some statistical applications. Master Thesis, McGill University, 1999. 78
- [2] T. Ando, Majorizations and inequalities in matrix theory, Linear Algebra Appl., 199(1994), 17–67. 68
- [3] M. Arav, F. J. Hall and Z. Li, A Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for triples of vectors, Math. Inequal. Appl., 11(2008), 629–634. 9
- [4] H. Attouch and R. J.-B. Wets, Isometries for the Legendre-Fenchel transform, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 296(1986), 33–60. 70
- [5] H. Attouch and R. J.-B. Wets, Another isometry for the Legendre-Fenchel transform, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 131(1988), 404–411. 70
- [6] J. P. Aubin, Optima and Equilibria: An Introduction to Nonlinear Analysis, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993. 70
- [7] J. S. Aujla and J.-C. Bourin, Eigenvalues inequalities for convex and log-convex functions, Linear Algebra Appl., 424(2007) 25–35. 37
- [8] M. E. Argentati, A. V. Knyazev, C. C. Paige and I. Panayotov, Bounds on changes in Ritz values for a perturbed invariant subspace of a Hermitian matrix, SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl., 30(2008), 548–559. 17
- [9] D. Bertsekas, *Nonlinear Programming*, 2nd Ed. Belmont, Massachusetts: Athena Scientific, 1999.

- [10] R. B. Bapat and V. S. Sunder, On Majorization and Schur Products, Linear Algebra Appl., 72(1985) 107–117. 53, 59
- [11] F. L. Bauer and A. S. Householder, Some inequalities involving the euclidean condition of a matrix, Numer. Math., 2(1960), 308–311. 2, 80, 82
- [12] H. H. Bauschke and P. L. Combettes, Convex Analysis and Monotone Operator Theory in Hilbert Spaces, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2011. 71
- [13] D. P. Bertsekas, A. Nedić and A. E. Ozdaglar, *Convex Analysis and Optimization*, Athena Scientific, Nashua, NH, 2003. 70
- [14] R. Bhatia, Matrix Analysis, GTM 169, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997. 23, 28, 35
- [15] R. Bhatia, *Positive Definite Matrices*, Princeton University Press, New Jersey, 2007. 28, 29
- [16] R. Bhatia and C. Davis, More operator versions of the Schwarz inequality, Commun. Math. Phys., 215(2000), 239–244. 2, 80, 82
- [17] R. Bhatia and F. Kittaneh, The matrix arithmetic-geometric mean inequality revisited, Linear Algebra Appl., 428(2008), 2177–2191. 28
- [18] J.-C. Bourin and F. Hiai, Norm and anti-norm inequalities for positive semi-definite matrices, Internat. J. Math., 63(2011), 1121–1138. 34
- [19] J.-C. Bourin and E.-Y. Lee, Unitary orbits of Hermitian operators with convex and concave functions, Bull. London Math. Soc., 44(2012), 1085–1102 34, 37
- [20] J.-C. Bourin, E.-Y. Lee and M. Lin, On a decomposition lemma for positive semidefinte block-matrices, Linear Algebra Appl., 437(2012), 1906–1912. 26, 35, 43, 44, 99
- [21] J.-C. Bourin, E.-Y. Lee and M. Lin, Positive matrices partitioned into a small number of Hermitian blocks, Linear Algebra Appl., 438(2013), 2591–2598. 44, 99
- [22] J.-C. Bourin, E.-Y. Lee Decomposition and partial trace of positive matrices with Hermitian blocks, Internat. J. Math., in press. 50

- [23] D. Boyd, Best constants in a class of integral inequalities, Pac. J. Math., 30(1969), 367–383.
- [24] S. Boyd, L. Vandenberghe, *Convex Optimization*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2004. 40, 70
- [25] J. E. Cohen, S. Friedland, T. Kato and F. P. Kelly, Eigenvalue inequalities for products of matrix exponentials, Linear Algebra Appl., 45(1982) 55–95. 33
- [26] L. Corrias, Fast Legendre-Fenchel transform and applications to Hamilton-Jacobi equations and conservation laws, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 33(1996), 1534–1558. 70
- [27] G. Dahl, Transportation matrices with staircase patterns and majorization, Linear Algebra its Appl., 429 (2008), 1840-1850. 2
- [28] G. Dahl, Majorization and distances in trees, Networks, 50 (2007), 251-257. 2
- [29] H. De Sterck and M. Lin, Some majorization inequalities for coneigenvalues, Electron. J. Linear Algebra, 23(2012), 63, 99
- [30] J. E. Dennis Jr. and H. Wolkowicz, Sizing and least-change secant methods. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 30(1993), 1291-1314. 100
- [31] D. Z. Djoković, On some representations of matrices, Linear Multilinear Algebra, 4(1976), 33–40. 63
- [32] S. S. Dragomir, Inner product inequalities for two equivalent norms and applications, Acta. Math. Vietnam., 34(2009), 361–369. 83, 91, 92
- [33] M. L. Eaton, A maximization problem and its application to canonical correlation, J. Multivariate Anal., 6(1976), 422–425. 2, 82
- [34] M. L. Eaton, On group induced orderings, monotone functions, and convolution theorems, in: *Inequalities in Statistics and Probability* (Lincoln, Neb., 1982), 13–25, IMS Lecture Notes Monograph, vol. 5, 1984. 55
- [35] M. L. Eaton and D. Tyler, The asymptotic distribution of singular values with applications to canonical correlations and correspondence analysis, J. Multivariate Anal., 50(1994), 238–264. 2, 82

- [36] H. Faßender and Kh. D. Ikramov, Conjugate-normal matrices: a survey, Linear Algebra Appl., 429(2008), 1425–1441. 63
- [37] M. Fujii, T. Furuta, R. Nakamoto and S. I. Takahashi, Operator inequalities and covariance in noncommutative probability, Math. Japon., 46(1997), 317–320.
- [38] S. Furuichi, Trace inequalities in nonextensive statistical mechanics, Linear Algebra Appl., 418(2006) 821–827. 32
- [39] S. Furuichi, A mathematical review of the generalized entropies and their matrix trace inequalities, Proc. WEC 2007, 840–845. 31
- [40] S. Furuichi and M. Lin, A matrix trace inequality and its application, Linear Algebra Appl., 433(2010), 1324–1328. 99
- [41] A. Galántai and Cs. J. Hegedus, Jordan's principal angles in complex vector spaces, Numer. Linear Algebra Appl., 13(2006), 589–598.
- [42] S. Golden, Lower bounds for the Helmholtz function, Phys. Rev., 137(1965), 1127–1128.
- [43] G. H. Golub and C. F. Van Loan, *Matrix Computations*, Johns Hopkins Univ Press, 1996. 32
- [44] K. E. Gustafson and D. K. M. Rao, *Numerical Range*, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997. 15
- [45] K. E. Gustafson, The geometrical meaning of the Kantorovich-Wielandt inequalities, Linear Algebra Appl., 296(1999), 143–151. 6, 12
- [46] W. R. Hamilton, On quaternions, or on a new system of imaginaries in algebra, Philosophical Magazine, 25(1844), 489–495.

```
http://www.emis.ams.org/classics/Hamilton/OnQuat.pdf
```

- [47] J. B. Hiriart-Urruty, Potpourri of conjectures and open questions in nonlinear analysis and optimization, SIAM Review, 49(2007), 255–273. 71
- [48] J.-B. Hiriart-Urruty and C. Lemarechal, Fundamentals of Convex Analysis, Grundlehren Text Ed., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001. 70

- [49] T. Hiroshima, Majorization criterion for distillability of a bipartite quantum state, Phys. Rev. Lett., 91, 057902 (2003). 26, 50, 99
- [50] "Know What You Are Good At, Keep At It, and Keep At It" Hans Schneider Interviewed by Olga Holtz, IMAGE (ILAS) 48, Spring 2012. 6–7. 5
- [51] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson, *Matrix Analysis*, Cambridge University Press, London, 1985. 2, 7, 11, 26, 57, 82
- [52] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson, *Topics in Matrix Analysis*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991. 24, 35, 40, 41, 57, 63, 64
- [53] A. S. Househoulder, *The Theory of Matrices in Numerical Analysis*, Blaisdell, New York, 1964. 2, 80, 82
- [54] A. S. Househoulder, The Kantorovich and some related inequalities, SIAM Review, 7(1965), 463–473. 78
- [55] Kh. D. Ikramov, A simple proof of the generalized Schur inequality, Linear Algebra Appl., 199(1994), 143–149. 67
- [56] Kh. D. Ikramov, On pseudo-eigenvalues and singular numbers of a complex square matrix, (in Russian), Zap. Nauchn. Semin. POMI 334(2006), 111–120. Translation in J. Math. Sci., (N. Y.) 141(2007) 1639–1642. 63, 64, 67
- [57] A. V. Knyazev, Computation of eigenvalues and eigenvectors for mesh problems: algorithms and error estimates, Dept. Numerical Math. USSR Academy of Sciences, Moscow, 1986 (in Russian). 59
- [58] A. V. Knyazev and M. E. Argentati, Principal angles between subspaces in an Abased scalar product: Algorithms and perturbation estimates, SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 23(2002), 2008–2040.
- [59] A. V. Knyazev and M. E. Argentati, On proximity of Rayleigh quotients for different vectors and Ritz values generated by different trial subspaces, Linear Algebra Appl., 415(2006), 82–95. 59

- [60] A. V. Knyazev and M. E. Argentati, Majorization for changes in angles between subspaces, Ritz values, and graph Laplacian spectra, SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl., 29(2006), 15–32. 17, 59
- [61] A. V. Knyazev and M. E. Argentati, Rayleigh-Ritz Majorization Error Bounds with Applications to FEM, SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl., **31**(2010), 1521–1537. 17, 60, 62
- [62] L. Yu. Kolotilina, The case of equality in the generalized Wielandt inequality, J. Math. Sci. (N. Y.), 114(2003), 1803–1807. 2, 82, 95
- [63] M. Kreĭn, Angular localization of the spectrum of a multiplicative integral in a Hilbert space, *Funct. Anal. Appl.*, **3**(1969), 89–90. 6
- [64] S. Kurepa, Note on inequalities associated with Hermitian functionals, Glasnik Mat. Ser III, 3(1968), 197–206.
- [65] E.-Y Lee, Extension of Rotfel'd Theorem, Linear Algebra Appl., 435(2011), 735– 741. 38
- [66] A. S. Lewis, The mathematics of eigenvalue optimization, Math. Program., 97(2003), 155–176. 70
- [67] A. S. Lewis, Convex analysis on the Hermitian matrices, SIAM J. Optim., 6(1996), 164–177. 70
- [68] A. S. Lewis and M. L. Overton, Eigenvalue optimization, Acta Numer., 5(1996), 149– 190. 70
- [69] V. B. Lidskii, On the proper values of a sum and product of symmetric matrices, Dokl. Akad. Nauk, 75(1950), 769–772. 23
- [70] E. H. Lieb and W. Thirring, Inequalities for the moments of the eigenvalues of the Schrodinger Hamiltonian and their relation to Sobolev inequalities, in: E. Lieb, B. Simon, A.S. Wightman (Eds.), *Studies in Mathematical Physics*. Essays in Honor of Valentine Bargmann, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1976, 269–303. 32
- [71] M. Lin, Remarks on Kreĭn's inequality, Math. Intelligencer, 34(2012), 3-4. 9, 13, 99
- [72] M. Lin and G. Sinnamon, A condition for convexity of a product of positive definite quadratic forms, SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl., 32(2011), 457–462. 70, 83, 97, 99

- [73] M. Lin and G. Sinnamon, The generalized Wielandt inequality in inner product spaces, Eurasian Math. J., **3**(2012), 72–85. 84, 100
- [74] M. Lin and H. Wolkowicz, An eigenvalue majorization inequality for positive semidefinite block matrices, Linear Multilinear Algebra, 60(2012), 1365–1368. 26, 99
- [75] S. Liu, C. Lu, and S. Puntanen, Matrix trace Wielandt inequalities with statistical applications, J. Statist. Plann. Inference 139(2009), 2254–2260. 2, 82
- [76] D. G. Luenberger, The gradient projection method along geodesics, Management Sci. 18 (1972), 620-631. 2
- [77] J. S. Matharu and J. S. Aujla, Some inequalities for unitarily invariant norms, Linear Algebra Appl., 436(2012), 1623–1631. 51
- [78] M. Marcus and W. Watkins, Partitioned hermitian matrices, Duke Math. J., 38(1971), 237–249. 7, 8
- [79] A. W. Marshall, I. Olkin and B. C. Arnold. *Inequalities: theory of majorization and its applications*. Springer Series in Statistics. Springer, New York, 2nd edition, 2011. 1, 22, 23, 52
- [80] A. W. Marshall and I. Olkin, Reversal of the Lyapunov, Hölder, and Minkowski inequalities and other extensions of the Kantorovich inequality, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 8(1964), 503–514. 79
- [81] Mathoverflow, A question on a trace inequality, available at 31 http://mathoverflow.net/questions/20924
- [82] D.S. Mitrinović, J. E. Pečarić and A. M. Fink, *Classical and New Inequalities in Analysis*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht/Boston/London, 1993.
- [83] B. Mond, A matrix version of Rennie's generalization of Kantorovich's inequality, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 16(1965), 1131. 79
- [84] B. Mond and J. E. Pečarić, An extension of the generalised Schur inequality, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc., 52(1995), 341–344. 67

- [85] M. A. Nielsen, Conditions for a class of entanglement transformations, Physical Review Letters, 83(1999), 436–439. 19
- [86] M. A. Nielsen, An introduction to majorization and its applications to quantum mechanics, Oct 2002. Course notes available at 1, 19 http://michaelnielsen.org/blog/talks/2002/maj/book.ps
- [87] M. A. Nielsen and G. Vidal, Majorization and the interconversion of bipartite states, Quantum Inf. Comput. 1(2001), 76–93. 1, 19
- [88] I. Panayotov, Eigenvalue estimation with the Rayleigh-Ritz and Lanczos methods, PhD dissertion, McGill University, 2010. 18
- [89] N. V. Petri and Kh. D. Ikramov, Extremal properties of some matrix norms, U.S.S.R. Comput. Math. and Math. Phys., 8(1968), 219–230. 67
- [90] D. Petz, Matrix analysis with some applications, Feb, 2011. Course note available at: http://bolyai.cs.elte.hu/~petz/matrixbme.pdf 29, 36
- [91] W. Pusz and S. L. Woronowicz. Functional calculus for sesquilinear forms and the purification map, Rep. Math. Phys., 8(1975), 159–170. 29
- [92] L. Qiu and E. J. Davison, Feedback stability under simultaneous gap metric uncertainties in plant and controller, Systems Control Lett., 18(1992), 9–22. 9
- [93] L. Qiu, Y. Zhang and C. K. Li, Unitarily invariant metrics on the Grassmann space, SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl., 27(2005), 507–531. 16, 17
- [94] M. Reed and B. Simon, *Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics I: Functional Analysis*, Academic Press, New York, 1980. 28
- [95] R. T. Rockafellar, *Convex Analysis*, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1970. 70, 71
- [96] A. Ruhe, Numerical methods for the solution of large sparse eigenvalue problems, in *Sparse Matrix Techniques*, Lect. Notes Math 572, V.A. Barker Ed., Springer Publications, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1976, 130–184. 17, 59

- [97] K. Scharnhorst, Angles in complex vector spaces, Acta Appl. Math., 69(2001), 95–103. 4
- [98] J. M. Steele, *The Cauchy-Schwarz Master Class: An Introduction to the Art of In*equalities, Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- [99] R. C. Thompson and L. J. Freede, On the eigenvalues of sum of Hermitian matrices, Linear Algebra and Appl., 4(1971), 369–376.
- [100] R. C. Thompson, Inequalities with applications in statistical mechanics, J. Math. Phys., 6(1965), 1812–1813. 32
- [101] H. Umegaki, Conditional expectation in an operator algebra, Tohoku Math. J., 6(1954), 177–181.
- [102] G. Vinnicombe, Frequency domain uncertainty and the graph topology, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, **38**(1993), 1371–1383. 9
- [103] M. Vujičić, F. Herbut and G. Vujičić, Canonical form for matrices under unitary congruence transformations. I. Conjugate-normal matrices, SIAM J. Appl. Math., 23(1972), 225–238. 63
- [104] S.-G. Wang and W.-C. Ip, A matrix version of the Wielandt inequality and its applications to statistics, Linear Algebra Appl., 296(1999), 171–181. 2, 82
- [105] B. Wang and F. Zhang, A trace inequality for unitary matrices, Amer. Math. Monthly 101(1994), 453-455. 12
- [106] P.-A. Wedin, On angles between subspaces, in *Matrix Pencils*, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983, 263–285. 9
- [107] Complex line. From Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia, available at http://en. wikipedia.org/wiki/Complex_line 82
- [108] H. Wielandt, Inclusion theorems for eigenvalues., National Bureau of Standards Appl. Math. Series, 29(1953), 75–78. 2, 81
- [109] G. Xu, C. Xu and F. Zhang, Contractive matrices of Hua type, Linear Multilinear Algebra, 59(2011), 159–172. 51

- [110] Z. Yan, A unified version of Cauchy-Schwarz and Wielandt inequalities, Linear Algebra Appl., 428(2008), 2079–2084. 83, 97
- [111] L. Yeh, A note on Wielandt's inequality, Appl. Math. Lett., 8(1995), 29–31. 83, 96
- [112] X. Zhan, Matrix Inequalities, LNM 1790, Springer-verlag, Berlin, 2002. 29
- [113] B. X. Zhang and X. H. Zhu, Generalized matrix versions of the constrained Kantorovich and Wielandt inequalities., Acta Math. Sinica (Chin. Ser.), 45(2002), 151– 156. 2, 82
- [114] F. Zhang, *Matrix Theory: Basic Results and Techniques*, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2011. 12, 20, 23, 38, 63
- [115] F. Zhang, Equivalence of the Wielandt inequality and the Kantorovich inequality, Linear Multilinear Algebra, 48(2001), 275–279. 80
- [116] Y. B. Zhao, The Legendre-Fenchel conjugate of the product of two positive definite quadratic forms, SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl., 31(2010), 1792–1811. 2, 71, 72, 99
- [117] Y.B. Zhao, Convexity conditions and the Legendre-Fenchel transform for the product of finitely many positive definite quadratic Forms, Appl. Math. Opt., 62(2010), 411–434. 2, 71, 72, 99
- [118] Y.B. Zhao, Convexity conditions of Kantorovich function and related semi-infinite linear matrix inequalities, J. Compt. Appl. Math., 235(2011), 4389–4403 73

Index

absolute value, 28 canonical angles, 14 Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, 9 complex symmetric, 63 condition number, 71, 82 coneigenvalues, 63, 65, 68 conjugate-normal matrices, 63 consingular value, 68 decomposition lemma, 34 deviation, 11 direct sum, 21 doubly stochastic matrix, 19 doubly substochastic matrix, 20 eigenvalues, 21 Euclidean angle, 5 Fan, 22, 60 Fan dominance theorem, 35 field of values, 40 gap, 15 generalized Wielandt inequality, 81 geodesic, 29 geometric mean, 28 Golden-Thompson inequality, 32 Gram matrix, 7 Hadamard gate, 36

Hermitian angle, 5 Hermitian part, 36 Hessian matrix, 71 Kantorovich function, 73 Kantorovich inequality, 78 Kreĭn's inequality, 7 Ky Fan k-norms, 35 Löwner partial order, 27 LF-conjugate, 70–72 Lidskii, 23, 60 Lieb-Thirring inequality, 32 log-majorization, 63 majorization, 19 maximal characterization, 29 minimal angle, 15 normal matrix, 56 numerical radius, 40 numerical range, 40 operator norm, 35 real-part angle, 5 Riemannian geometry, 28 Rotfel'd, 23 Schatten *p*-norms, 35 Schur, 21

Schur decomposition lemma, 57 Schur inequality, 67 singular values, 69 skew-Hermitian part, 37 skew-symmetric, 63 spectrum, 40 symmetric norms, 35 Thompson, 23

unitarily invariant, 35 unitary congruence, 35 unitary matrices, 63

Wielandt inequality, 78